e DRE D

ZHONGLIANG HOLDINGS GROUP

ZHONGLIANG HOLDINGS GROUP COMPANY LIMITED

PREREESRA A

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
(RHASESEMKRZZBERLDF])

(Stock Code A1 X5% : 2772)

LM iui
7,




Contents

YNGR Y

Corporate Profile
RAER

Corporate Information
ARRER
Glossary and Definition

EEREBE

Chairman’s Statement

EEIERE VD
Management Discussion and Analysis

EE SR EEEBRAGANEERE

Biographies of Director, Senior Management and
Company Secretary

TEER®RE

Corporate Governance Report

REEBRERS

Investor Relations Report

EEERE

Directors’ Report

B 3 B DR
Independent Auditor’s Report

mEBEER

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

mEREWER

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

iRE B OR R

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

REEREHR
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

MAEBRERER
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

BF 75 R R Y R

Notes to Financial Statements

EEYHRE

Five-Year Financial Summary




PREREERR AR 2022F F

YNGR
Corporate Profile

BRPR

FRIEREBERAA(HRR]IKIAR
Al EZRENBRARAGEBIAEE))ESR
BHMAZXZHAER DR (B R
FH(RHARSE : 2772HK) c P R X B K
FEAREMB(HFE)D R EEHER
BEG BHRALE BERE=ZA
mREH -

AEES—REBEUENTEEMERZ
Tt SEHEEETBEFEHERHBER
5 J& 5 b B BT 5T B o B 55 4t ORI R AR D
PR BB i A R B R 3058 e

AEENTHREEBHTEILRZLLE
ERENESTE ER=ZA8 B3 IR
g BERAREAK=ZA BE2BEEH
N EEWRIS7EE T -

ABOUT ZHONGLIANG

Zhongliang Holdings Group Company Limited (“Zhongliang” or the
“Company” and together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) (Stock Code: 2772.HK). Zhongliang is principally
engaged in real estate development in the People’s Republic of China
(“PRC” or “China”), headquartered in Shanghai and rooted in the
Yangtze River Delta with a national footprint.

The Group is a large-scale nationwide real estate enterprise and has
been ranked as a Top 30 Real Estate Developer in China by China
Real Estate Association and China Real Estate Evaluation Center of
E-House Real Estate Research Institute.

The Group had land bank across five core economic areas in China,
namely, the Yangtze River Delta, the Midwest China, the Bohai
Economic Rim, West Coast Economic Zone and the Pearl River
Delta, covering 137 cities of 25 provinces and municipalities.
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“AGM” is the annual general meeting of the Company

“Articles” is the amended and restated articles of association of the
Company adopted on 19 June 2019

“ASP” is average selling price

“Board” is The board of Directors

“China” or “PRC” is the People’s Republic of China

“Contracted sales” is the total contractual value of properties that are
contracted for pre-sale and sale in a given period, which is not
equivalent to the revenue in the relevant period and shall not be
deemed as an indication for the revenue to be recognised in any
future period. Contracted sales data is unaudited, provided for
investors’ for reference only and may be subject to various
uncertainties during the process of collating such sales information
“Corporate Governance Code” is Corporate Governance Code as set
out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules, as amended from time to
time

“Directors” are director(s) of the Company

“ESG” is Environmental, Social and Governance

“GFA” is gross floor area

“Gross profit margin” is calculated based on gross profit for the year
divided by revenue for the year and multiplied by 100%

“Group” is the Company and its subsidiaries

“Hong Kong” is the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the
People’s Republic of China

“Listing Rules” are the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange

“Listing” is the listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange on 16 July 2019

“Model Code” is Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
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FEEBELE|EERNELETEMIRES  “Net gearing ratio” is calculated based on the total indebtedness less
K ARTT 45 8RR LA R 2= 48 %8 F 3R A 100% cash and bank balances divided by the total equity at the end of the
year multiplied by 100%

[(BRER|EAQTF EHMmTEAE  “Prospectus” is the prospectus of the Company dated 27 June 2019
HA2019F 6 A27 BB ETE being issued in connection with the Listing

[IRER A E AR A R R % ft “Register of Members” is the register of members of the Company

[BAMHEENIEEBENE715%E  “SFO” is Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws
7= M HAE &0 of Hong Kong)

(BB et 2 iEE T2 MMM AL T “Share Incentive Scheme” is the share incentive scheme of the
B 5 8 EhET 2] - 2021412 A31 B #£ £  Company adopted by the Board with effect from 31 December 2021,
(&S ET L4 7) as amended and supplemented from time to time

[BE AR AEET 8] 138X 20196 19 £ A “Share Option Scheme” is the post-IPO share option scheme
BRARBERBERETE (BT adopted on 19 June 2019, as amended and supplemented from time

M) to time
[ IERRT B APHLE - @E  “Share(s)” is/are ordinary share(s) in the capital of the Company with
RER0.01ETT the nominal value of HK$0.01 each
(REIERNDFEA “Shareholder(s)” is/are holder(s) of the Shares
XTI EERBERIMBRAR “Stock Exchange” is The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

[BE5@mE BT BRI REMMER B “Total indebtedness” is total interest-bearing bank and other
EEBUNEEERELFERE borrowings, senior notes and asset-backed securities

[MMEFHEBEKERIBERSFERAER “Weighted average cost of indebtedness” is the weighted average of
BEEBHINEFHAFEKA interest costs of all indebtedness outstanding as at the end of each
year

[ 2 e[ RKARJIERRIEREBRAFR  “Zhongliang” or “Company” is Zhongliang Holdings Group Company
ARl —HEMRASESEMAKZAEE  Limited, an exempted company incorporated in Cayman Islands with
SERAT ERMHPEEZFTEMR £ limited liability, the Shares of which are listed on the Main Board of
(AR - 2772) the Stock Exchange (Stock code: 2772)

BEBEMGEMEBEBERNTIERMER The site area information for an entire project is based on the relevant
T AR T EESRSKKRIZEX  land use rights certificates, land grant contracts or tender documents,
" B\EBRBEXHME - HIEBHE—IE depending on which documents are available. If more than one
B BEEREEREZHOMIEA  document is available, such information is based on the most recent
XA o document available.

PEEESBELNENEERBE#EE - E  The figures for GFA are based on figures provided in or estimates
RIRRBEFAEF EEHFATHF ER based on the relevant governmental documents, such as the property
MR B FFAT B T A AEE S BB ownership certificate, the construction work planning permit, the pre-
X RSB ER IR BEEETER  sale permit, the construction land planning permit or the land use
fHET ° rights certificate.
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Dear Shareholders,

| am pleased to present to you the business review of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2022 and its outlook for 2023.

DIVIDEND

The Board of the Company resolved that no final dividend would be
declared for the year ended 31 December 2022.

FINAL RESULTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group’s recognised
revenue amounted to RMB39.33 billion, representing a year-on-year
decrease of 48%. Taking into account the impairment losses on
various assets, fair value losses from the valuation of investment
properties and foreign exchange loss, the Group recorded a loss
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately RMB1.35
billion for the year ended 31 December 2022, as compared to a profit
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately RMB2.70
billion for the previous year. Excluding impairment losses on various
assets, fair value losses from the valuation of investment properties
and foreign exchange loss, the Group recorded adjusted net profit
attributable to owners of the Company was RMB1.20 billion for the
year ended 31 December 2022.

REVIEW OF 2022

Market review

Looking back at 2022, the international environment was turbulent,
with escalating geopolitical conflicts, interest rate hikes by the US
Federal Reserve, and a spreading trend of anti-globalisation. The
world economy entered into a phase of high inflation, high interest
rates, and low growth. The risk of a global economic recession
continuing to increase. The COVID pandemic in China has lasted for
several months in 2022, which putting heavy pressure on the task of
stabilising economic development. China’s economic growth rate has
been below expectation for three consecutive years.
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BEM2022F AT N hEEHETT  The year 2022 was extraordinary. China’s real estate industry faced
¥HEEFEZE B EBEHMNEE  severe challenges and the sector downturn far exceeded market
AEZELPERDERRE 2 TEREH W  expectations, causing private real estate developers to struggle under
B o HAR2022F B KM BN the excessive liquidity crunch. Strict COVID pandemic control
BEEEEEE SPEITHMTEHE  measures implemented during most of the year 2022 had disrupted
ENMEE TSI TE  FETHEE social and economic activities in certain cities in China, and affected
HERMAEHE - B—HFE - FBEEHME consumer demand and production chains. On the other hand, the
TERFAEFBERIHTK&E - EHE property sector in China operated under continued volatility during
MEmpmiERaEam) REmMEEy — K the year. Reduced access to financing by real estate developers,
N—FEHEBEEHREHNH UKBREEE successive waves of negative credit events of private-owned
R BB TITEFOENED - developers, and depressed homebuyers sentiment have undermined
- PEELEHEMEPNIEEFI  the confidence of the stakeholders in the sector. As a result, pre-sale
SRAMERD ° and cashflow of private-owned Chinese property developers have
decreased significantly.

HFERZ2ERTAEMER  FHEB  After the conclusion of the 20th National Congress, China has relaxed
J[TE2022FE 12 BB TR BEE I  its COVID control measures in December 2022 and economic
T 2R EKINEY B T BMIEIE  activities and consumption rapidly resumed and recovered since
o MIFMEABEEER AZIFEEME then. The government has also begun to reverse its policy tone to
T - B2022FE11 A TATEARIRIT support the real estate sector. Since the People’s Bank of China and
LR RESH AR HB(EANMIEIFE the China Banking and Insurance Regulatory Commission in late
HemMIERMETS FBEREZEET  November 2022 jointly announced the “Notice on Providing Financial
EMmBMYBH16E®R{L SR I B ER  Support for the Stable and Healthy Development of the Real Estate
ETMBSHSZEREBEAR EAESREE Maket (@XNMTEReRIFEHENSFEEREZTEIENRA)
TENEmMEEMETENASIEREF  which outlined 16 supportive initiatives on enhancing financial support
Ko —RINKEBEREMETERRE A for the real estate market, onshore financial institutions are stepping
grE ZEBATHEEHENEME  up to meet the reasonable financing needs of the real estate industry.
TE T TREEREBEREE A series of policies and measures to support the real estate industry
BRERE - HEESH HHME 2022 have been introduced to support the sector under the liquidity
FI2AM P REE T ESHBFALEE  crunch. Many cities have also relaxed restrictions on home purchases
B ERXKNDBIRMSHEL MIBFEREM  and housing loans. In order to improve development momentum, the
EmMip A BEKFBIAEEEHER Central Economic Work Conference held in December 2022 set out
EREHTIHES| WHEBAHEE®S the themes for economic growth, called for policies to improve
sHEER BEGMNLERIEBHNE #  market confidence and to stabilise the real estate market. The
DIRIRM RS EMETEMNES O B4  Chinese government reiterated that “real estate is the pillar industry of
NETEA TS RN EEMNITRESE — B  the national economy” and is expected to introduce measures
e 77 BE 2B R B AT % - improving home purchase demands by reducing the down payment
ratio and the mortgage rates, and boosting market confidence in the
real estate industry. It is expected that these policies would take
some time before their impact and benefits permeate the sector.

EEREMITERET  AEBEEIRREE  Operating under the current rigorous industry environment, the Group

B RSB PR BRI EEE - £ K adopted decisive measures and adhered to its development

EESEAMERE B BIEMME - P& strategies. During the year, the Group streamlined its organisation

REERA  BRERSNEFEHELZSE 178 structure, strengthened its operational control and efficiency, lowered

KRB o its operating costs, secured property delivery and financial stability,
and maintained its operating solvency.
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The Group achieved contracted sales (including Group’s subsidiaries,
joint ventures and associates) of approximately RMB66.05 billion in
2022, representing a year-on-year decrease of approximately 62%
but maintained a top industry position as one of the fewer private-
owned developers. The Group retained its position as one of the Top
30 amongst Chinese real estate developers in terms of contracted
sales in 2022, according to data published by the China Real Estate
Information Corporation. The contracted ASP of 2022 was
approximately RMB10,500 per sg.m., compared to approximately
RMB12,000 per sg.m. in the previous year.

Property delivery

In order to ensure smooth property delivery, the Group strengthened
its construction and contractor management, and maintained tight
control of the property delivery process and mitigated delivery risks.
During the year 2022, the Group (including its joint ventures and
associated companies) completed the delivery of around 70,000
property units.

Land-banking

Due to the continued uncertainty of the Chinese real estate sector,
the Group did not make any new purchases of land sites in 2022 in
order to preserve cash.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group (together with its joint ventures
and associates) had a land bank with a total GFA (including sold GFA)
of approximately 40.9 milion sg.m., covering five core economic
regions of China. Despite that we have suspended our land
investment, we still have sufficient saleable resources to support our
future developments in the next few years.

Liability management

As the industry has been challenged by adverse liquidity and
financing situations since mid-2021, the Group has implemented
decisive measures and stabilised cash flow by accelerating sales and
cash collection, lowering cost and enhancing operating efficiency,
reduction of land banking and preservation of cash and controlling
interest-bearing debts, and achieved a stable financial status to
enable prompt property delivery, stable operations and onshore
financing.
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AEFEMEEBELTEL2021E12 931  The Group’s total interest-bearing debts were deleveraged from
HE 4 A REA0218 7T A8 B4 E 20224  approximately RMB40.2 billion as at 31 December 2021 to
12831BHM Y AREG7TE T (HEFRER  approximately RMB26.7 billion as at 31 December 2022 (out of which
BEEBEBELHABAREAISIETT  MEINE  onshore interest-bearing debts amounted to approximately RMB18.5
BERAGBHNAARKS2ET) - BN ER M bilion whereas offshore interest-bearing debts amounted to
Mo ARKEENESTEESIRS cEE  approximately RMB8.2 billion). Due to the current market condition,
202212 H31H  AEEMIR & MIR1T the liquidity of the Group is constrained. The aggregate cash and
HER(EEYRSIEBESEREEMEFR)AE  bankbalances (including restricted cash and pledged deposits) of the
S4B ARE1661E T £ B ATHL 5 BT Group was approximately RMB16.6 billion as at 31 December 2022.
BENBRBERT  NEBBAEMHE  Under the current strict requirement of local government policies,
HEHEBHREMIETRITERL T substantially most of the Group’s cash are under strict pre-sale cash
SEENEERSET  UEEREEY escrow in designated bank accounts at project-level in order to
ERET - ensure completion of the properties under development.

HRIERNESE  NEBR2022F N With respect to its onshore debts, the Group paid down its entire
BEREMABRNEARATHESR(EEER onshore capital market debts (asset-backed securities) in 2022,
BE) METHEERNEATESEANEEE maintaining its onshore capital market credibility. As at the end of
A e-HZE202FK  REFEBRIBEANFEER 2022, substantially most of the Group’s onshore interest-bearing
BRAKILMBEBEEHRBEHNERN  &N&E debts were loans with project pledges. The Group has been
BEO&LEHREENIETMEREFEAIE  proactively working with onshore banks and lending institutions to
NEZRDNERETERRES  HEHEA  extend the maturity at due dates of such onshore loans, and believes
ERDNBEMNERRBRE&RZE - that the maturity risk of onshore loans would be manageable.

YR BINE K N £ E §20214 B LA With respect to its offshore debts, the Group has been relying on its
K—EFTEZEFRBHRANLHELER - WH  internal cash resources and remitting cash from onshore to meet
BRNETYIRSIUBEITEIIENEK - B  offshore payment obligations since mid-2021. During the period from
20217 A E2022F K - O :F@AEEE  July 2021 up to the end of 2022, the Group has repaid or bought
SR MEBIINEREALN A BERIBI2/E  back offshore bonds or loans with an aggregate principal and interest
XL B E2022F12A31H » A A FHE  amount of over US$1.2 billion mostly by internal funding. As at 31
INEBREBEEHAARES2ET (% December 2022, the Group’s total offshore interest-bearing debts
RE1218ETT) ° amounted to approximately RMB8.2 billion (equivalent to
approximately US$1.2 billion).
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On 14 November 2022, the Company announced that as the Group’s
funds available for offshore debt payments have been under
continuous pressure and the Group would not be able to generate
sufficient cash flows for fulfilling offshore debts in the near term, the
Company decided to suspend payment in all interest and principal
amount payables under its offshore indebtedness in order to preserve
fair and equitable treatment for all offshore creditors. The Group
concluded that it should immediately explore a holistic solution to the
current offshore debts situation and had appointed professional
advisors to assist its discussion with offshore debtholders for all
possible alternatives. As at the date of this report, the Company has
formulated key tentative terms under the preliminary holistic solution
of offshore debts. To secure the sustainable operations of the Group
for the benefit of all of its stakeholders, the Company will continue its
proactive and constructive dialogue with offshore creditors with a
view to finalising the terms of the holistic solution as soon as
practicable.

OUTLOOK FOR 2023

At the end of 2022, the Chinese government, at both central and
local levels, set out new policy directions for the development of the
real estate sector, reasonable housing consumptions and financial
health of real estate developers. The Central Economic Work
Conference also stressed that stabilising the real estate sector is a
core economic issue. Looking ahead to 2023, it is expected that new
measures will be introduced to improve the balance sheet of real
estate developers.

Under the new normal of the industry, despite the directional changes
in government real estate policies, the Group expects that the impact
of economic recovery and government measures on housing demand
and liquidity would take some time before their impact and benefits
permeate the sector. The Group remain cautious on the industry
outlook and will continue to emphasise financial stability, strengthen
organisational structure and operating efficiency.



ZHONGLIANG HOLDINGS GROUP COMPANY LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022
EFEREE
[ =]

Chairman’s Statement

REBNEHELLZEERREBLER The Group’s primary operating goals are to maintain operating
% EBEMNBTER  REFRFEMHIE  lquidity, deleverage and stabilise debts and to ensure smooth project
BEXfM - BMAESLAEEEMEEE  delivery. We are confident that the Group will be able to navigate the
BIRTTEKE  ZEZRIBEHEIMER - W current industry challenges, properly resolve its offshore debt issues
BRIKMERES - and reposition itself for future development.

B APPRECIATION

AABRXRESTeHHAXFNBEEIK On behalf of the Board, | would like to express our sincere
BH—E FHV AN EHEREET - & appreciation to all employees for their dedication and hard work, and
BHTEATNFMERE - 275 EgE  to our Shareholders, business and financial partners for their
B tremendous support in the past challenging year.

EER YANG Jian
&8l Chairman
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PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT

Contracted sales

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group (including its
joint ventures and associates) achieved contracted sales of
approximately RMB66.05 billion, representing a year-on-year
decrease of approximately 61.6%. Contracted sales area amounted
to approximately 6,271,000 sg.m., representing a year-on-year
decrease of approximately 56.1%.

During the year, contracted ASP was approximately RMB10,500 per
sg.m..



ZHONGLIANG HOLDINGS GROUP COMPANY LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022

THBEIWE S

Management Discussion and Analysis

#1: R022FWNELNEERMA(KE Table 1: Breakdown of contracted sales in 2022 (the Group’s
HEAR S ERKE subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates)
D7)
#7457 & 7 By City
HEEHN
HEHE GHHE -BHYHE
EHHESE Btk BEEEE FHEE
% of total

Contracted contracted Contracted Contracted
sales sales GFA ASP
(ANR¥E
(ANRE®FT) (75 K) 75 K)
(RMB’000) (%) (sa.m.) (RMB/sq.m.)
&N Wenzhou 3,397,197 5.1 192,971 17,605
& e Hefei 3,080,463 4.7 222 223 13,862
43 Shaoxing 2,865,050 4.3 122,005 23,483
# N Suzhou 2,534,871 3.8 198,466 12,772
G Jinhua 2,356,348 3.6 98,599 23,898
=M Changzhou 2,267,171 3.4 125,174 18,112
EE Yancheng 1,716,937 2.6 139,252 12,330
=N Xuzhou 1,639,544 2.5 112,287 14,601
715 Wuxi 1,591,543 2.4 103,586 15,364
£ Ningbo 1,367,406 2.1 101,413 13,484
=57 Bengbu 1,040,427 1.6 138,588 7,507
M Wuhu 945,620 1.4 64,902 14,570
ZE Anging 920,170 1.4 123,658 7,441
BE5 Fuyang 777,363 1.2 112,407 6,916
a M Taizhou 682,358 1.0 45,990 14,837
H A Others 3,701,290 5.6 352,881 10,489
E=A Yangtze River Delta 30,883,758 46.7 2,254,402 13,699
&5 Luoyang 2,283,323 3.5 263,375 8,669
EE Chongaing 1,827,733 2.8 214,018 8,540
P B Chengdu 1,225,326 1.9 74,893 16,361
EE Yuxi 859,882 1.3 111,155 7,736
5 Nanyang 665,368 1.0 95,208 6,989
H A Others 10,106,346 15.3 1,500,133 6,737
A7 D Midwest China 16,967,978 25.8 2,258,782 7,512
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HBEHN
HEE BHHHE -BHHEE
EHEESRE Bolk ZBEEE FHEE

% of total
Contracted contracted Contracted Contracted
sales sales GFA ASP
(NR#
(ANREEF ) (F75K) 5 K)
(RMB’000) (%) (sa.m.) (RMB/sq.m.)
B Cangzhou 2,203,742 3.3 267,348 8,243
58 Qingdao 1,680,757 2.5 84,978 19,779
X Tianjin 1,453,413 2.2 94,733 15,342
&5 Weihai 961,507 1.5 108,721 8,844
TL Taian 717,569 1.1 73,676 9,740
Hib Others 3,815,497 5.8 438,434 8,703
R Pan-Bohai Rim 10,832,485 16.4 1,067,890 10,144
& N Zhangzhou 1,117,284 1.7 85,677 13,041
= Shangrao 860,259 1.3 82,181 10,468
Efas Putian 674,717 1.0 63,287 10,661
Hib Others 2,859,498 4.3 277,744 10,295
35 gk 7 = Western Taiwan Straits 5,511,758 8.3 508,889 10,831
K= A Pearl River Delta 1,855,015 2.8 181,255 10,234
BET Total 66,050,994 100.0 6,271,218 10,532
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7 i 2 & 5 By region
HBEEN
HEE GBHHE -BHHE
EHHES Aokt ZEEHE FHUEE
% of total
Contracted contracted Contracted Contracted
sales sales GFA ASP
(ANR¥E/
(AR FT) (7 K) 75 K)
(RMB’000) (%) (sg.m.) (RMB/sg.m.)
E=A Yangtze River Delta 30,883,758 46.8 2,254,402 13,699
A 78 B Midwest China 16,967,978 25.7 2,258,782 7,512
REE Pan-Bohai Rim 10,832,485 16.4 1,067,890 10,144
& K 7 = Western Taiwan Straits 5,511,758 8.3 508,889 10,831
= A Pearl River Delta 1,855,015 2.8 181,255 10,234
At Total 66,050,994 100.0 6,271,218 10,532
7w hERE D By city tier
HBEXN
HEE SBHHE -BHHE
EHHER Aokt ZEHEHE FHUEE
% of total
Contracted contracted Contracted Contracted
sales sales GFA ASP
(ANR¥/
(ANRE®TT) (FFFK) 77 0K)
(RMB’000) (%) (sg.m.) (RMB/sg.m.)
Ry Second-tier cities" 23,099,270 35.0 1,715,088 13,468
=@ me Third-tier cities® 34,532,336 52.3 3,350,942 10,305
PO 4R 3k T O Fourth-tier cities® 8,419,388 12.7 1,205,188 6,986
85t Total 66,050,994 100.0 6,271,218 10,532
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Notes:

(1) Second-tiers cities include Wenzhou, Hefei, Suzhou, Wuxi, Ningbo, Nanjing,
Hangzhou, Chongging, Chengdu, Changsha, Xi'an, Guiyang, Nanning, Wuhan,
Zhengzhou, Kunming, Taiyuan, Qingdao, Tianjin, Jinan, Dalian, Shenyang,
Fuzhou, Nanchang, Xiamen and Dongguan.

2 Third-tiers cities include Shaoxing, Jinhua, Changzhou, Yancheng, Xuzhou,
Wuhu, Anging, Taizhou, Taizhou, Xuancheng, Nantong, Luan, Lishui, Quzhou,
Sugian, Jiaxing, Bozhou, Tongling, Yangzhou, Huzhou, Lianyungang, Huaian,
Huangshan, Luoyang, Yuxi, Nanyang, Chifeng, Chenzhou, Xinyang, Suining,
Yinchuan, Xiangyang, Xining, Yiyang, Yulin, Chuxiong, Changde, Mianyang,
Xuchang, Zhuzhou, Zunyi, Hohhot, Shanggqiu, Yichang, Meishan, Liuzhou,
Dazhou, Loudi, Qinzhou, Huanggang, Yueyang, Cangzhou, Weihai, Taian,
Weifang, Yantai, Dezhou, Handan, Zaozhuang, Linyi, Binzhou, Zibo, Tangshan,
Jining, Liaocheng, Zhangzhou, Putian, Ningde, Ganzhou, Quanzhou, Sanming,
Nanping, Fuzhou, Zhongshan, Shantou, Jiangmen, Foshan, Maoming, Zhaoging
and Shaoguan.

) Fourth-tiers cities include Bengbu, Fuyang, Maanshan, Chizhou, Huaibei,
Guigang, Jingzhou, Huangshi, Ankang, Xinxiang, Ezhou, Xiaogan, Luohe,
Mengzi, Zigong, Yan’an, Zhaotong, Dali, Enshi, Beihai, Baoshan, Shaoyang,
Yongzhou, Tongchuan, Pingliang, Tianshui, Suizhou, Jiaozuo, Pu’er, Puyang,
Linfen, Jiyuan, Bijie, Pingdingshan, Hengshui, Shangrao, Jiujiang, Pingxiang,
Ji'an, Jingdezhen, Chaozhou, Qingyuan and Heyuan.

Completed properties held for sale

Completed properties held for sale represents completed GFA
remaining unrecognised at the end of each reporting period and are
stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost of the
completed properties held for sale refers to the related costs incurred
attributable to the unsold properties. All completed properties held for
sale are located in the PRC.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s completed properties held for
sale was approximately RMB24,696.3 million, versus approximately
RMB21,272.3 million as at 31 December 2021.
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Projects under development

Properties under development are intended to be held for sale after
completion. Properties under development are stated at the lower of
cost, which comprises land costs, construction costs, capitalised
interests and other costs directly attributable to such properties
incurred during the development period, and net realisable value.
Upon completion, the properties are transferred to completed
properties held for sale.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s properties under development
was approximately RMB112,418.8 million, versus approximately
RMB132,008.7 million as at 31 December 2021.

Land bank

During the year ended 31 December 2022, there was no new land
parcel acquired by the Group.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s total land bank (including its
subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates) was approximately 40.9
million sg.m., among which approximately 4.7 million sg.m. were
completed properties available for sale/leasable and approximately
36.2 million sgq.m. were under development or for future development.

19
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K2 AEE(BEHMNBLAT - &% ¥ Table 2: Breakdown of the Group’s total land bank (including its

BB & N TF)) R2022F12H31BH W subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates) as at 31
T EERENREA December 2022
BEGREETE S By provinces and municipalities

AHREE BRNREE
THENERT RRBEEH TR ELRERE
HEHE RERR" BEEER BEP MHERLK
Total GFA under
Completed GFA  development and

Number of available for held for future Total land % of total
projects  sale/leasable development bank® land bank

(EHK) (EAXK) (EHK)
(sq.m.) (sa.m.) (sa.m.) (%)
LE Jiangsu 53 718,301 5,212,715 5,931,016 14.5
ZH Anhui 36 900,583 4411564 5,312,147 13.0
A Zhejiang 39 407,356 3,159,119 3,066,475 8.7
E=A Yangtze River Delta 128 2,026,240 12,783,398 14,809,638 36.2
CIE] Henan 23 149,813 2,982,023 3,131,836 7.7
W Hunan 21 374,275 1,780,037 2,154,312 53
L Chongging 15 290,588 1,810,555 2,101,143 5.1
ikl Hubei 15 332,650 1,719,747 2,062,397 5.0
£F Yunnan 12 396,225 1,356,051 1,752,276 4.3
il Sichuan 12 19,826 904,177 924,003 2.3
PR Shaanxi 10 60,288 778,870 839,158 2.0
Ef Guangxi 9 198,776 548,193 746,969 1.8
55 Qinghai 1 - 454,374 454,374 1.1
e Inner Mongolia 5 7,451 443,508 450,959 1.1
EE Ningxia 2 - 430,296 430,296 11
] Shanxi 2 - 301,433 301,433 0.7
M Guizhou 2 66,396 147,088 213,484 05
HE Gansu 2 29,651 — 29,651 0.1
Ly Midwest China 131 1,925,939 13,656,352 15,582,291 38.1
W Shandong 37 96,638 3,956,584 4,053,222 9.9
Eple Hebei 8 29,827 1,024,437 1,054,264 2.6
KiZ Tianjin 5 - 693,219 693,219 1.7
E= Liaoning 3 5,960 314,771 320,731 0.8
B Jilin 1 - 98,241 98,241 0.2
BB Pan-Bohai Rim 54 132,425 6,087,252 6,219,677 15.2
PN Jiangxi 23 198,694 1,459,063 1,657,757 4.0
B8 Fujian 8 - 1,198,745 1,198,745 2.9
WA R Western Taiwan Straits 31 198,694 2,657,808 2,856,502 6.9
ER Guangdong 15 395,932 1,070,704 1,466,636 3.6
=& Pearl River Delta 15 395,932 1,070,704 1,466,636 3.6
@t Total 359 4,679,230 36,255,514 40,934,744 100.0
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1735 i 4R Bl &l 5 By City tiers
AHEE/ REPREE
THENERET ARBEEH TiRE HLnREe
BE¥H BEEE" BEEHERE HwEPW MHEAMW
Total GFA under
Completed GFA  development and
Number of available for held for future Total land % of total
projects  sale/leasable development bank® land bank
(FAK) (FAK) (EAK)
(sq.m.) (sa-m.) (sa-m.) (%)
—®ET Second-tier cities 116 1,393,463 11,689,842 13,083,305 32.0
= Al Third-tier cities 183 2,269,586 17,953,608 20,223,094 49.4
I &3 Forth-tier cities 60 1,016,181 6,612,164 7,628,345 18.6
#st Total 359 4,679,230 36,255,514 40,934,744 100.0
7 it = & 5 By Region
AHREE/ REPREE
THENERET ARBEH Tif@EE LA
BE¥H BEERY BEZEEE HwEPW MHEAMW
Total GFA under
Completed GFA  development and
Number of available for held for future Total land % of total
projects  sale/leasable development bank® land bank
(FAK) (FAK) (EAK)
(sa.m.) (sq.m.) (sa.m.) (%)
k=8 Yangtze River Delta 128 2,026,240 12,783,398 14,809,638 36.2
g Midwest China 131 1,925,939 13,656,352 15,582,291 38.1
R9E Pan-Bohai Rim 54 132,425 6,087,252 6,219,677 15.2
st Fiip== Western Taiwan Straits 31 198,694 2,657,808 2,856,502 6.9
%=A Pearl River Delta 15 395,932 1,070,704 1,466,636 3.6
@zt Total 359 4,679,230 36,255,514 40,934,744 100.0
BT - Notes:
1) BEFGAELIEEZEmE - J AR M Includes saleable GFA remaining unsold, leasable GFA and completed GFA that
SEBEREBRERHRRRNHNETIEZSE have been pre-sold but yet delivered.
TS e
2 T REEEESNIE T I EEREZER 2) Total land bank equals to the sum of (i) total completed GFA available for sale/
TR AR EE S RGP R ERE leasable GFA and (i) total GFA under development and held for future
FEMEEEmMBENAN  HITIRAE development, without adjusting the equity interest held by the Group in respect
MEALMPEIHBE AT EENEEMES of the projects held by the Group’s joint ventures or associates.

B RS 1 R o
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group derived its
revenue from three business lines, namely (i) sales of properties; (ii)
other services; and (i) rental income from property lease. The
revenue of the Group was primarily derived from the sales of
properties in the PRC. The following table sets forth the details of the
Group’s revenue recognised by business line for the years indicated:

HZE12A31HILLFE
For the year ended
31 December

2022 20214 g
Change in
2022 2021 percentage
ARBTRT AR%®Tr
RMB’000 RMB’000 %
J -
' ON Revenue
MEHE Sales of properties 39,169,158 75,533,446 -48.1%
H b AR 7 Other services 148,043 562,994 —73.7%
He WA Rental income 12,213 17,720 -31.1%
# 5t Total 39,329,414 76,114,160 -48.3%
N
CREIEIMEHEEW A Revenue recognised from sales of properties

NEBREE2022F12A31BIEFERN
VIEEEEENRA 85 4481%IFF
WO EHARES,1692E BT - B HER
LR RIRF R A 4)50.7% = E £ 2022
F12A318 1k FZ #94,498,156F /7 K °
HE2022F12A31HILFECDHRRANF
HEBAEBFHFKHARKST708TT © &
FHEFHAKHARMS 283 7T °
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The Group recorded revenue from the sales of properties amounted
to approximately RMB39,169.2 million for the year ended 31
December 2022, a year-on-year decrease of approximately 48.1%,
and recognised a year-on-year decrease in the total recognised GFA
by approximately 50.7% to 4,498,156 sqg.m. for the year ended 31
December 2022. Recognised ASP was approximately RMB8,708 per
sg.m. in the year ended 31 December 2022 versus approximately
RMB8,283 per sg.m. in the previous year.
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RI: N2022FECEFAWEISEWABEMA Table3: Breakdown of recognised revenue from sales of
properties in 2022

BZE2022F12A31HILLEE
For the year ended 31 December 2022

B A =4 X4
WA BOk EEEE FHEE
% to total Recognised Recognised
Revenue revenue GFA ASP
AR®
AR T 7K 7K
RMB’000 % sg.m. RMB/sq.m.
k=5 Yangtze River Delta 17,721,505 45.2 1,795,557 9,870
?7a D Midwest China 13,801,999 35.2 1,782,110 7,745
RS Pan-Bohai Rim 4,230,205 10.8 472,590 8,951
isql idh=o Western Taiwan Straits 2,374,521 6.1 281,892 8,424
=57 Pearl River Delta 1,040,928 2.7 166,007 6,270
st Total 39,169,158 100.0 4,498,156 8,708
B ZE2021F12A31B IEFE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
@I A 2R 2R
WA Ao BEEE FHEE
% to total Recognised  Recognised
Revenue revenue GFA ASP
AR
AREFT 770K 0K
RMB’000 % sg.m.  RMB/sg.m.
k=5 Yangtze River Delta 36,428,068 48.2 3,405,029 10,698
A7 Ef Midwest China 28,821,027 38.2 4,376,653 6,585
RS Pan-Bohai Rim 5,243,918 6.9 740,262 7,084
g i Western Taiwan Straits 3,689,967 4.9 434,084 8,501
%= Pearl River Delta 1,350,466 1.8 163,362 8,267
st Total 75,533,446 100.0 9,119,390 8,283

23



PREREERR AR 2022F F K

THBIWRER S

Management Discussion and Analysis

5 & B A

7N £ B A 55 B K A B #2021 12 A 31
HIEFEHH AREB3,081.75 & T
#)432% % # E2022F 12 A31B It F &
B4 AR ¥ 35,827.78 & JT © B E 20224
12AMBILEFE REEMERFEL
ENE T IMERRNBEBEFELY
ARM12436EBILFT AHERAE - M
EFRIHBARKT228FE T °

EMNRENZ

EABEBBRABBER RN 2R LA
it AN & E A E N B A 22021912 A 31
HIEFEHHARE13,032585 & LR
D731%E H 22022512 A31 8 IEF &
HHAREIS0I7TEETT

AEBMEMEHEZ2021F12 8318
IEFE®I171% N[ E#H £2022512 A
S1THILEFEMNSI%  TEBHRNFRIN
MYEBEEMFEHEEREEHE K
BRAREEYHEEE REME -

H e A K& W

AEEMEMKARKZEBZBE)HE
MEBAR - &&DEREE QR (i
PE 3 2= BB % 58 (i) BAT 8 B ¢ (V)R WR 3%
VI BERAGYVEBEEZS: RWE
f EFXrZEEMBEBRA - REEMEAM
WA R EEE2021F12 A31 B E4F
EHHAREIS1IEHBE LR D 462.2%
EHEHZE2022F12A3MBIEFEHNHAR
#36298 B L F ERAN2022F &
BB A R R A I DE K U s A

EREbERBE R M-

HERDHAX

AEBNHEERSERAIERERID
432%E B 22022F 12 A31HIEFER
HWARKE16429B BT TZHNRZE
MEMSBREONFE EHITHHRER
REFATIBE R VAT

24

Cost of sales

The Group’s cost of sales decreased by approximately 43.2% from
approximately RMB63,081.7 million for the year ended 31 December
2021 to approximately RMB35,827.7 million for the year ended 31
December 2022. Net impairment losses recognised for properties
under development and completed properties held for sale of
approximately RMB1,243.6 million were included in cost of sales for
the year ended 31 December 2022, as compared to approximately
RMB722.8 million for the previous year.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

Gross profit represents revenue less cost of sales. As a result of the
foregoing, the Group’s gross profit decreased by approximately
73.1% from approximately RMB13,032.5 million for the year ended
31 December 2021 to approximately RMB3,501.7 million for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

The Group’s gross profit margin decreased from 17.1% for the year
ended 31 December 2021 to 8.9% for the year ended 31 December
2022, mainly because of lower ASP relative to the respective land
acquisition costs in respect of property projects delivered and
impairment on property projects during the year.

Other income and gains

The Group’s other income and gains primarily include (i) gain on
disposal of subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates; (i) net foreign
exchange difference; (i) government grants; (iv) forfeiture of deposits;
(v) changes in provision for financial guarantee contracts; and (vi)
others, which mainly include sundry income. The Group’s other
income and gains decreased by approximately 62.2% from
approximately RMB959.1 million for the year ended 31 December
2021 to approximately RMB362.9 million for the year ended 31
December 2022, primarily due to the decrease in gains on disposal of
Subsidiaries and absence of gains in both foreign exchange and
disposals of joint venture and associates in year 2022.

Selling and distribution expenses

The Group’s selling and distribution expenses decreased year-on-
year by approximately 43.2% to approximately RMB1,642.9 million
for the year ended 31 December 2022, primarily due to the slow-
down in marketing activities and less promotional expenses budget
due to the impact of a weakened real estate market.
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Administrative expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses decreased year-on-year by
approximately 54.8% to approximately RMB1,597.3 million for the
year ended 31 December 2022. The decrease was generally due to
the decrease in staff cost during the year. The Group continued to
streamlining the organisational structure and further strengthened
cost control measures.

Other expenses and other net losses

The Group incurred other expenses of approximately RMB927.3
million for the year ended 31 December 2022, as compared to
approximately RMB153.4 million for the year ended 31 December
2021. The increase in other expenses were mainly due to the
recognition of the foreign exchange losses.

The Group recorded an aggregate of other net losses of
approximately RMB648.4 million including fair value losses/(gains) on
investment properties and net fair value/impairment losses on
financial assets for the year ended 31 December 2022, as compared
to an aggregate of other net losses of approximately RMB280.5
million for the previous year. Due to the severe challenges and sector
downturn in China’s real estate industry, the fair value/impairment
losses and the expected credit losses on financial assets in the
related industry increased in 2022. Details of the basis of arriving at
the fair value for the investment properties are set out in note 14 to
the consolidated financial statements. Details of the basis for making
the impairment and arriving at the fair value of the financial assets are
set out in notes 2.4, 20, 24 and 39 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Finance income

The Group’s finance income, which mainly represents bank interest
income, decreased year-on-year by approximately 33.6% to
approximately RMB246.8 million for the year ended 31 December
2022.

Finance costs

The Group’s finance costs decreased year-on-year by approximately
38.7% to approximately RMB397.2 million for the year ended 31
December 2022.

The Group’s total finance costs expensed and capitalised for the year
ended 31 December 2022 was approximately RMB3,021.9 million,
representing an year-on-year decrease of approximately 36.7%, was
due to the decrease in bank and other borrowings, asset-backed
securities and senior notes.

25



PREREERR AR 2022F F K

THBIWRER S

Management Discussion and Analysis

EiEEEhERBEE QAR E

HE2022F 12831 B ILFE - KEBEESB
EHEECENBHOARKS180BE L
maEl = 2021 F12 A31 B IFFE BI85 &1L
BECENABOARB4M8TEE T -

HE22022F 12 A31H IEFE X A& E &
SRLBZEARFNEHARKIMBITE
JC MEIE2021F12 A31 B It FEHIEE
EREEE AR R ENARER215ETT -

BEGFEE H Z22022F12831H 1E
FE AEBEESELCENBE QAT
B BARBS7T0OBEE L HE LAY
125%  Z EADFTERARAEENEE
TEMBE QR REZE20229F12 A31 8 1E
FEARNAFENYEIRE LN -

BiAT (B8, FHE

ERENAEENEEREEZE A&
E & A& E2021F12A31BIEFEFE K
MABEOARE7TIIBAE THEHE
2022F 12 AB1HIEFEMMAIEEL A
R¥E2348FETT -

FREHMAX

AEEMGHASIBERERTRHCERSE
T R 430 38 (E B 0 BR F AR R IR R E
B o AN E /) FT1S B R X B & 22021
FI2A31HBEFENHARK28680H
BT #5651 7% 28 £22022F 12 31 H
HEFEMHARK138658E T -

FR(ER)FHE

ER LM AEENEBEES: K&
EEH E2021F12A31 8 EFEHFH
B ARBA7561H 8 TS E 22022
F12A31 B IEFERFEE K IEZK
A HARK1621288 7T °

RBET MBERELXFER

AEEBRENTEBREAE ST
X AEBIZURZMEENRES (B
REELRAEMEMGRE  RITAHE
O fE R ERIE - FERBREE RE
e RneHEEES EAER
HibBEARFH

26

Share of profits of joint ventures and associates

The Group recorded share of profits of joint ventures of approximately
RMB518.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2022, versus
share of profits of joint ventures of approximately RMB448.7 million
for the year ended 31 December 2021.

The Group recorded share of profits of associates of approximately
RMB348.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2022, versus
share of profits of associates of approximately RMB322.1 million for
the year ended 31 December 2021.

On an aggregated basis, the Group’s share of profits of joint ventures
and associates amounted to approximately RMB867.0 million for the
year ended 31 December 2022, representing a year-on-year increase
of approximately 12.5%. The increase was primarily due to the
increase in delivery of property projects held by the Group’s joint
ventures and associates during the year ended 31 December 2022.

(Loss)/Profit before tax

As a result of the aforementioned changes of the Group’s financials,
the Group recorded a loss before tax of approximately RMB234.8
million for the year ended 31 December 2022, when compared to a
profit before tax of approximately RMB7,624.1 million for the year
ended 31 December 2021.

Income tax expense

The Group’s income tax expense comprises provisions made for
corporate income tax and land appreciation tax in the PRC less
deferred tax during the year. The Group’s income tax expense
decreased by approximately 51.7% from approximately RMB2,868.0
million for the year ended 31 December 2021 to approximately
RMB1,386.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2022.

(Loss)/Profit for the year

As a result of the aforementioned changes of the Group’s financials,
the Group recorded a net loss (before deducting non-controlling
interests) of approximately RMB1,621.2 million for the year ended 31
December 2022, when compared to a net profit of approximately
RMB4,756.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2021.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL
RESOURCES

The industry in which the Group engages is a capital-intensive
industry. The Group primarily meets its operating capital, capital
expenditure and other capital needs with cash generated from
operations including proceeds from sale and pre-sale of properties,
proceeds from bank and other borrowings, capital contribution from
non-controlling shareholders and other financings.
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Net current assets

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s net current assets amounted
to approximately RMB14,746.3 million (31 December 2021:
approximately RMB27,947.6 million). Specifically, the Group’s total
current assets decreased by approximately 11.2% from
approximately RMB238,418.8 miilion as at 31 December 2021 to
approximately RMB211,736.4 million as at 31 December 2022. The
Group’s total current liabilities decreased by approximately 6.4% from
approximately RMB210,471.2 miilion as at 31 December 2021 to
approximately RMB196,990.1 million as at 31 December 2022. The
decrease in the Group’s total current assets was primarily attributable
to () the decrease in properties under development; and (i) the
decrease in cash and bank balances as at 31 December 2022.

Financial Ratio

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had assets-to-liabilities ratio
after excluding receipts in advance (calculated by dividing total
liabilities minus contract liabilities by total assets minus contract
liabilities) was approximately 74.7%, the net gearing ratio was
approximately 32.3% and the non-restricted cash-to-current
borrowings (calculated by dividing non-restricted cash and cash
equivalents by current borrowings) was approximately 0.82.

Cash position

The Group’s cash and bank balances (including restricted cash and
pledged deposits) amounted to approximately RMB16,586.0 million
in total as at 31 December 2022 (2021: approximately RMB27,610.5
million), representing a decrease of approximately 39.9% as
compared with the end of 2021. Under the current strict requirement
of local government policies, substantially most of the Group’s cash
were under strict pre-sale cash escrow in designated bank accounts
at project-level in order to ensure completion of the properties under
development.

Indebtedness

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had total outstanding
indebtedness of approximately RMB26,735.2 million (31 December
2021: approximately RMB40,181.4 million), comprising bank and
other borrowings of approximately RMB20,233.4 million
(81 December 2021: approximately RMB31,681.5 million), senior
notes of approximately RMB6,501.8 million (31 December 2021:
approximately RMB8,181.3 million) and asset-backed securities of nil
(81 December 2021: approximately RMB318.6 million). As at 31
December 2022, the net gearing ratio was approximately 32.3% (31
December 2021: approximately 35.4%).
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Table 4: Breakdown of the Group’s total indebtedness

M12A31H
As at 31 December
20224 20214
2022 2021
ARETRT AREBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
—— —
B & Current
IRITE K Bank loans
—HEF — secured 78,000 801,660
— I — unsecured = 74,800
HaEx Other loans
—FEH — secured 772,553 1,313,769
— 4 3K 47 — unsecured 2,582,695 4,229,644
RHFRTERNENE RS Current portion of long-term bank loans
— B KT — secured 3,814,148 4,007,963
EHEMERNEIE IS Current portion of long-term other loans
— A\ — secured 1,876,407 855,820
— R — unsecured 2,217,340 1,057,510
BEREE Senior notes 6,501,799 6,879,457
BEERES Asset-backed securities = 318,641
B EK AR Total current indebtedness 17,842,942 19,539,264
Ik BN H#A Non-current
IITER Bank loans
— B — secured 6,070,740 12,698,700
HaE® Other loans
—FEA — secured 2,149,200 5,058,860
— K 37 — unsecured 672,270 1,582,796
BEEE Senior notes - 1,301,830
FAHEKEE Total non-current indebtedness 8,892,210 20,642,186
BEREE Total indebtedness 26,735,152 40,181,450
A Secured 14,761,048 25,055,413
R Unsecured 11,974,104 15,126,037
BHEE Total indebtedness 26,735,152 40,181,450
e
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#EEBFEFEE S By fixed or variable interest rates
M12A31H
As at 31 December
2022 % 2021 F
2022 2021
AR® Tt AR T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
e e ——
E A = Fixed interest rate 23,055,236 34,498,405
FEF X Floating interest rate 3,679,916 5,683,045
BB Total Indebtedness 26,735,152 40,181,450
B EE%E 5 By currency denomination
M12A31H
As at 31 December
2022 2021 F
2022 2021
AR® Tt ARBEFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
e ——
AR E Denominated in RMB 18,481,756 31,043,808
ZETTEHE Denominated in US$ 8,253,396 9,137,642
BB E Total Indebtedness 26,735,152 40,181,450

.,
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HIBELKEHESE S By maturity profiles
M12A831H
As at 31 December
20224 20214
2022 2021
AR%ET T AR T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
I
EBEERITENR: Bank loans repayable:
—BAR—FARIEEREE  — Within one year or on demand 3,892,148 4,884,423
—BRNE —FEHEIE — In the second year 5,158,740 6,452,777
—BREZEFRFN — In the third to fifth year, inclusive
(BFEEREMF)ER 912,000 6,245,923
9,962,888 17,583,123
EEEHMMER: Other borrowings repayable:
— B —FARFILBEREER  — Within one year or on demand 7,448,995 7,456,743
—BRNE_FER — In the second year 1,912,016 6,333,356
—BRE=ZEFTFN — In the third to fifth year, inclusive
(BIEEREME)EE 909,454 308,300
10,270,465 14,098,399
EEEEERE: Senior notes repayable:
—ARN—FRNEE — Within one year 6,501,799 6,879,457
—BARE_FEE — In the second year — 1,301,830
6,501,799 8,181,287
EEEEEERIZS Asset-backed securities repayable:
—BR—FERNEER — Within one year — 318,641
- 318,641
EREE Total Indebtedness 26,735,152 40,181,450
e
EEKE Pledge of assets

R2022F 12 A31H » AEB A E KUK
EEH ARS6,787.98 & JT (2021 F12
A31H: H AR¥E82483E B L) ME
EEET ZSEERRIREDE X

(VFEEWZ -
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development.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s borrowings were secured by
the Group’s assets of approximately RMB56,787.9 million
(81 December 2021: approximately RMB68,248.3 million) which
includes (i) investment properties; and (i) properties under
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Financial risks

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, including
interest rate risk, credit risk, foreign currency risk and liquidity risk.
Generally, the Group introduces conservative strategies on its risk
management and did not use any derivatives or other instruments for
hedging purposes during the year.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to risk for changes in market interest rates
relates primarily to the Group’s interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings. The Group has not used derivative financial instruments
to hedge any interest rate risk. The Group manages its interest cost
using variable rate bank borrowings and other borrowings.

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures arising from
transactions by the group entities in currencies other than their
respective functional currencies. In addition, the Group has foreign
currency exposures from its cash and cash equivalents and senior
notes.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had (i) cash and bank balances
denominated in United States dollars and Hong Kong dollars of
approximately RMB1.8 million and RMB3.6 million, respectively, (i)
bank and other borrowings denominated in United States dollars of
approximately RMB1,751.6 million, and (i) senior notes denominated
in United States dollars of approximately RMB6,501.8 million, all of
which are subject to fluctuations in exchange rates. The Group has
not entered into any foreign currency hedging arrangement. However,
the Group will closely monitor its exposure to exchange rates in order
to best preserve the Group’s cash value.

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties.
It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit
terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition,
receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis and the
Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant. For transactions
that are not denominated in the functional currency of the relevant
operating unit, the Group does not offer credit terms without the
specific approval of the head of credit control of the Group.
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Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of
funding and flexibility through the use of interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings, senior notes and asset-backed securities. Cash
flows are closely monitored on an ongoing basis.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Mortgage guarantees

The Group provided guarantees in respect of mortgage facilities granted
by certain banks to the purchasers of the Group’s properties. Pursuant
to the terms of the guarantee arrangements, in case of default on
mortgage payments by the purchasers, the Group is responsible to
repay the outstanding mortgage principals together with any accrued
interest and penalties owed by the defaulted purchasers to those banks.
Under such arrangement, the related properties were pledged to the
banks as collateral for the mortgage loans, upon default on mortgage
repayments by these purchasers, the banks are entitled to take over the
legal titles and will realise the pledged properties through open auction.

The Group’s guarantee period starts from the dates of grant of the
relevant mortgage loans and ends upon the issuance and registration
of property ownership certificates to the purchasers, which will
generally be available within half a year to two years after the
purchasers take possession of the relevant properties.

The total outstanding mortgage guarantee amounts provided by the
Group to banks amounted to approximately RMB32,608.4 million as
at 31 December 2022 (31 December 2021: approximately
RMB61,946.8 million).

The Group did not incur any material losses during the year in respect of
the guarantees provided for mortgage facilities granted to purchasers of
the Group’s properties. The Directors considered that in case of default
on payments, the net realisable value of the related properties would be
sufficient to repay the outstanding mortgage loans together with any
accrued interest and penalty, and therefore no provision has been
made in connection with the guarantees.

Financial guarantees

As at 31 December 2022, the Group guaranteed certain of the bank
and other borrowings made to its joint ventures, associates and third
parties up to RMB7,152.1 million (31 December 2021: approximately
RMB16,146.9 million).
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Legal contingents

The Group may be involved in lawsuits and other proceedings in its
ordinary course of business from time to time. Save as disclosed in
this report, the Group believes that no liabilities resulting from these
proceedings will have a material and adverse effect on its business,
financial condition or operating results.

COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s property development
expenditures, acquisition of land use rights and capital contributions
payable to joint ventures and associates that had contracted but yet
provided for were approximately RMB27,156.2 million (31 December
2021: approximately RMB42,001.6 million).

OFF-BALANCE SHEET COMMITMENTS AND
ARRANGEMENTS

Except for the contingent liabilities disclosed above, as at 31
December 2022, the Group did not have any outstanding loan capital
issued or agreed to be issued, bank overdrafts, loans, debt securities,
borrowings or other similar indebtedness, liabilities under
acceptances (other than normal trade bills), acceptance credits,
debentures, mortgages, charges, finance leases or hire purchase
commitments, guarantees or other material contingent liabilities.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES, AND FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this report, there were no other significant
investments held, no material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures during the year, nor was there any plan
authorised by the Group for other material investments or additions of
capital assets during the year ended 31 December 2022.
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EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2022, the Group employed a total of 4,419 full-
time employees (31 December 2021: 10,317). For the year ended 31
December 2022, the staff cost recognised as expenses of the Group
amounted to approximately RMB1,399.8 million (31 December 2021:
approximately RMB2,065.2 million). The Group offers its employees
market-level remuneration packages that include basic salaries,
discretionary bonuses, performance-based payments, share options
and share awards so as to attract and retain quality staff.
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and Company Secretary

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. YANG Jian, aged 51, is the founder of the Group and was
appointed as an executive Director and the chairman of the Board in
March 2018. He is also the chairman of the nomination committee
and a member of the remuneration committee of the Company. Mr.
Yang has more than 29 years of experience in the PRC real estate
industry. Mr. Yang is principally responsible for the overall
management and business operations of the Group, including
coordinating board affairs, formulating strategies and operational
plans, and making major business decisions.

Mr. Yang received the Executive Education Program Certificate from
Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business, the PRC, in May 2016
after completing a course in investment and financing in capital
market.
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Mr. CHEN Hongliang, aged 41, was appointed as an executive
Director in December 2019. He is currently a co-president of the
property business and a director of Shanghai Zhongliang Enterprise
Development Limited, Shanghai Zhongliang Real Estate Group Co.,
Ltd. and various subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Chen is also the
chairman of the ESG committee of the Company. He is primarily
responsible for the governance and management of the Group,
including strategies, human resources, mechanism accounting, legal,
risk and financial management, real estate information management
and brand building of the Group.

Mr. Chen has more than 17 years of experience in human resources.
Since September 2009, Mr. Chen has worked for the subsidiaries of
the Group holding different positions. He was the assistant president
of the Group and was in charge of human resources center, legal
affairs center and mechanism accounting center from August 2016 to
August 2018, then he was promoted to vice president of the
Company in August 2018 and subsequently promoted to the current
position as a co-president of the property business in September
2019. Mr. Chen was the deputy general manager of human resources
of the Group from March 2016 to August 2016, the director of human
resources of the Group from March 2015 to March 2016 and as the
deputy director of the Group from March 2013 to March 2015. He
was the manager of corporate management department and head of
office at Shanghai Zhongliang Real Estate Group Company Limited
from September 2009 to March 2013.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Chen was the manager of human
resources administration at Suzhou Shengshi Real Estate Investment
Group Ltd.*, which primarily engages in property development and
sales, from January 2007 to October 2008. Mr. Chen graduated from
Anhui University of Science and Technology in Anhui Province, the
PRC, in July 2004, majoring in human resources management. In
February 2010, he obtained the Human Resources Management
Certificate (Intermediate level)* granted by Jiangsu Province Human
Resources and Social Security Bureau*.
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Mr. HE Jian, aged 48, was appointed as an executive Director in July
2021. He is currently a co-president of the property business and a
director of Shanghai Zhongliang Real Estate Group Company Limited
and various subsidiaries of the Group. He is also a member of the
ESG committee of the Company. Mr. He is primarily responsible for
the investment, product development, sales and customer services,
and overseeing of the business operations of the Group.

Mr. He joined the Group in December 2015 and has over 21 years of
experience in real estate development and sales operations, and held
senior management positions as deputy general manager of sales
and marketing and president of various regional companies and
groups. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. He held senior management
roles in Binjiang, Greentown and Sino-Ocean real estate groups.
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Mr. YAU Sze Ka, also known as Albert Yau, aged 51, joined the
Group in April 2019 and was appointed as an executive Director in
December 2019. He is also a member of the ESG committee of the
Company. He is currently the vice president of the Group and a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Yau is primarily
responsible for the overall financial management, fundraisings and
capital market matters of the Group.

Mr. Yau has 29 years of experience in real estates, capital markets
and corporate management. From July 2011 to March 2019, Mr. Yau
was the chief financial officer of CIFI Holdings (Group) Co. Ltd., a
company principally engaged in property development and property
investment in the PRC and the shares of which are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 884). From December
2005 to June 2011, Mr. Yau was the director of corporate affairs of
Lai Sun Garment (International) Limited, a company principally
engaged in property investment and development in Hong Kong,
PRC and overseas as well as investment in and operation of hotels
and restaurants and the shares of which are listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 191), where he was responsible
for corporate finance, business development and investor relations.
From January 2003 to December 2005, Mr. Yau was a director of
DBS Asia Capital Limited, a company principally engaged in
corporate finance and investment banking. From September 1999 to
January 2003, Mr. Yau worked for ICEA Capital Limited, a company
principally engaged in corporate finance and investment banking, and
his last position held was an executive director of the investment
banking division. From January 2017 to March 2019, Mr. Yau was an
independent non-executive director of Wisdom Education
International Holdings Company Limited, a company principally
engaged in the provision of education services in the PRC and the
shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 6068). Mr. Yau obtained a bachelor’s degree of science
from University of California at Berkeley, the United States in May
1994. He is also a holder of Chartered Financial Analyst.
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Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. WANG Kaiguo, aged 64, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director in June 2019 and is currently a member of the
audit committee and the nomination committee of the Company.
Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Wang has served at Shanghai
Zhongping Capital Co. Ltd., an asset management company, as the
chairman of the board of directors since August 2016. Mr. Wang has
more than 27 years of experience working in financial institutions.
From February 1995 to July 2016, he served at a Chinese securities
corporation Haitong Securities Co., Ltd. and held various positions,
including the deputy general manager, general manager, Secretary of
the Leading Party Members’ Group, Secretary of Party Committee
and chairman of the board, president and executive director, where
he began to host the work of Haitong Securities Co., Ltd. in a
comprehensive way and led it to become a leading securities in
China. Mr. Wang received his doctor’s degree in economics from
Xiamen University in Fujian Province, the PRC in May 1990. Mr. Wang
was certified as a senior economist by Bank of Communications in
December 1997. Since February 2022, Mr. Wang has been an
independent non-executive director of Greenland Holdings
Corporation Limited, a company which invests in real estate, energy,
finance and hotels, etc. and is listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange
(stock code: 600606). Since May 2017, Mr. Wang has been an
independent non-executive director of Shanghai Dazhong Public
Utilities (Group) Co., Ltd., a supplier of piped gas and other public
utilities the A shares of which are listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange (stock code: 600635) and the H shares of which are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1635). He
has also served as an independent non-executive director of a
corporate commercial bank Shanghai Rural Commercial Bank Co.,
Ltd. since March 2017 and the company is listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange since August 2021 (stock code: 601825). From
December 2009 to December 2014, Mr. Wang was an independent
non-executive director at Shanghai Chlor-Alkali Chemical Co., Ltd., a
company which manufactures and markets chlorine and alkaline
chemicals and is listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code:
600618). From November 2018 to September 2022, Mr. Wang has
been an independent non-executive director of Anxin Trust Co., Ltd, (a
company which engages in deposit and lending business, investment
business and trust business and is listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange (stock code: 600816)), as well as an independent non-
executive director of Caitong Fund Management Co., Ltd., a
company which engages in fund management business, fund
establishment and other business as approved by the China
Securities Regulatory Commission.
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Mr. WU Xiaobo, aged 63, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director in June 2019 and is currently the chairman of the
remuneration committee and a member of the audit committee and
nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Wu has extensive work
experience acting as a strategy adviser in the manufacturing industry
in terms of providing strategy, innovation, transnational development
and management consulting services. Mr. Wu has served as an
independent director of Hikvision Digital Technology Co., Ltd. (a
video-centric loT solution provider listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange, stock code: 002415) since March 2021. He also served
as an independent director of Ucloud Technology Co.,Ltd. (a neutral
third-party cloud computing service provider listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange, stock code: 688158), since June 2020 and served
as an independent director of IKD Co., Ltd. (an auto parts
manufacturer listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code:
600933) since August 2018. From March 2010 to November 2015,
Mr. Wu was a strategy adviser of Zhejiang Machinery and Electrical
Group, which manufactures and distributes machinery products, and
he was responsible for corporate strategy consultation. Mr. Wu
graduated from Zhejiang University in Zhejiang Province, the PRC,
with a doctor’s degree in management science and engineering in
July 1992, a master’'s degree in engineering in June 1989 and a
bachelor’s degree in electrical engineering in January 1982.
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Mr. AU YEUNG Po Fung, aged 55, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director in June 2019 and is currently the
chairman of the audit committee and a member of the remuneration
committee and ESG committee of the Company. Mr. Au Yeung has
extensive work experience in the real estate industry. He held various
senior management positions in various real estate companies,
including Beijing Huahong Group Co., Ltd., Sansheng Holdings (Group)
Co. Ltd., Fujian Sansheng Property Development Company Limited,
South China Assets Holdings Limited, Shenzhen Tianlai Tourism
Property Group, Fosun Industrial Holdings Limited (a subsidiary of
Fosun International Limited), Sun Hung Kai Properties Limited,
Powerlong Real Estate Holdings Limited, Greenland Hong Kong
Holdings Limited, Landsea Green Group Co., Ltd., Fu Wah
International Enterprises Group Ltd.. Mr. Au Yeung graduated from
The Hong Kong Polytechnic (currently known as The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University) in Hong Kong in November 1990 with a
bachelor’s degree in business studies. He was admitted as a fellow
of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in November
2000, a fellow of the Hong Kong Society of Accountants (currently
known as the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(HKICPA)) in May 2003, and a fellow of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales in July 2015. Mr. Au Yeung was
also certified as a chartered financial analyst (CFA) of the CFA
Institute in September 2006.

41



PREREERR AR 2022F F K

EF  SREEERAFIHERE

Biographies of Director, Senior Management and Company Secretary

BEoN - BUEG e ek & A BE RS Fr £ In addition, Mr. Au Yeung holds or had served as an independent
MAREEBILIFRNTES non-executive director in the following companies listed on the Stock
Exchange:
B 7 5 & NCECY TEXK
Period of service Name of company Principal business
2020F10R &S i ESEERAA MEFER
(B 12 5% - 6900)
October 2020 to present Sunkwan Properties Group Limited real estate developer
(stock code: 6900)
2020F6 A E4 ERBBEBBRRAA MAEMMEERRERHES
(B 2 R 5% - 6958)
June 2020 to present Zhenro Services Group Limited complex property management service provider
(stock code: 6958)
2019F8HZES MNER(RE)BRAF MERERD
(B 17 1R 5% : 2103) (T3 742k ) =)
August 2019 to present Sinic Holdings (Group) Company Limited  real estate developer
(stock code: 2103) (“Sinic Holdings”)M
2018F6AZE4 BEFRHGEEBRLT TRBMRARERER
(B 12 5% - 8036)
June 2018 to present eBroker Group Limited financial technology solution provider
(stock code: 8036)
2018F6 AES G EEBARA A MERER
(A% 3 R5% - 1996)
June 2018 to present Redsun Properties Group Limited real estate developer
(stock code: 1996)
201855 A £202146 A PEmEELRNHAERRAA FEISEAR BERRT EHLRFEEERK
(Bt R 5% : 1749) UNOIEEEEE
May 2018 to June 2021 Shanshan Brand Management Co., Ltd.  menswear company focusing on design, marketing
(stock code: 1749) and sale of formal and casual business menswear in
the PRC
201746 A £202042 A B8 3 E R IR A MEREREERQA

June 2017 to February 2020

201667 AZ=20194F9 A4

July 2016 to September 2019

201655 A £2016F 9 A

May 2016 to September 2016

MR BUES SR AR MR AR R 2022 F 12 A7 A %

(B 2 5% - 108)
GR Properties Ltd.
(stock code: 108)

HEXAREEBR QA
(A& 3 R 5% : 931)

China LNG Group Limited
(stock code: 931)

BB ZERER A A

(B fn R 5% - 381)

Kiu Hung International Holdings Limited
(stock code: 381)

property development and management company

BEEENTRRAE

asset management and new energy development

MARENREBERRABEBES

toys manufacturing and resources and leisure-related
business
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Note: Mr. Au Yeung was informed that Sinic Holdings was ordered to be wound up
and an official receiver was appointed as the provisional liquidator by the High
Court of Hong Kong on 7 December 2022. Mr. Au Yeung confirmed that he is
not a party of such winding-up proceedings and is not aware of any current or
potential claim that has been or will be made against him as a result of the
above. For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 30
December 2022.
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The abovementioned Directors of the Company are members of
senior management of the Group.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. YEUNG Tak Yip, aged 41, was appointed as the company
secretary in July 2018. Mr. Yeung possesses over 9 years of
experience in company secretarial practice and more than 18 years
of experience in finance and administration. Prior to joining the Group,
he was the company secretary, financial controller, director of
investor relations and authorised representative of Modern Land (China)
Co., Limited, which engages in property development and provision
of real estate related services and is listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 1107), from April 2016 to April 2018. From October 2012 to
April 2016, Mr. Yeung was the company secretary and group
financial controller of China Water Property Group Limited (currently
known as China City Infrastructure Group Limited), a property
development group listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2349).
Mr. Yeung previously worked at Deloitte & Touche as an audit
manager from April 2008 to February 2011 and as an auditor from
September 2003 to April 2008. He received his bachelor’s degree in
professional accountancy from The Chinese University of Hong Kong
in Hong Kong in May 2003. He also obtained a master’s degree in
Laws from the King’s College London in April 2022. He has also been
fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
since March 2013 and Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (HKICPA) since July 2010.

*

For illustrative purpose only
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group is committed to achieving high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and to
enhance corporate value and accountability.

The Company has adopted and applied the Corporate Governance
Code as its own code on corporate governance and, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, the Company has complied with all
applicable code provisions under the Corporate Governance Code
for the year ended 31 December 2022.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board composition

As at 31 December 2022, the Board consists of four executive Directors,
namely Mr. Yang Jian (Chairman), Mr. Chen Hongliang (Co-President),
Mr. He Jian (Co-President) and Mr. Yau Sze Ka (Albert) and three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wang Kaiguo, Mr. Wu
Xiaobo, and Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung. An updated list of the Directors and
their roles and functions is published on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and of the Company, respectively. The overall management
and supervision of the Company’s operation and the function of
formulating overall business strategies were vested in the Board.

There are no financial, business, family or other material relationships
among members of the Board.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company has at all
times met the requirements of Rules 3.10(1) and (2) of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent non-
executive directors with at least one independent non-executive
director possessing appropriate professional qualifications, or
accounting or related financial management expertise. The three
independent non-executive Directors represent more than one-third
of the Board, complying with the requirement under Rule 3.10A of
the Listing Rules whereby independent non-executive directors of a
listed issuer must represent at least one-third of the board. The Board
believes there is sufficient independence element in the Board to
safeguard the interest of Shareholders.
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Corporate Governance Report

Directors’ responsibilities

The Board takes the responsibility to oversee all major matters of the
Company, including the formulation and approval of all policy matters,
overall strategies, internal control and risk management systems, and
monitor the performance of the senior executives. The Directors have
to make decisions objectively in the interests of the Company. As at
31 December 2022, the Board comprised seven Directors, including
four executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors. Their names and biographical details are set out in the
“Biographies of Directors, Senior Management and Company
Secretary” section of this report.

Liability insurance for Directors and senior management of the
Company is maintained by the Company with appropriate coverage
for certain legal liabilities which may arise in the course of performing
their duties.

Delegation by the Board

The management, consisting of executive Directors along with other
senior executives, is delegated with responsibilities for implementing
the strategy and direction as adopted by the Board from time to time,
and conducting the day-to-day management and operations of the
Group. Executive Directors and senior executives meet regularly to
review the performance of the businesses of the Group as a whole,
co-ordinate overall resources and make financial and operational
decisions. The Board also gives clear directions as to their powers of
management including circumstances where management should
report back, and will review the delegation arrangements on a
periodic basis to ensure that they remain appropriate to the needs of
the Group.

Directors’ responsibilities for financial statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group in accordance with
statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards. The
Directors also acknowledge their responsibilities to ensure that the
consolidated financial statements of the Group are published in a
timely manner.
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Disclaimer of Opinion

The Company’s auditor, Ernst & Young issued a disclaimer of opinion
on the consolidated financial statements of the Group, details of
which are set out in the independent auditor’s report.

Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion

Multiple uncertainties relating to going concern

As set out in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group recorded a net loss of RMB1,621,239,000 for the year ended
31 December 2022. As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings and senior notes amounted to
RMB26,735,152,000, out of which RMB17,842,942,000 will be due
for repayment within the next twelve months, while its cash and cash
equivalents amounted to RMB14,603,726,000. As at 31 December
2022, the Group had not repaid an aggregate amount of principal
and interest of RMB209,736,000 for senior notes due May 2022 and
July 2022 and an aggregate amount of interest of RMB343,867,000
for certain senior notes according to their scheduled repayment
dates. As at 31 December 2022, an aggregate amount of principal of
RMB2,700,636,000 for interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
had not been repaid according to their scheduled repayment dates,
triggering certain long term interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings amounted to RMB189,959,000 becoming repayable on
demand. A winding-up petition was filed by a trustee of senior notes
due May 2022 against the Company on 21 November 2022. These
conditions, together with other matters set out in note 2.1 to the
consolidated financial statements, indicate the existence of material
uncertainties which cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

The directors of the Company have been undertaking measures to
improve the Group’s liquidity and financial position, which are set out in
note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements. The validity of the
going concern assumption on which the consolidated financial
statements have been prepared depends on the outcome of these
measures, which are subject to multiple uncertainties, including
whether the Company can (i) successfully complete the holistic solution
of its offshore debts; (i) successfully dismiss the winding-up petition; (iii)
successfully negotiate with the Group’s existing debt holders for the
renewal or extension for repayment of the Group’s bank and other
borrowings; (iv) successfully secure project development loans for
qualified project development in a timely manner; (v) successfully obtain
additional new sources of financing as and when needed; (Vi)
successfully carry out the Group’s business strategy plan including the
acceleration of the sales of properties; (vi) successfully implement
measures to speed up the collection of outstanding sales proceeds
and effectively control costs and expenses; and (viii) successfully
dispose of the Group’s equity interests in project development
companies when suitable.
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As a result of these multiple uncertainties, their potential interaction,
and the possible cumulative effect thereof, Ermnst & Young was unable
to form an opinion as to whether the going concern basis of
preparation is appropriate. Should the Group fail to achieve the above-
mentioned measures, it might not be able to continue to operate as a
going concern, and adjustments would have to be made to write down
the carrying values of the Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts,
to provide for any further liabilities which might arise, and to reclassify
non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and
current liabilities, respectively. The effects of these adjustments have
not been reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

The Management’s Position, View and Assessment on the
Disclaimer of Opinion

In view of the uncertainties relating to going concern, the Directors
have undertaken a number of plans and measures to improve the
Group’s liquidity and financial position, including that the Group:

(@ has appointed financial and legal advisers to assist it in a holistic
solution of its offshore debts, in order to reach a consensual
solution with all the stakeholders as soon as practicable;

(b) has appointed legal counsels in relation to the winding-up
petitions;

(c) has been actively negotiating with the Group’s existing debt
holders to seek renewal, extension and replacement of bank
loans and other borrowings;

(d) will continue to actively communicate with banks to timely
secure relevant project development loans for qualified project
development;

(e) will continue to seek for other alternative financing and
borrowings to finance the settlement of its existing financial
obligations and future operating and capital expenditures;

()  has prepared a business strategy plan mainly focusing on the
acceleration of the sales of properties;

(@ has implemented measures to speed up the collection of
outstanding sales proceeds and effectively control costs and
expenses; and

(h)  will continue to seek suitable opportunities to dispose of its

equity interest in certain project development companies in
order to generate additional cash inflows.
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In respect of the acceleration of sales of properties, the Company has (j)
optimized the management structure in the business department so as
to enable the senior management of the Group to have access to the
first-hand knowledge on the market demand for making timely decision
on the selling strategies; (i) strategically concentrated its sales
resources on key areas where the market environment is more positive
to the Group; and (i) implemented the sales incentive policy for the
sales team including the sales commission and bonus to motivate the
sales team. The Company has published monthly operating data in
order to keep Shareholders updated of the sales of properties.

In addition, the Company has closely monitored the collection of the
outstanding sales proceeds with the coordination between different
departments. The finance department has closely worked with the
business department so as to ensure mortgage loans from the banks
will be timely released to the customers to settle the outstanding
sales proceeds. In terms of expenses and cost control, the Group
has streamlined its management structure, downsized the business
department and strategically reduced its cost and expenses on land
acquisition or project designing.

The Directors are of the opinion that, taking into account the above
plans and measures, the Group will have sufficient working capital to
finance its operations and meet its financial obligations as and when
they fall due within the next twelve months from 31 December 2022.
Accordingly, the Directors are satisfied that it is appropriate to
prepare the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2022 on a going concern basis.

Notwithstanding the above plans and measures, significant
uncertainties exist as to whether the Group will be able to implement
them successfully. Should the Group be unable to operate as a going
concern, adjustments may have to be made to write down the
carrying values of assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for
any further liabilities which might arise, and to reclassify non-current
assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and current
liabilities, respectively. The effect of these adjustments has not been
reflected in the consolidated financial statements.



ZHONGLIANG HOLDINGS GROUP COMPANY LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022

ARAKEE LA R 8 ABRR
BE S HE HFIRNTEYBFER
AT HREANEE AW #W L
SRt AN A BE BRI E i AT 8l &
BRI FE N EEM - WMEMESE
AREEE RFEKLEEERERT

£ ABBRABRRERNKHIELER -

RAHEBE - ARQREH 6 EHEI
BEEEEREAFTRNONTSERE TIX
o BBAHEBHN ARG A A2023F
2H17THE RS o A BG4 E IR EVE 1R
TR ERDESHE RBETH
BAREBE  BRELTHRNKEES K
EIEH (FBENFEST1E) EXIVAZIE T
NEEBEKRX(EER EMHRA) ZEMHE

N\ A
[=ANN=

ERZESHTRRERNES

ARRAERZECEERBENITHRE
RUAREREEBREARITIERBERANILS
(TEEEMMS]) RAKEE EHRT
BRBARROER EX LRFEE - K
NRABEGZZEERAEEENLIS - It
S RRARIBEZZEEFLEERERN
—UMBTEERTELLERBEIER
EROTHAEE  UERBAFEL
EREEMB - ARBERZBESNER
KEEHEDFEF AT A R T A R E A B AR
o ARBEE RS ERRANER - LD
Z R K FHED =R AT Y IR i NOE AR R
EEBREERRNEZER -

BRELIRS
Corporate Governance Report

The Company will implement the measures and plans as set out
above in order to resolving its liquidity problem. It endeavours to
resolve the disclaimer of opinion issue in the next financial year.
However, as mentioned above, there are still uncertainties as to
whether the Group will be able to implement the plans and measures
successfully. If any of the plans or measures fail to implement, the
going concern issue will subsist and the timing of removing the
disclaimer of opinion may be delayed.

As at the date of this report, the Company has formulated preliminary
key tentative terms under the preliminary holistic solution of offshore
debts, details of which are set out in the Company’s announcement
dated 17 February 2023. The Company will continue to take
proactive measures so to resolve its liquidity issue and will publish an
appropriate announcement if there is any material development in
accordance with the Listing Rules and the Inside Information
Provisions (as defined in the Listing Rules) under Part XIVA of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong).

Audit Committee’s View on the Disclaimer of Opinion

The audit committee of the Company had critically reviewed the
disclaimer of opinion, the management’s position concerning the
disclaimer of opinion (the “Management’s Position”) and measures
taken by the Group for addressing the disclaimer of opinion. The
audit committee of the Company agreed with the Management’s
Position based on the reasons above. Moreover, the audit committee
of the Company requested the management to take all necessary
actions to address the uncertainties regarding going concern
underlying the disclaimer of opinion with a view to resolving the going
concern issue as soon as practicable. The audit committee of the
Company had also discussed with Ernst and Young regarding the
financial position of the Group, measures taken and to be taken by
the Group, and considered the Emst and Young’s rationale and
understood its consideration in arriving its opinion.
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Independent non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors play a significant role in the
Board by virtue of their independent judgment and their views carry
significant weight in the Board’s decision. The functions of
independent non-executive Directors include bringing an impartial
view and judgement on issues of the Company’s strategies,
performance and control; and scrutinising the Company’s
performance and monitoring performance reporting.

All independent non-executive Directors possess extensive academic,
professional and industry expertise and management experience and
have made positive contributions to the development of the Company
through providing their professional advice to the Board.

All independent non-executive Directors are appointed for a term of
three years.

Confirmation of independence

The independence of the independent non-executive Directors has
been assessed in accordance with the applicable Listing Rules and
each of the independent non-executive Directors has made an annual
written confirmation of independence to the Company pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all
independent non-executive Directors meet the guidelines for
assessing independence set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and
are independent.

Independence mechanisms

The Company has in place mechanisms to ensure independent views
and input are available to the Board. The Board shall at all times
comprise at least three independent non-executive Directors that
represent at least one-third of the Board, such that there is always a
strong element of independence on the Board which can effectively
exercise independent judgement. Each independent non-executive
Director is required to provide an annual confirmation of his/her
independence to the Company and the nomination committee of the
Company is responsible to assess the independence and time
commitment of each independent non-executive Director at least
annually.
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All the Directors, including the independent non-executive Directors,
are given equal opportunity and channels to communicate and
express their views to the Board and have separate and independent
access to the management of the Group in order to make informed
decisions. To facilitate proper discharge of their duties, all the
Directors are entitled to seek advice from the company secretary of
the Company or, upon reasonable request, seek independent
professional advice at the Company’s expense. The chairman of the
Board will hold meetings with the independent non-executive
Directors without the involvement of other Directors at least annually
to discuss any issues and concerns.

Any Director or his/her associate who has a conflict of interest in a
matter to be considered by the Board will be dealt with by a physical
Board meeting rather than by written resolutions. Such Director will
be required to declare his/her interests before the meeting and
abstain from voting and not counted towards the quorum on the
relevant resolutions. Independent non-executive Directors who, and
whose associates, have no interest in the matter should attend the
Board meeting.

The Board has reviewed and considered that the mechanisms are
effective in ensuring that independent views and input are provided to
the Board during the year ended 31 December 2022.

Board diversity policy

To enhance the effectiveness of the Board and to maintain the high
standard of corporate governance, the Company has adopted the
board diversity policy on 19 June 2019, which sets out the objective
and approach to achieve and maintain diversity of the Board.
Pursuant to the board diversity policy, the Company seeks to achieve
board diversity by taking into consideration of various factors,
including but not limited to professional experience, skills, knowledge,
gender, age, cultural and education background, ethnicity and length
of service with the Group. The Company places high emphasis on
ensuring a balanced composition of skills and experience at the
Board level in order to provide a range of perspectives, insights and
challenge that enable the Board to discharge its duties and
responsibilities effectively, support good decision making in view of
the core businesses and strategy of the Group, and support
succession planning and development of the Board.

The nomination committee is responsible for ensuring the diversity of
the Board members and compliance with relevant codes governing
board diversity under the Listing Rules. The nomination committee
and the Board will review the board diversity policy, its implementation
and its diversity profile annually to ensure its continued effectiveness.
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The Directors have a balanced mix of knowledge, skills and
experience, including the areas of real estate, accounting, financial
management, education and manufacturing industries. They obtained
professional qualifications and academic degrees in various majors,
including economics/finance, business studies, human resources
management, science and management science and engineering.
The Company has three independent non-executive Directors with
different industry backgrounds, representing more than one-third of
the members of the Board.

Gender diversity

The Company has also taken steps to promote gender diversity at all
levels of the Company, including but not limited to the Board and the
management levels. In order to ensure gender diversity at the Board
level, the Company has been looking for suitable female candidates
who have necessary skills and experience to join the Board since the
Listing, and was aiming to appoint at least one female director.
However, the company had difficulty finding a suitable candidate due
to various factors, including the impact brought in by COVID-19 and
the overall downturn in real estate industry in the PRC. As at the date
of this report, the nomination committee of the Company is still in the
process of identifying at suitable female candidates to join the Board.
The Board will use its best endeavor and aim to have at least one
female board representation as soon as practicable, and not later
than 31 December 2024. The Board will continue to seek
opportunities to increase the proportion of female members over time
as and when suitable candidates are identified. The Company will
also make its best endeavour to ensure that there is gender diversity
when recruiting staff at mid to senior level of the Group.

As disclosed in this annual report, senior management of the Group
comprises the Directors, all being male members. Gender ratio in the
workforce is set out in the ESG report of the Company to be
published at the same time as this annual report is published on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company respectively.

The Group make its best endeavour to encourage gender diversity
since recruitment and selection process and across its workplace.
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Appointment, re-election and removal of Directors

Each of the executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors has entered into a service contract or a letter of
appointment with the Company for a specific term. Such term is
subject to his retirement by rotation and re-election at an annual
general meeting of the Company in accordance with the Articles.
Pursuant to Article 112 of the Articles, the Board shall have power
from time to time and at any time to appoint any person as a Director
either to fill a casual vacancy or as an additional Director, provided
that the number of Directors so appointed shall not exceed the
maximum number determined from time to time by the Shareholders
in general meeting. Any Director appointed by the Board to fill a
casual vacancy or as an addition to the existing Board is subject to
retirement and shall then be eligible for re-election in accordance with
the Articles.

Pursuant to Article 108(a) of the Articles, at each annual general
meeting of the Company, one-third of the Directors for the time
being, shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director
(including those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election. The members of the
Company may, at any general meetings convened and held in
accordance with the Articles, remove a Director by ordinary resolution
at any time before the expiration of his period of office
notwithstanding anything contrary in the Articles or in any agreement
between the Company and such Director and may by ordinary
resolution elect another person in his stead.

Directors’ training and professional development

As part of continuous professional development of the Directors, the
Company provides in-house training and engages professional firms
to provide training to Directors to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills and continuously update Directors on the latest
developments regarding the Group’s business, the Listing Rules and
other applicable legal and regulatory requirements to ensure
compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate
governance practices.

For the newly appointed Director, the Company would arrange a
comprehensive, formal and tailored induction session on his/her
appointment to ensure he/she would have a proper understanding of
the Company’s businesses and operations as well as his/her
responsibilities under relevant statues, laws, rules and regulations as
a director of a listed company.
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During the year ended 31 December 2022, each of the Directors
attended training relating to the Group’s businesses, Listing Rules,
legal and regulatory requirements and corporate governance
practices, and read relevant materials to keep themselves abreast of
regulatory developments and changes.

Board meetings

The Board meets regularly to discuss and formulate the overall
strategy as well as the operation and financial performance of the
Group. Directors may participate either in person or through
electronic means of communications. The Board holds at least four
meetings a year at approximately quarterly intervals. Additional
meetings would be arranged, if and when required. The date of each
meeting is decided in advance to enable the Directors to attend the
meeting in person.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Directors have made
active contribution to the affairs of the Group and 8 board meetings
were held to consider, among other things, the business
development, various transactions contemplated by the Group, and
to review and approve the interim results and annual results of the
Group. According to Article 107(d) of the Articles, a Director shall not
vote (nor be counted in the quorum) on any resolution of the Board
approving any contract or arrangement or any other proposal in
which he or any of his close associates is materially interested.
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EENWHERZ Attendance record of Directors

& £2022F 12 A 31 E! Jt E E - EE2H The attendance record of Directors at the meetings of the Board, the
FEe FEZEeREMEITTEE  Board committees and the Shareholders held during the year ended
M ECeEE s a0 - 31 December 2022 is set out below:

BZE2022F12A31BLFESMER ETEBENHE
Number of meetings attended/Number of meetings held for
the year ended 31 December 2022

R -
HtER

BE= EEZg EREEE VHEESE REZEEE ERZEESE REKE

Audit Remuneration Nomination ESG  General
Directors Board committee committee committee committee meetings
HITES
Executive Directors
5 R E (£ E) 8/8 i@ A 2/2 1/1 TiE A 1/1
Mr. Yang Jian (Chairman) N/A N/A
BRAL 5o 55 4 (B /= 48 &) 8/8 A5 A I3 A A3 A 11 1/1
Mr. Chen Hongliang (Co-President) N/A N/A N/A
a] 8 4 A (B 4B ) 8/8 A T3 A T3 A 11 1/1
Mr. He Jian (Co-President) N/A N/A N/A
MBERE 8/8 i A 38 A I~ 38 A 11 1/1
Mr. Yau Sze Ka (Albert) N/A N/A N/A
BYFBITES
Independent non-executive

Directors

FHE LA 8/8 2/2 3 H 1/1 3 F 1/1
Mr. Wang Kaiguo N/A N/A
R K& 8/8 2/2 2/2 1/1 i A 1/1
Mr. Wu Xiaobo N/A
B E e S 8/8 2/2 2/2 38 A 1/1 1/1
Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung N/A
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its code of conduct
for the Directors’ dealings in the securities of the Company. Upon
specific enquiries of all the Directors, each of them has confirmed
that he had complied with all applicable code provisions under the
Model Code for the year ended 31 December 2022.

As required by the Company, relevant officers and employees of the
Company are also bound by the Model Code, which prohibits them
to deal in securities of the Company at any time when he/she
possesses inside information in relation to those securities. No
incident of non-compliance of the Model Code by the relevant officers
and employees was noted by the Company.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy, pursuant to which the
Company may declare and distribute dividends to the Shareholders,
provided that the Group records a profit after tax and that the
declaration and distribution of dividends does not affect the normal
operations of the Group. In deciding whether to propose a dividend
and in determining the dividend amount, the Board would take into
account the Group’s earnings, cash flow, financial condition, capital
requirements, statutory fund reserve requirements and any other
conditions that the Board may consider relevant. Whilst the Board will
review from time to time for determination on proposed dividend with
the above factors taken into account, there can be no assurance that
dividends will be declared or paid in any particular amount for any
given period.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties including:

— to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

— to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

— to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

— to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

— 1o review the Company’s compliance with Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules (Corporate Governance Code).

The Board had performed the above duties during the year ended 31
December 2022.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the positions of the
chairman and the chief executive officer were held separately. The
role of chairman was held by Mr. Yang Jian, and the role of chief
executive officer were held by Mr. Chen Hongliang and Mr. He Jian,
the co-president of the Group during the year ended 31 December
2022. The segregation of duties of the chairman and the chief
executive officer ensures a clear distinction in the Chairman’s
responsibility to manage and provide leadership for the Board and
the chief executives responsibility to manage the Company’s
business.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four committees with specific written
terms of reference to oversee particular aspects of the Group’s
affairs. All the Board committees are empowered by the Board under
their own terms of reference which have been posted on Stock
Exchange’s website and/or the Company’s website.

Audit committee

The Company has established an audit committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with Rules 3.21 of the Listing Rules and
the Corporate Governance Code. The primary duties of the
Company’s audit committee include, among others, (a) making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment
and removal of the external auditor and approving the remuneration
and terms of engagement of the external auditor; (b) reviewing the
Group’s financial statements, annual report and accounts and half-
year report and significant financial reporting judgments contained
therein; and (c) reviewing the Group’s financial controls, internal
control and risk management systems.

The audit committee consists of three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung (being the chairman of the
audit committee), Mr. Wang Kaiguo and Mr. Wu Xiaobo. In
compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules, Mr. Au Yeung Po
Fung possesses the appropriate professional and accounting
qualifications.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the audit committee held
two meetings with the senior management and independent auditor
of the Company to consider the independence and audit scope of
independent auditor, and to review and discuss the risk management
and internal control systems, the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal audit and risk control function, consolidated interim and
annual financial statements of the Group and the opinion and report
of independent auditor before reporting and submitting to the Board
for their approval.
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Remuneration committee

The Company has established a remuneration committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.25 and Corporate
Governance Code. The remuneration committee reviews and
recommends to the Board the remuneration and other benefits paid
by the Group to its Directors and senior management. The
remuneration of all of the Directors and senior management is subject
to regular monitoring by the remuneration committee to ensure that
levels of their remuneration and compensation are appropriate.

The remuneration committee consists of three members, two of
whom are independent non-executive Directors. The three members
are Mr. Wu Xiaobo (being the chairman of the remuneration
committee), Mr. Yang and Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the remuneration
committee held two meetings to review the remuneration structure of
the Directors and senior management and made recommendation to
the Board for approval.

The remuneration of Directors and senior management is reviewed at
least annually and determined with reference to the skills and
knowledge of the Directors and senior management, their job
responsibilities and level of involvement in the Group’s affairs, the
performance and profitability as well as remuneration benchmark in
the industry and the prevailing market conditions. Remuneration
comprise basic salaries and allowances, bonus, equity-settled share
based payments and retirement benefit contributions.

Details of the remuneration payable to members of senior
management, all being Directors of the Company, by band, are set
out in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

Nomination Committee

The Company has established a nomination committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.27A and Corporate
Governance Code. The primary responsibilities of the nomination
committee are to consider and recommend to the Board suitable and
qualified candidates of Directors and to review the structure, size and
composition of the Board and the board diversity policy adopted by
the Company on a regular basis.

The nomination committee consists of three members, two of whom
are independent non-executive Directors. The three members are Mr.
Yang (being the chairman of the nomination committee), Mr. Wang
Kaiguo and Mr. Wu Xiaobo.
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During the year ended 31 December 2022, the nomination committee
held one meeting to review the structure and composition of the
Board and its committees, made recommendation to the Board on
the appointment and re-election of Directors having considered the
existing composition and size of the Board, the diversity of the Board
members in terms of gender, age, culture and accomplishment,
experience and reputation in relation to the business of the Company
and other related industries and assessed the independence of
independent non-executive Directors.

Nomination policy

The primary responsibilities of the nomination committee are to
consider and recommend to the Board suitable and qualified
candidates of Directors and to review the structure, size and
composition of the Board and the board diversity policy adopted by
the Company on a regular basis.

The nomination committee utilises various methods for identifying
candidates for directorship, including recommendations from Board
members, management, and professional search firms. In addition,
the nomination committee will consider candidates for directorship
properly submitted by the Shareholders. The evaluation of candidates
for directorship by the nomination committee may include, without
limitation, review of resume and job history, personal interviews,
verification of professional and personal references and performance
of background checks. The Board will consider the recommmendations
of the nomination committee and is responsible for designating the
candidates for directorship to be considered by the Shareholders for
their election at the general meeting of the Company, or appointing
the suitable candidate to act as Director to fill the Board vacancies or
as an additional to the Board members, subject to compliance of the
constitutional documents of the Company. All appointments of
Director should be confirmed by letter of appointment and/or service
contract setting out the key terms and conditions of the appointment
of Directors.
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The nomination committee should consider the following qualifications
as a minimum to be required for a candidate in recommending to the
Board to be a potential new Director, or the continued service of
existing Director:

— the highest personal and professional ethics and integrity;

—  proven achievement and competence in the nominee’s field and
the ability to exercise sound business judgment;

—  skills that are complementary to those of the existing Board;

— the ability to assist and support management and make
significant contributions to the Company’s success;

— diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, experience
and length of service;

— an understanding of the fiduciary responsibilities that is required
for a member of the Board and the commitment of time and
energy necessary to diligently carry out those responsibilities;

— independence: the candidates for independent non-executive
directorship should meet the “independence” criteria as
required under the Listing Rules and the composition of the
Board is in conformity with the provisions of the Listing Rules.

The nomination committee may also consider such other factors as it
may deem are in the best interests of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole.

ESG COMMITTEE

The Company has established an ESG committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with the Listing Rules. The primary
responsibilities of the ESG committee are to assist the Board to
review and monitor the ESG policies and practices of the Group to
ensure compliance with the relevant legal and regulatory
requirements, monitor and respond to emerging ESG issues and
make recommendations to the Board where appropriate to improve
the Group’s ESG performance.
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The ESG committee consists of four members. The four members
are Mr. Chen Hongliang (being the chairman of the ESG committee),
Mr. He Jian, Mr. Yau Sze Ka (Albert) and Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the ESG committee held
one meeting to formulate the Company’s ESG strategies and
directions, review the ESG report and made recommendation for the
Group’s ESG matters.

FINANCIAL REPORTING SYSTEM, RISK
MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM

Financial reporting system

The Board, supported by the finance department, is responsible for
the preparation of the financial statements of the Company and the
Group. In preparation of the financial statements, International
Financial Reporting Standards have been adopted and the
appropriate accounting policies have been consistently used and
applied. The Board aims to present a clear and balanced assessment
of the Group’s performance in the annual and interim reports to the
Shareholders, and make appropriate disclosure and announcements
in a timely manner. Pursuant to code provision D.1.1 of the Corporate
Governance Code, management would provide such explanation and
information to the Board as will enable the Board to make an
informed assessment of the financial and other information put before
the Board for approval.

The work scope and reporting responsibilities of Ernst & Young, the
Company’s external auditor, are set out in the “Independent Auditor’s
Report” on pages 96 to 99 of this report.
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Risk management and internal control system

The Board and senior management is responsible for establishment,
review and implementation of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group. The risk management and internal
control system is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of
failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement
or loss. The internal control system covers all major aspects of the
Group’s operations, including, among others, property development,
property sales, investment property management, procurement,
financial reporting, asset management, budgeting and accounting
processes. The Group also has an internal audit and risk control
function which primarily carries out analysis and independent
appraisal of the adequacy and effectiveness of its risk management
and internal control systems, and reports their findings to the Board
on, at least, an annual basis. The Board conducted reviews and
discussed with the management on the effectiveness of the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems as required by
principle D.2 of the Corporate Governance Code, covering adequacy
of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes
for the staff and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and
financial reporting functions and any resolutions for material internal
control defects.

With respect to the Group’s risk management and internal control
measures, the Group has a set of comprehensive policies and
guidelines which set out details regarding the internal control
standards, segregation of responsibilities, approval procedures and
personnel accountability in each aspect. The Group also carries out
regular internal assessments and training to ensure its employees are
equipped with sufficient knowledge on such policies and guidelines.
In addition, the Group also implemented risk management policies
against corruption and fraudulent activities. The Group’s major anti-
corruption and anti-fraud measures and procedures include:

— the internal audit and risk control function shall be primarily
responsible for establishing, reviewing and evaluating the
Group’s anti-corruption and anti-fraud policies and monitoring
their implementation;
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— as specified in the Group’s staff handbooks, employees are
explicitly prohibited from taking/offering bribes or kickbacks
from/to suppliers or other third parties, manipulating bidding
procedures, misusing the Group’s assets, or providing improper
hospitality and entertainment to suppliers or other third parties;

— all of the Directors and senior management are requested to
identify and make periodical reports to the headquarters about
conflicts of interest, including potential related party
transactions, the engagement of competing businesses, or the
receipt of unjust benefits or enrichment by using the Group’s
assets or resources or taking advantage of his or her position;

— the Group provides anti-corruption and anti-fraud compliance
trainings periodically to the Directors, senior management and
employees to enhance their knowledge and awareness of the
relevant laws and regulations; and

— the Group undertakes rectification measures with respect to
any identified corruption or fraudulent activities, evaluating such
activities and proposing and establishing preventative measures
to avoid future non-compliances.

The Group also engaged an external consultant specialising in
identifying and evaluation of significant risks of its business and
operation, including ESG-related risks. The external consultant does
not have any connection with the Group and the Board believes that
their involvement could enhance the objectivity and transparency of
evaluation process. In conjunction with the Group’s internal audit and
risk control function and senior management, the external consultant
conducts an annual assessment on risk management and internal
control systems of the Group together with suggestion and solutions
and submit to the Board for their consideration.
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During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group has
implemented procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information. In particular, the Group:

— has conducted its affairs with close regard to the disclosure
requirement under the Listing Rules as well as the “Guidelines
on Disclosure of Inside Information” published by the Securities
and Futures Commission in June 2012;

— has established its own disclosure obligation procedures, which
set out the procedures and controls for the assessment of
potential inside information and the handling and dissemination
of inside information. The procedures have been communicated
to the senior management and staff of the Company, and their
implementation was monitored by the Company; and

— has made broad, non-exclusive disclosure of information to the
public through channels such as financial reports, public
announcements and its website.

The risk management and internal control systems are reviewed and
assessed on an on-going basis by the audit committee and the
executive Directors, and will be further reviewed and assessed at
least once each year by the Board. During the year ended 31
December 2022, these systems covering all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls, were
reviewed and considered effective and adequate.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the remunerations paid
or payable to Ernst & Young in respect of its audit services
and non-audit services are approximately RMB13,000,000 and
RMB446,000, respectively. The amount for 2022 non-audit services
consisted mainly of consulting service and taxation services. The
audit committee was satisfied that the non-audit services in 2022 did
not affect the independence of the auditor.

COMPANY SECRETARY

In compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Mr. Yeung Tak Yip
confirmed that for the year ended 31 December 2022, he has taken
not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training. The biography
of Mr. Yeung is set out in the “Biographies of Directors, senior
management and Company Secretary” section on page 43 of this
report.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening an extraordinary general meeting

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles, one or more Shareholders
holding not less than one tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings shall have the right, by
written requisition to the Board or the company secretary, to require
an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition. Such
meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of
the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Putting forward proposals at Shareholders’ meetings

There are no provisions in the Articles or the Companies Law of the
Cayman lIslands for Shareholders to put forward new resolutions at
general meetings. Shareholders who wish to put forward a new
resolution may request the Company to convene a general meeting in
accordance with the procedures set out in the above paragraph
heading “Convening an extraordinary general meeting”.

Shareholders communication policy

The Company ensures prompt dissemination of corporate
communications to enable Shareholders and other stakeholders to
keep abreast of the Group’s business and developments so that they
can make informed decisions. It publishes regulatory announcements
and other corporate communications on its website.

The Company maintains balanced, clear and transparent
communications with Shareholders to facilitate their understanding of
the Group’s performance and business operations, the Company has
ongoing dialogue with the Shareholders and other investors through
various communication channels and takes any areas of concern into
consideration in formulating its business strategies.

Shareholders may at any time make enquiries to the Board in writing
or by call to the Corporate Finance and Investor Relations Department
or directly by raising questions at general meetings. Please refer to
the sections headed “Other Information” and “Investor Relations” in
the Investor Relations Report for contact details of the Company.
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Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general meetings of
the Company. Sufficient notice of general meetings will be given to
the Shareholders in accordance with the Articles and applicable rules
and regulations. The chairman of the Board, chairman of each Board
committee, management of the Company and, if appropriate, the
external auditors, will attend the general meetings and answer
questions raised by Shareholders.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, an annual general
meeting of the Company was held on 2 June 2022 at which all the
Directors attended either by person or by means of electronic facilities
to communicate with the Shareholders. All corporate communications
and regulatory announcements were published by the Company on
its website and the website of the Stock Exchange in a timely
manner. The Board considers that the shareholders communication
policy was effective during the year ended 31 December 2022.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change to the Company’s constitutional documents
during the year. The Company’s Memorandum and Articles of
Association is available on the Company’s website and the Stock
Exchange’s website.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS, COMMUNICATIONS
WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Investor Relations Department acts as a credible external
ambassador to disseminate the Group’s strategies and key
messages to the investment community. The management of the
Company believes that effective and proper investor relations play a
vital role in creating shareholders’ value, enhancing corporate
transparency as well as establishing market confidence. Effective
investor relations can contribute towards lower cost of capital, higher
market liquidity for the Company’s stocks and bonds as well as a
more stable investor base.

OPEN, FAIR, TRANSPARENT AND ACCURATE
INFORMATION DISCLOSURE

The Company’s investor relations team is committed to maintaining a
high level of corporate transparency and following a policy of
disclosing relevant information to shareholders, investors, analysts
and bankers in a timely manner to keep them aware of the Group’s
corporate strategies and business operations. The Company has
adopted a stringent internal control system to ensure accurate,
complete and timely disclosure of relevant information pursuant to
requirements of relevant laws and regulations to ensure all
shareholders and investors equal access to information.

The Group updates its investor relations website (http://ir.zldcgroup.com)
in an active and timely manner as so to keep investors informed of
the Group’s latest development. Meanwhile, the Group uses its
WeChat official account as an efficient channel to maintain investor
relations and information disclosure. In addition, the Group maintains
frequent contacts with shareholders and investors through various
channels.
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Investor Relations Department is dedicated to participating in investor
conferences and organising numerous roadshows, on-site visits and
senior management meetings for analysts and investors to introduce
the Group’s development strategies, key messages and recent
business developments.

Through the above measures, the Company endeavours to
communicate with the investment community and provide them with
the latest development of the Group and the real estate industry in
China.

OTHER INFORMATION

Shareholder Service

Shareholders may notify the registrar in writing on matters relating to
your shareholding, such as share transfer, change of name or
address and loss of share certificate.

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,

183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong
Telephone: (852) 2862 8628

Facsimile: (852) 2529 6087

Shareholder Enquiries

Enquiry hotline during normal office hours:
Telephone: (852) 3793 3135

INVESTOR RELATIONS

For enquiries from investors and securities analysts, please contact:

Corporate Finance and Investor Relations Department,
27/F, Queen’s Road Centre, 152 Queen’s Road Central, Central,
Hong Kong

Telephone: (852) 3793 3139

Facsimile: (852) 3793 3134
Email: ir@zldcgroup.com
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The Board is pleased to present the annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in property development, property leasing
and management consulting services. An analysis of the Group’s
revenue and operating results for the year ended 31 December 2022
by its principal activities is set out in note 1 to the consolidated
financial statements of the Group on page 109 in this report.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 are
set out in the “Chairman’s Statement” section of this report and the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income of the Group on
page 101 of this report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

General

A review of the business of the Group and a discussion on the
Group’s future business development during the year are set out in
the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 8 to 13 and pages 14 to 34,
respectively, of this report. An analysis of the Group’s performance
during the year using financial key performance indicators is set out in
the “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 14 to 34 of this
report.
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Principal risks and uncertainties

Principal risks and uncertainties the Group faces include (i) uncertainty
as to the acquiring of land reserves for development in desirable
locations at commercially acceptable prices; (i) uncertainty as to
business expansion into new geographic locations; (i) uncertainty as
to obtaining sufficient funding for land acquisitions, future
developments and refinancing; (iv) risks related to the fluctuation of
profitability of property projects; (v) risks related to obtaining
administrative certificates; (vi) risks related to the performance of the
PRC property markets; (vii) risks related to the government policies
and regulations regarding the PRC property industry; and (viii) risks
related to the increasing raw materials price and labor costs.

The Group’s financial risk management objectives and policies of the
Group are set out in note 42 to the consolidated financial statements.

Environmental policies and performance

It is the Group’s corporate and social responsibility in promoting a
sustainable and environmental friendly environment, and the Group
strives to minimise its environmental impact and comply with the
applicable environmental laws and regulations. The measures it takes
to ensure its compliance with the applicable environmental laws and
regulations include: (i) strictly selecting construction contractors and
supervising the process of construction; (i) applying for review by the
relevant government authorities in a timely manner after the project is
completed; and (i) actively adopting environmentally friendly
equipment and designs. The Group also takes voluntary actions with
respect to environmental protection and make energy conservation
and emission reduction as primary considerations when designing its
property projects.

None of the Group’s properties had received any material fines or
penalties associated with the breach of any environmental laws or
regulations during the year ended 31 December 2022.

The 2022 Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the Group

will be published separately on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.
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Relationship with Employees

The Group believes high-quality employees who value its corporate
culture are essential elements to promote its sustainable growth. The
Group intends to attract and retain skilled and talented employees
from reputable universities of PRC through various initiatives,
including creative trainee programs, competitive compensation
packages and effective incentive system. For details regarding
employees and staff costs and the emolument policy of the Group,
please refer to the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis — Employee and Remuneration Policy”.

Relationship with Suppliers

The Group is dedicated to develop good relationship with suppliers
as long-term business partners to ensure stability of the Group’s
businesses. It reinforces business partnerships with suppliers by ongoing
communication in a proactive and effective manner. For further details
regarding the Group’s major suppliers, please refer to the section
headed “Directors’ Report — Major Customers and Suppliers”.

Relationship with Customers

Customers satisfaction with services and products has a profound
effect on the profitability. The Group’s dedicated sales team is in
constant communication with its customers and potential customers
to uncover and create customer needs and help customers make
informed decisions. Identification of customers’ pain points alongside
grasping the market trend are critical for the Group to timely adjust
our operating strategies to fit the market requirement. For details
regarding the Group’s major customers, please refer to the sections
headed “Directors’ Report — Major Customers and Suppliers”.

Compliance with laws and regulations

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands with the Shares
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. The Group’s
subsidiaries are incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, Hong Kong
and the PRC. The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the
Group’s subsidiaries in China while the Group also has a corporate
and administrative office in Hong Kong.

Its establishments and operations accordingly shall comply with
relevant laws and regulations in the Cayman Islands, the British Virgin
Islands, the PRC and Hong Kong. During the year ended 31
December 2022 and up to the date of this report, the Group has
complied with all the relevant laws and regulations in the Cayman
Islands, the British Virgin Islands, the PRC and Hong Kong that have
a significant impact on the Group.



ZHONGLIANG HOLDINGS GROUP COMPANY LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022

RERE

EEeTEZKMNEE2022F12A31H
HFEZREARE -

MK BERKE

NEE RARRQFEZE2022F12 A318 1k
FENYDE BEAIREEHHREE
BF SRR I 5E13 ©

BEREBEARE

RNEBEBHE2022F12A431 B IEEEHE
HEBLEEBEFBDNERGE VB R
*<MIET29 K31 ©

RN

KABEE202F12A31 B IEFEE R IR
AEFBFBHNGEE T ERERMEI2 -

it

AEBRARQAEZ2022F12 A318 1
FENREEBEZHFBEIARNARE F104
B F105HKF258H - SARAME
R2022F12 A31H WEHE QA RARE
TZa s RGEARRM) FELE
BARKE2861.8EE T °

EFERE

Directors’ Report

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2022.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Changes to the property, plant and equipment of the Group and the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in
note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

BORROWINGS AND SENIOR NOTES

Details of the Group’s borrowings and senior notes during the year
ended 31 December 2022 are set out in note 29 and 31 respectively
to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during
the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movement in the reserves of the Group and of the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out on
pages 104, 105 and 258 of this report. In respect of Company, the
amount of reserves available for distribution (subject to article of the
Company) under the Companies Laws of the Cayman Islands as at
31 December 2022 was RMB2,861.8 million.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

January 2022 Notes

As at 31 December 2021, an aggregate principal amount of
US$181,190,000 of the 7.5% senior notes due January 2022 (the
“January 2022 Notes”) (Stock code: 40567) remained outstanding.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group repurchased
the January 2022 Notes with an aggregate principal amount of
US$61,496,000. An aggregate principal amount of US$65,396,000
of the January 2022 Notes were cancelled and US$115,794,000
remained outstanding after the cancellation. On 31 January 2022, the
Company fully redeemed the outstanding January 2022 Notes at the
redemption amount of US$115,794,000 plus accrued and unpaid
interest.

May 2022 Notes, July 2022 Notes, April 2023 Notes and
December 2023 Notes

As at 31 December 2021, an aggregate principal amount of
US$300,000,000 and US$450,000,000 of the 8.5% green senior
notes due May 2022 (the “May 2022 Notes”) (Stock code: 40680)
and of the 9.5% senior notes due July 2022 (the “July 2022 Notes”)
(stock code: 40439) remained outstanding respectively.

On 17 May 2022, an aggregate principal amount of US$10,200,000
and US$10,500,000 of the repurchased May 2022 Notes and the
July 2022 Notes were cancelled respectively.

On 18 May 2022 and 16 June 2022, the Company completed the
offer to exchange (“Exchange Offers”) relating to the May 2022 Notes
and the July 2022 Notes. Upon completion of the Exchange Offers, a
total of US$271,147,000 May 2022 Notes and US$426,926,000 July
2022 Notes were validly tendered for exchange and accepted by the
Company. The aforesaid May 2022 Notes and July 2022 Notes were
cancelled. In exchange of the validly tendered and accepted May
2022 Notes and July 2022 Notes, the Company issued
US$224,224,517 in aggregate principal amount of the 8.75% senior
notes due April 2023 and US$473,848,483 in aggregate principal
amount of the 9.75% senior notes due December 2023 pursuant to
the Exchange Offers.
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As at 31 December 2022, the outstanding aggregate principal
amount of the May 2022 Notes and the July 2022 Notes were
US$18,653,000 and US$12,574,000 respectively. Pursuant to the
terms of the May 2022 Notes and the July 2022 Notes, all
outstanding principal amount of the May 2022 Notes and the July
2022 Notes together with the accrued and unpaid interest thereon
were due and payable on the maturity date of 19 May 2022 and 29
July 2022 respectively. Failure to pay such principal after maturity has
constituted an event of default under the May 2022 Notes and the
July 2022 Notes.

For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated
18 May 2022, 16 June 2022 and 29 July 2022.

August 2022 Notes

On 6 August 2021, the Company issued the 11.0% senior notes due
August 2022 in an aggregate principal amount of US$150 million (the
“August 2022 Notes”), which were listed on Singapore Stock
Exchange Limited (“SGX-ST”). On 26 April 2022, the Company
entered into agreements with the holders of the August 2022 Notes,
pursuant to which the August 2022 Notes was fully refinanced by the
Company by applying a new refinancing loan facility which was
provided to the Company by the holders of the August 2022 Notes in
accordance with the terms and conditions contained therein. On 20
May 2022, all outstanding principal amount of the August 2022
Notes, amounting US$150 million, had been effectively cancelled and
exchanged into the aforesaid new refinancing loan facility provided by
the holders of the August 2022 Notes. No cash settlement was
involved for such cancellation of the August 2022 Notes. The August
2022 Notes had been fully cancelled and delisted from the SGX-ST.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its

subsidiaries purchased, sold, or redeemed any of the Company’s
listed securities during the year ended 31 December 2022.

DONATIONS

Donations made by the Group during the year ended 31 December
2022 amounted to RMB18.6 million.
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LITIGATION

On 21 November 2022, a winding-up petition (the “Petition”) was filed
by China Construction Bank (Asia) Corporation Limited as trustee of
the May 2022 Notes (defined as below) against the Company at the
High Court of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (the “High
Court”) in relation to the outstanding 8.5% senior notes due May
2022 (“May 2022 Notes”, ISIN: XS2341214059; Common Code:
234121405) in the principal amount of approximately US$18.65
million (plus accrued and unpaid interest), in which the Company was
the issuer. The Petition was served on the Company on 22 November
2022. The Company had applied for validation order (the “Validation
Order”) for transfer of the issued shares of the Company under the
Petition and the Validation Order was granted by the High Court on
23 February 2023 that, inter alia, all transfers of the issued shares of
the Company, insofar as they have been paid up or credited as fully
paid up, from the date of the presentation of the Petition, shall not be
void by virtue of section 182 of the Companies (Winding Up and
Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance notwithstanding the presentation
of the Petition. For details, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 22 November 2022 and 8 March 2023. The
Company has engaged legal counsel to act for this matter. The
Company is currently working out a solution to resolve its liquidity
issue. Despite the Petition, there is no material impact on its
operation.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Group had no significant events occurred which have material
impact on the performance of the Group after the year ended 31
December 2022 and up to the date of this annual report.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 and
the state of the Group’s financial position as at that date are set out
in the consolidated financial statements on pages 100 to 103 in this
report.
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Directors’ Report

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2022 and as at
the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Yang Jian (Chairman)

Mr. Chen Hongliang (Co-President)
Mr. He Jian (Co-President)

Mr. Yau Sze Ka (Albert)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Wang Kaiguo
Mr. Wu Xiaobo
Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung

In accordance with the Articles, at each annual general meeting one-
third of the Directors for the time being, or, if their number is not three
or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less than
one-third, shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. A
retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election. The Company at the
general meeting at which a Director retires may fill the vacated office.
Accordingly, Mr. Wang Kaiguo, Mr. Wu Xiaobo and Mr. Au Yeung Po
Fung shall retire from office by rotation at the 2023 AGM and, being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election. The Company has
received, from each of the independent non-executive Directors, an
annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the independent non-
executive Directors are independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement
with the Company and each of the non-executive Directors (including
independent non-executive Directors) has signed an appointment
letter with the Company. The appointment of all the Directors is for a
period of three years and shall continue thereafter until being
terminated by either party giving not less than 2 months’ prior written
notice.

None of the Directors who are proposed for election or re-election at
the 2023 AGM has a service contract with the Company which is not
determinable within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, none of the Directors nor
their respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had any
interest in a business that competed or might compete with the
business of the Group.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

Each of Mr. Yang Jian, being the executive Director and the
controlling shareholder of the Company, Ms. Xu , Liangzhong and
Liangtai, all being the controlling shareholders of the Company, has
confirmed to the Company that, during the year ended 31 December
2022, he/she/it has complied with the deed of non-competition dated
24 June 2019 (the “Undertakings”) as disclosed in the Prospectus.

The independent non-executive Directors had reviewed the status of
compliance and the confirmation provided by the controlling
shareholders as part of the annual review process. On the basis that: (i)
the Company has received the confirmations from its controlling
shareholders regarding the Undertakings; (ii) there was no competing
business reported by the controlling shareholders; and (iii) there was
no particular situation rendering the full compliance of the
Undertakings being questionable, the independent non-executive
Directors are of the view that the Undertakings have been complied
with and been enforced by the Company in accordance with the
terms.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this report and the section headed “Continuing
Connected Transactions”, there was no other contract of significance
entered into between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the
controlling shareholders of the Company or any of its subsidiaries
during the year ended 31 December 2022, and no contract of
significance for the provision of services to the Company or any of its
subsidiaries by a controlling shareholder of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was entered into during the year ended 31 December
2022.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 19 June 2019, the Company adopted the Share Option Scheme
which is subject to the requirements under Chapter 17 of the Listing
Rules.

Details of the Share Option Scheme

(1) Purpose
The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide selected
participants with the opportunity to acquire proprietary interests
in the Company and to encourage selected participants to work
towards enhancing the value of the Company and its Shares for
the benefit of the Company and Shareholders as a whole. The
Directors believe the Share Option Scheme will enable the
Group to reward its employees, the Directors and other
selected participants for their contributions to the Group. The
Share Option Scheme provides the Company with a flexible
means of retaining, incentivising, rewarding, remunerating,
compensating and/or providing benefits to selected participants.

(2) Participants

Any individual, being an employee, director, officer, consultant,
advisor, distributor, contractor, customer, supplier, agent,
business partner, joint venture business partner or service
provider of any member of the Company or any affiliate who the
Board or its delegate(s) considers, in their sole discretion, to
have contributed or will contribute to the Company is entitled to
be offered and granted options. However, no individual who is
resident in a place where the grant, acceptance or exercise of
options pursuant to the Share Option Scheme is not permitted
under the laws and regulations of such place or where, in the
view of the Board or its delegate(s), compliance with applicable
laws and regulations in such place makes it necessary or
expedient to exclude such individual, is eligible to be offered or
granted options.

(3) The maximum number of Shares available for issue

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme
shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the aggregate of the
Shares in issue on the day on which trading of the Shares
commences on the Stock Exchange, and such 10% limit
represents 353,000,000 Shares, representing approximately
9.86% of the total Shares in issue as at the date of this report.
As at the date of this report, 328,500,000 share options are still
available for future grant, representing 9.17% of the total Shares
in issue as at the date of this report.
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(6)

The maximum entitlement of each participant

Unless approved by the Shareholders, the total number of
Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options
granted and to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and
any other share option scheme of the Group (including both
exercised and outstanding options) to each participant in any
12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share
capital of the Company for the time being.

Acceptance and exercise of options

The acceptance of an offer of the grant of share options must
be made within ten business days from the date of offer with a
non-refundable payment of HK$1.00 from each grantee.

The Share Option Scheme does not specify any minimum
vesting period but the Board has the authority to determine for
which a share option must be held before it can be exercised.

The exercise period of any share option granted under the
Share Option Scheme shall be determined by the Board but
such period must not exceed ten years from the date of grant
of the relevant share option.

Subscription price for Shares
The subscription price per Share under the Share Option
Scheme will be a price determined by the Directors, but shall
not be less than the highest of:

(i)  the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant,
which must be a business day;

(i)  the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant;
and

(i)~ the nominal value of a Share on the date of grant.
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(7) The duration of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for the
period of ten years commencing on the Listing (after which, no
further options shall be offered or granted under the Share
Option Scheme), but in all other respects the provisions of the
Share Option Scheme shall remain in full force and effect to the
extent necessary to give effect to the exercise of any options
granted prior thereto or otherwise as may be required in
accordance with the provisions of the rules of the Share Option
Scheme.

As at the date of this report, the remaining life of the Share Option
Scheme is approximately 6 years and 3 months.

For further details of the Share Option Scheme, please refer to the
section headed “Statutory and general information — D. Share
incentive scheme” in Appendix V to the Prospectus.

Particulars of the movement of options granted under the Share Option
Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2022 are as follows:

BR  H2022F 20225
TrEE 1818 128318
SHENE BRHBEH (B HARTED  &HE 7% Ed ¥ ERTRE
Exercise Outstanding Outstanding
price per as at as at
Share 1 January 31 December
Category of participants  Date of grant (HK$) 2022 Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed 2022
Bz
Directors
BRAL % 55 & 20207 A7H
Mr. Chen Hongliang 7 July 2020 5.83 10,000,000 - - - — 10,000,000
Al %l 58 & 20206 7A7H
Mr. He Jian 7 July 2020 5.83 1,300,000 — — — - 1,300,000
Hth2 8%
Other Participants
AEBERE 202046 7H7H
Employees of the Group 7 July 2020 5.83 39,100,000 — — — (25,900,000) 13,200,000
st 50,400,000 - - — (25,900,000) 24,500,000
Total
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Notes:

The options shall be exercisable from 7 July 2020 to 6 July 2030, and vested, in
five tranches, subject to the individual performance, results and financial
performance of the Group in the following manner:

(0] 10% shall be vested on 7 July 2021;

(ii) 20% shall be vested on 7 July 2022;

20% shall be vested on 7 July 2023;

20% shall be vested on 7 July 2024; and

30% shall be vested on 7 July 2025.

The closing price of the Shares immediately before the date on which these
options were granted was HK$5.92.

SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME

0]

@

Purpose

In order to recognise the contributions and provide incentives to
senior management and employees of the Group for the
continual operation and development of the Group and to
attract suitable personnel for the growth and further
development of the Group, the Company adopted the Share
Incentive Scheme on 31 December 2021. The Share Incentive
Scheme shall be subject to the administration of the Board and
the trustee (the “Trustee”) in accordance with the rules of the
Share Incentive Scheme and the trust deed dated 31 December
2021 entered into between the Company as settlor and the
Trustee (the “Trust Deed”).

Participants

Any of the (i) senior management of the Group; and (i)
employees of the Group, other than those who is resident in a
place where the grant of the incentive shares and/or the vesting
and transfer of the incentive shares pursuant to the terms of the
Share Incentive Scheme is not permitted under the laws and
regulations of such place, or in the view of the Board or the
Trustee (as the case may be), compliance with applicable laws
or regulations in such place makes it necessary or expedient to
exclude such eligible person. For the avoidance of doubt,
excluding Directors, chief executives or substantial shareholders
of the Company and any of their respective close associates.
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The maximum number of Shares available for grant

The Board shall not grant any further incentive share which will
result in the aggregated number of incentive shares exceeding 5%
of the total number of issued Shares from time to time. No
award had been granted under the Share Incentive Scheme
since adoption of the Scheme. As at the date of this report, the 5%
scheme limit represents 179,089,575 Shares are available for
future grant.

As at the date of this report, the Trustee holds the entire interest
in Liangyi, which in turn directly holds 89,121,090 Shares,
representing approximately 2.49% of the total number of issued
Shares, as the incentive shares for the purpose of the Share
Incentive Scheme.

Any further incentive shares shall be either (i) existing Shares
purchased by the Trustee from the open market (either on-
market or off-market); or (i) new Shares to be allotted and
issued to the Trustee (which will hold the same on behalf of the
selected participant(s)) by the Company pursuant to the general
mandate granted by the Shareholders at the annual general
meeting of the Company from time to time. The trustee will hold
such Shares on behalf of the relevant selected employees on
trust, until such Shares are vested with the relevant selected
employees in accordance with the rules of the Share Incentive
Scheme.

The maximum entitlement of each participant

The maximum number of Shares which may be granted to a
selected participant under the Share Incentive Scheme in any
12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the number of the
Shares in issue.

Acceptance and vesting period

Selected participants shall sign and return the acceptance form
to the Board within such time limit as specified in the notice of
grant to accept the award.

The Share Incentive Scheme does not specify a minimum
vesting period. Subject to the fulfilment of all vesting conditions
as determined by the Board, incentive shares shall vest in the
selected participant pursuant to the rules of the Share Incentive
Scheme.
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(6) The duration of the Share Incentive Scheme

Subject to any early termination as may be determined by the
Board, the Share Incentive Scheme shall be valid and effective
for a term of ten years commencing on 31 December 2021.

As at the date of this report, the remaining life of the Share
Incentive Scheme is approximately 8 years and 9 months.

For further details of the Share Incentive Scheme, please refer
to announcement of the Company dated 31 December 2021.

The aggregate number of options and awards available for grant
under the Share Option Scheme and the Share Incentive Scheme as
at 1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 is set out below:

2022 F R2022F
12A31H 1A1H
As at As at
31 December 1 January
2022 2022
BRETEETAIREN Number of options available for grant under
BREHA the Share Option Scheme 328,500,000 302,600,000
B S Eh st 2 N A A Number of awards available for grant under
3= the Share Incentive Scheme 179,089,575 179,089,575
ARENERERZEBE®EE  Total number of options and awards
available for grant 507,589,575 481,689,575

REE20229F12 431 B 1L F 2 I &\ &% H
FE AR 1 S 52D

NN A DRI 201996 A19H K& 20214
12A31 B RPN E R R 2 XI5 2B &
2 BBEZEFE UWERK TEREX
HHRATEERBHR - AR2RHFMWE
BEE THMR2023F1 1AM ET
RAUABE+ELEBEBTITNFRAT EFEE
NREANGEEEN XEBEME&H
B e ARRBEEAERTBREF
BEREEHEAARAEZENGRER
ABEEHERESREBNET HbE
BRERBEMBNFI7TENRETHFMHE
EgRZEEEMNER -
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No options or awards were granted during the year ended 31
December 2022.

The Share Option Scheme and Share Incentive Scheme were
adopted by the Company on 19 June 2019 and 31 December 2021,
respectively, under which there is no minimum vesting period
stipulated in the respective schemes in relation to the grant of options
or awards. The Company’s remuneration committee acknowledges
the new requirements under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules that
came into effect on 1 January 2023 in relation to, among others, the
minimum vesting period of 12 months, performance targets and
clawback mechanism. The Company will make appropriate
disclosures in its announcements and financial reports in relation to
the grant of the options or awards to Directors and senior
management of the Company, which shall include the remuneration
committee’s view on these matters as required under Chapter 17 of
the Listing Rules.
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During the year ended 31 December 2022, no options or awards
were granted to any Directors or senior management of the
Company.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF
THE COMPANY OR ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its associated
corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO which were
required to be entered in the register kept by the Company pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO, or which were otherwise required, to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code, are set out below:

Interests in Shares and underlying Shares of the Company

MHERSHE )
EEXE BRTHRAEHE EitMZ B 17 8 B W=D WED B DR
Number of Approximate
Name of Director/ Number of underlying percentage of
chief executive Nature of interest Shares™*°"  Shares™*"  shareholding™*"
BRIEE(BEE]D PREFTAIL AR 2,822,167,839 (L) - 78.79%
Mr. Yang Jian (‘Mr. Yang”)  Founder of a discretionary trust™e2
i {65 e 2 1) 59,414,060 (L) - 1.66%
Interest of spouse®™e?
PRAT 52 % A BEmlEA AN — 10,000,000 (L) 0.28%
Mr. Chen Hongliang Beneficial owner™ete¥
] 8 5 &£ B EA AN — 1,300,000 (L) 0.04%
Mr. He Jian Beneficial owner™ete?
M - Notes:

(1) M2022F12H31H & 2~ 7 B #F 17
3,581,791,500 & - FTHOER~Z B AL
REBROKBARODFHETE -

@ 2,822,167,839 M M R P BB B R QA
(TR H])FHE - 2 F fChangxing International
Co,ltd. & # 2 & # 4 TiChangxing
International Co., Ltd. Bl B Changxing Pte. Ltd. &
& # A » Changxing Pte. Ltd. J3 15 4& 4 BX 37 #9
PREETHITAA -REZFLFLBEEKIE
XVER - SR E W B AR BRI HFENRN T %
B

1) As at 31 December 2022, the Company issued 3,581,791,500 Shares. The letter
(L) denotes the person’s long position in the relevant Shares or underlying
Shares.

@ 2,822,167,839 Shares are held by Liangzhong International Co., Ltd. (“Liangzhong”),
a company directly wholly-owned by Changxing International Co., Ltd., which is
in turn wholly-owned by Changxing Pte. Ltd. Changxing Pte. Ltd. is the trustee
of a discretionary trust set up by Mr. Yang. By virtue of Part XV of the SFO, Mr.
Yang is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Liangzhong.
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(@B) 59,414,060 & i% 19 B3 1R 2 TR L B B2 REAE 5E S
BE-REBEFEHFLBEGROAEXVE R
RARZETESANROTHEEERBBT
SEBBRITHNES WEAERGKLLTHE
HEMERKERDPEAES -

@) PRAL &AW E AR EERD (GH2020F7
R7BREBRAET S M E R LA EREE
1715 1% # A 85 (7] H % 17 #910,000,000 B% A% 1)
PRS-

G) WEIEEWEAREBR M (5R2020%7 A
7THIREERERTEI R RS O ERRETT
{5 1% 3% 7] 8% 1) H 317 #9 1,300,000 A% f% 15 ) R 1
B

RADTFEEEFOES
EspR EEME

Name of Director

59,414,060 Shares are held under a discretionary trust set up by Ms. Xu. By
virtue of Part XV of the SFO, Ms. Xu is deemed to be interested in the Shares
held under the trust and Mr. Yang, as the spouse of Ms. Xu, is deemed to be
interested in the same number of Shares in which Ms. Xu is interested.

These underlying Shares in which Mr. Chen Hongliang is deemed to be
interested represent the 10,000,000 Shares which may be issued to him upon
the exercise of the share options granted to him on 7 July 2020 pursuant to the
Share Option Scheme.

These underlying Shares in which Mr. He Jian is deemed to be interested
represent the 1,300,000 Shares which may be issued to him upon the exercise
of the share options granted to him on 7 July 2020 pursuant to the Share Option
Scheme.

Interests in debentures of the Company

Nature of interest

VNN
BEREBNEESHE
Principal amount of
debentures of the
Company held

Founder of a discretionary trust!”

Bt 2HEEFEEISZAY
Mr. Yang
B AT

1) R20215F 98 « AN A A 17 R 2023F | H
B & 488 R2008 & X TM12.0% 8 £ =
B(20283F4A RE 1) HRBRM EM
(B2022FMMAM4ARERFEEE) ZEX
NRIEEFHBRPIFE - R P HChangxing
International Co., Ltd. & % & & # B M
Changxing International Co., Ltd. Bl] g8 Changxing
Pte. Ltd. & & # A& ° Changxing Pte. Ltd. J3 5 5t
ERUMEREGEIENIEA  RIBFH LS
EROPIEXVE  BRERELSRRPRAED
RARERETHEER -

Br ESCRTH B & AN 12022412 A 31
H BMEEERARARSTHRAER
AARSKEMBEEZENKD - HEBEKRNG
MEEETHEECELSABREESLEN
EIEBIE 35216 BHEFEHE LM ARIRIE
IZEST R ZBME AR QR KB FTE T
BERTKE -
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Note:

(1)

21,000,0003 ¢
uSDb21,000,000

The 12.0% senior notes due 2023 with the aggregate principal amount of
US$200 million were issued by the Company in September 2021 (“April 2023
Notes”), which are listed on the Stock Exchange (trading suspended from 14
November 2022). These debentures of the Company are held by Liangzhong, a
company directly wholly-owned by Changxing International Co., Ltd., which is in
turn wholly-owned by Changxing Pte. Ltd. Changxing Pte. Ltd. is the trustee of a
discretionary trust set up by Mr. Yang. By virtue of Part XV of the SFO, Mr. Yang
is deemed to be interested in the debentures of the Company held by
Liangzhong.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company had any interests or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of

the Company or its associated corporations, recorded in the register

required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code.
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FERRREMALIREATR SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER

DREBRONERZRXR PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF
THE COMPANY

N20220F 12 A31H » AR R B PT A - 32 So far as is known to the Company, as at 31 December 2022, the
AKANRBIEFEAS MBS E3361KEHE folowing persons, other than a Director or chief executive of the
FEHELMAADE M TAT(BESs Company, had interest in the Shares or underlying Shares as
KAFZSITHEAEIIN) RIRMD AR  recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under

M HEBEE section 336 of the SFO:
BA
BRRERB HHE EaME BROBE W HRE DM
Approximate
Number of percentage of
Name of Shareholder Nature of interest Shares™*"  shareholding™°t"
2 EmEA A 2,822,167,839 (L) 78.79%
Liangzhong Beneficial owner
Rt 2 E Rl A 59,414,060 (L) 1.66%
Ms. Xu Founder of a discretionary trust™ete2
Bic 138 4 25 (1Y 2,822,167,839 (L) 78.79%
Interest of spouse™ted
Changxing International Co., Ltd. 5212 K [ # 25 1154 2,822,167,839 (L) 78.79%
Interest of controlled corporation™® 4
Changxing Pte. Ltd. RFE A 2,822,167,839 (L) 78.79%
Trustee™o©4
B 5E Notes:

1) R2022F 128318 &~ A @ &2 % 17 (1) As at 31 December 2022, the Company issued 3,581,791,500 Shares. The letter
3,581,791,500 & - FTRHLXR ~Z & AT (L) denotes the person’s long position in the relevant Shares.
REBROTHTE -

() 59,414,060 AE R IR EETERE (20 59,414,060 Shares are held under a discretionary trust set up by Ms. Xu. By

o BEFHFRBERI R THEABRZ virtue of the SFO, Ms. Xu is deemed to be interested in the Shares held under
BERAFENROPHEEER - the trust.

@) HBut EABRENRE BEARBEE B Ms. Xu, as the spouse of Mr. Yang, is deemed to be interested in the same
BEREGOARBEENRO P EEEE - number of Shares in which Mr. Yang is interested.

(4) 2 & [ Changxing Interational Co., Ltd. B £ 2 (4) Liangzhong is directly wholly-owned by Changxing International Co., Ltd., which
& ¥ A - 1 Changxing International Co., Ltd. is in turn wholly-owned by Changxing Pte. Ltd. Changxing Pte. Ltd. is the trustee
F3 Changxing Pte. Ltd. & & # £ ° Changxing of a discretionary trust set up by Mr. Yang. By virtue of the SFO, Changxing Pte.
Pte. Ltd. I 15 S AU K 2 EFEZXFEA © Ltd. and Changxing International Co., Ltd. are deemed to be interested in the
1B 1% % F & B & & - Changxing Pte. Ltd. & Shares held by Liangzhong.
Changxing International Co., Ltd. # 18 & 7 2
FHERNRO P HEER -
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16151 25 336 14 78 1 17 /) & 50 Il 1R MY 8 2 ¢

A
BEROIESFSNLH

Bk B8 B v 51 81 M B fp BB ET &S - AR
A EZERABIKEE[MEERARNFE
NEMBSERBET LEFM L BEE
R FEUIE AN B A ] E A OE B R B DD
(RBREFENIERE ) MELS -

EEREAXRZ - ZHIEHNH
i =

BRARERBEBERS | —SHHAE
EEZI) BEERHBETEHERLARD
AHEERARKMBARGZAERE
F2022F12A3IHIEFERFRNE =
20224 12 A31 B It F E AL 7] B 73 4
ERZEARSG  LTHREHT  BEEX
MEHAE AR -

FTEFFRHEER

HE2022F12A31BILEE AEE K
AEFPEREBAHEERASEEBKR AL
#0.02% MAEBERARTFA KMEAE
B F AU A DH0.08% °

HE2022F12A31BILFE - AEEK
AEEAROERBEAENAEERE
MEHH26% MASKELAHRERS
HEAEBFARBARELNL6% -
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, the Company
had not been notified of any persons (other than a Director or chief
executive of the Company) who had an interest or short position in
the Shares or underlying Shares that were recorded in the register
required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the Share Option Scheme and the Share Incentive
Scheme, at no time during the year was the Company, its holding
company, or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debt securities including debentures of, the Company
or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this report and the section headed “Continuing
Connected Transactions”, no transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance in relation to which the Company, its holding
company or subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or his
connected entities had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year ended 31 December 2022.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, revenue attributable to
the Group’s largest customer amounted to approximately 0.02% of
the Group’s total revenue and the Group five largest customers in
aggregate accounted for less than 0.08% of the Group’s revenue for
the year.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, purchases attributable to
the Group’s largest supplier amounted to approximately 2.6% of the
Group’s total purchases and the Group five largest suppliers in
aggregate accounted for less than 4.6% of the Group’s total
purchase for the year.
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None of the Directors, their close associates or any Shareholders,
which to the knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5% of the
Company’s issued Shares, had an interest in the share capital of any
of the five largest suppliers and customers.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company conducted
the following transactions which constitute non-exempt continuing
connected transactions (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the
Company, details of these transactions are set out below:

1.

Sales Assistance Services

On 21 December 2021, the Company and Everjoy Services
Company Limited (“Everjoy Services”) entered into a sales
assistance services framework agreement (the “Sales
Assistance Services Framework Agreement”), pursuant to which
Everjoy Services and its subsidiaries (“Everjoy Services Group”)
agreed to provide to the Group sales assistance and related
services including but not limited to (i) crowd-controlling,
cleaning, security and other related value-added services to the
showrooms, display units, sales and property services offices;
and (i) preliminary preparation services for the projects
developed and to be delivered by the Group, such as early staff
recruitment, staff training, procurement of materials and
equipment and cleaning services for the period commencing
from 1 January 2022 and ending on 31 December 2023 (both
days inclusive).

The annual cap for the transactions contemplated under the
Sales Assistance Services Framework Agreement for the year
ended 31 December 2022 and the year ending 31 December
2023 would be RMB363,100,000 and RMB406,000,000,
respectively. For the year ended 31 December 2022, the value
of the sales assistance services provided by Everjoy Services
Group to the Group was approximately RMB35.5 million.
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Pre-Delivery Property Management Services

On 21 December 2021, the Company and Everjoy Services
entered into a pre-delivery property management services
framework agreement (the “Pre-Delivery Property Management
Services Framework Agreement”), pursuant to which Everjoy
Services Group agreed to provide to the Group pre-delivery
property management services including but not limited to (i)
preliminary planning and design consultancy services; (i) pre-
delivery inspection services, including (a) house inspection
services; (b) inspection services to common area; and (c) repair
and maintenance services based on the inspection results of
relevant properties; and (i) property management services for
completed property units which are unsold or sold but prior to
the delivery for a term commencing from 1 January 2022 and
ending on 31 December 2023 (both days inclusive).

The annual cap for the transactions contemplated under the
Pre-Delivery Property Management Services Framework
Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2022 and the year
ending 31 December 2023 would be RMB259,600,000 and
RMB290,000,000, respectively. For the year ended 31
December 2022, the value of the pre-delivery property
management services provided by Everjoy Services Group to
the Group was approximately RMB9.9 million.

Design, Decoration and Outfitting Services

On 21 December 2021, the Company and Shanghai Zhongliang
Quanzhu Residential Technology Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai
Zhongliang Quanzhu”) entered into a design, decoration and
outfitting services framework agreement (the “Design,
Decoration and Outfitting Services Framework Agreement”),
pursuant to which Shanghai Zhongliang Quanzhu and its
subsidiaries (“Shanghai Zhongliang Quanzhu Group”) agreed to
provide the design, decoration and outfitting services for a term
commencing from 1 January 2022 and ending on 31 December
2023 (both days inclusive).

The annual cap for the transactions contemplated under the
Design, Decoration and Outfitting Services Framework
Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2022 and the year
ending 31 December 2023 would be RMB350,000,000 and
RMB400,000,000, respectively. For the year ended 31
December 2022, the value of the services provided by Shanghai
Zhongliang Quanzhu Group to the Group was approximately
RMB nil.
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Sales Agency Services

On 18 November 2020, the Company entered into a sales
agency services agreement (the “Sales Agency Services
Agreement”) with Shanghai Zhongliang Property Development
Co., Ltd. (together with its subsidiaries, “Shanghai Zhongliang
Property Group”) pursuant to which Shanghai Zhongliang
Property Group and their respective associates (“Zhongliang
Property Group”) has agreed to provide sales agency services
and other ancillary services to the Group for unsold properties
and carparks developed by the Group for a period commencing
from 18 November 2020 and ending on 31 December 2022.
The annual caps of transactions contemplated under the Sales
Agency Services Agreement would be RMB160,000,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2022. For the year ended 31
December 2022, the value of the services provided by
Zhongliang Property Group to the Group was approximately
RMB6.8 million.

Since Mr. Yang controls more than 30% of the voting power at
the general meeting of Shanghai Zhongliang Quanzhu, and thus
it is a connected person of the Company under the Listing
Rules. Accordingly, the transactions conducted under the
Design, Decoration and Outfitting Services Framework
Agreement constitute continuing connected transactions of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during the
year ended 31 December 2022.

During the period from 1 January 2022 to 29 March 2022,
Everjoy Services and Shanghai Zhongliang Property
Development Co., Ltd, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Everjoy
Services, were connected persons of the Company as Mr. Yang
controlled more than 30% of the voting power at the general
meeting of Everjoy Services and Shanghai Zhongliang Property
Development Co., Ltd. As such, the transactions conducted
under the Sales Assistance Services Framework Agreement,
the Pre-Delivery Property Management Services Framework
Agreement and the Sales Agency Services Agreement
constitute continuing connected transactions of the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during the
aforementioned period.
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On 29 March 2022, Mr. Yang disposed of its interest in Everjoy
Services, and thus, Everjoy Services and its subsidiaries ceased
to be connected persons of the Company under the Listing
Rules. Accordingly, the transactions conducted under the Sales
Assistance Services Framework Agreement, the Pre-Delivery
Property Management Services Framework Agreement and the
Sales Agency Services Agreement after such disposal ceased
to be connected transactions of the Company under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, all independent non-
executive Directors have reviewed and confirmed that the above
continuing connected transactions have been entered into () in the
ordinary and usual course of business of the Group; (i) on normal
commercial terms or better; and (i) according to the relevant
agreements governing the transactions on terms that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

For the purpose of Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, Ernst & Young,
the auditor of the Company, was engaged to report on the continuing
connected transactions and has provided a letter to the Board,
confirming that nothing has come to its attention that causes it to
believe that the continuing connected transactions mentioned above (i)
have not been approved by the Board; (ii) were not entered into, in all
material respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements
governing such transactions; and (i) have exceed the respective
annual cap.

Disclosure under Rule 14A.72 of the Listing Rules

Except for the aforementioned continuing connected transactions
stated under this section which would fall within the definition of
connected transactions or continuing connected transaction under
the Listing Rules, all other related party transactions taken place
during the year ended 31 December 2022 which were disclosed in
note 39 to the consolidated financial statements did not constitute
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Company has
complied with applicable disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules in respect of the aforesaid transactions.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS AND TAX RELIEF

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the
laws of the Cayman lIslands, being the jurisdiction in which the
Company is incorporated under which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s
securities.

PUBLIC FLOAT

The Stock Exchange has granted the Company a public float waiver
under Rule 8.08(1)(a) of the Listing Rules to accept a lower public
float percentage of the total issued share capital of 17.06%. Details of
the waiver is set out in the section headed “Waivers from Strict
Compliance with the Listing Rules — Waiver in relation to Public
Float” of the Prospectus.

As at the date of this report, based on information that was publicly
available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors,
the Directors confirmed that the Company maintained the amount of
public float as required under the public float waiver.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board is of opinion that the Company had adopted, applied and
complied with the code provisions as set out in Part 2 of Appendix 14
to the Listing Rules during the year under review. Principal corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company are set out in the
“Corporate Governance Report” section of this report.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out in the section headed “Five
year financial summary” on pages 259 and 260 of this report.
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SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 December 2022
are set out in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

The Articles provide that every Director is entitled to be indemnified
and secured harmless out of the assets of the Company from and
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses
which he may incur or sustain by reason of any act done, concurred
in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty or supposed duty
in their respective offices or trusts, except such (if any) as they shall
incur or sustain through their own fraud or dishonesty.

The Group has taken out and maintained directors’ liability insurance
for the year ended 31 December 2022, which provides appropriate
cover for the Directors. The permitted indemnity provision was in
force during the year ended 31 December 2022 and remained in
force as at the date of this report for the benefit of the Directors.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the above paragraphs headed “Share Option
Scheme” and “Share Incentive Scheme” in this section, no equity-
linked agreements were entered into during the year and subsisted at
the end of the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of any business of the Company were
entered into during the year or subsisted at the end of the year.
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Directors’ Report

AGM AND CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF
MEMBERS

The 2023 AGM will be held on Thursday, 1 June 2023. A notice
convening the AGM will be published on the Company’s website and
the Stock Exchange’s website and despatched to the Shareholders
in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules in due
course. For the purpose of determining the Shareholders’ eligibility to
attend, speak and vote at the 2023 AGM, the register of members of
the Company will be closed from Monday, 29 May 2023 to Thursday,
1 June 2023, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of
Shares will be effected. In order to determine the identity of members
who are entitled to attend and vote at the 2023 AGM, all share
transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged for registration with the Company’s branch share
registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m.
on Thursday, 25 May 2023.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022 have been audited by Ernst & Young who
will retire at the 2023 AGM. Ernst & Young, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of
Ernst & Young as the auditor of the Company will be proposed at the
2023 AGM.

By order of the Board

Yang Jian
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2023
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Ernst & Young RXKEHENERFT Tel B : +852 2846 9888

27/F, One Taikoo Place BRBIRRREBE79 Fax f8H: +852 2868 4432
§* 979 King's Road KNty — 2748 ey.com

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

To the shareholders of Zhongliang Holdings Group
Company Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of
Zhongliang Holdings Group Company Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 100 to 258, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. Because of the potential interaction of the
multiple uncertainties relating to going concern and their possible
cumulative effect on the consolidated financial statements as
described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report,
it is not possible for us to form an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. In all other respects, in our opinion, the
consolidated financial statements have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Multiple uncertainties relating to going concern

As set out in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group recorded a net loss of RMB1,621,239,000 for the year ended
31 December 2022. As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s total
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and senior notes
amounted to RMB26,735,152,000, out of which RMB17,842,942,000
will be due for repayment within the next twelve months, while its
cash and cash equivalents amounted to RMB14,603,726,000. As at
31 December 2022, the Group had not repaid an aggregate amount
of principal and interest of RMB209,736,000 for senior notes due
May 2022 and July 2022 and an aggregate amount of interest of
RMB343,867,000 for certain senior notes according to their
scheduled repayment dates. As at 31 December 2022, an aggregate
amount of principal of RMB2,700,636,000 for interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings had not been repaid according to their
scheduled repayment dates, triggering certain long term interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings amounted to RMB189,959,000
becoming repayable on demand. A winding-up petition was filed by a
trustee of senior notes due May 2022 against the Company on 21
November 2022. These conditions, together with other matters set
out in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements, indicate the
existence of material uncertainties which cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The directors of the Company have been undertaking measures to
improve the Group’s liquidity and financial position, which are set out
in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements. The validity of
the going concern assumption on which the consolidated financial
statements have been prepared depends on the outcome of these
measures, which are subject to multiple uncertainties including
whether the Company can i) successfully complete the holistic
solution for its offshore debts; (i) successfully dismiss the winding-up
petition; (i) successfully negotiate with the Group’s existing debt
holders for the renewal or extension for repayment of the Group’s
bank and other borrowings; (iv) successfully secure project
development loans for qualified project development in a timely
manner; (v) successfully obtain additional new sources of financing as
and when needed; (vi) successfully carry out the Group’s business
strategy plan including the acceleration of the sales of properties; (vii)
successfully implement measures to speed up the collection of
outstanding sales proceeds and effectively control costs and
expenses; and (viii) successfully dispose of the Group’s equity
interests in project development companies when suitable.

97



PREREERR AR 2022F F K

I ED IR
Independent Auditor’s Report

HRELZEIHEN BEHEER
REFENRETE  BMEERFE
@%ﬁﬂ%&ETAﬂRW LKoo i
SEARRER Ll AT EE
%i“““ﬁz?iz““i%%_—.—_ﬁg*é C BIZE{EH
B - BEEEEENRBDEMKEAR
WEEE RAEHENTEANE—FE
Bt R IH?‘;FML@J,%F&_?'F//\L@
BESHEF P EARDEERARTA
B ZEHABNZ @I%mﬁﬁmﬁﬁ
%W&%

%{%?ﬁ%éﬁﬁﬁ%%&%?ﬁﬁk%ﬂ@
BfE

BERREFARAREBRR G ERE
%2%%%!%%%%%EWUH%J
BREER]) REE QRGO ER
iﬁ%ﬁ?ﬁﬂﬁm%AW%ﬁ%'ﬁ
BEEERRLENRNAIES - AL
mENEE B HmR T FERKRFXE
AR M E B E KRR -

ERESEVBERRE ERAAESR
BENE ESENKELERD I
Ei%1ﬂT&%ﬁF#m'ﬁ
FHRCUREABERLESFEE ﬁ
¥ BERFREFEENR EKEBRA
FlEg2 AU EEMERATHOER
-

EnZBaeml BERREFETE
B EXEYHREEENAT-

98

As a result of these multiple uncertainties, their potential interaction,
and the possible cumulative effect thereof, we were unable to form
an opinion as to whether the going concern basis of preparation is
appropriate. Should the Group fail to achieve the above-mentioned
measures, it might not be able to continue to operate as a going
concern, and adjustments would have to be made to write down the
carrying values of the Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts,
to provide for any further liabilities which might arise, and to reclassify
non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and
current liabilities, respectively. The effects of these adjustments have
not been reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”)
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”)
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of
the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and to issue an auditor’s report. We report
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. However, because of the matters
described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report,
it is not possible for us to form an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is SIU FUNG TERENCE HO.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

30 March 2023

99



PREREERR AR 2022F F K

HElRaR

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

H = 2022912 431 8 I F £ Year ended 31 December 2022

20224 2021 F
2022 2021
B 3% AR¥BTR ARBTT
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
EE——— —
A REVENUE 5 39,329,414 76,114,160
5 & A A Cost of sales (35,827,719)  (63,081,654)
EF GROSS PROFIT 3,501,695 13,032,506
Ha A R Other income and gains 5 362,883 959,088
HEEDHAX Selling and distribution expenses (1,642,922) (2,894,162)
THAEX Administrative expenses (1,597,314) (3,534,244)
SREEMMEER  JFEE  Imparment losses on financial assets, net (475,073) (5,081)
H A Other expenses (927,340) (153,387)
WEMENTE(ER), Fairvalue (losses)/gains on investment
Wz properties 14 (7,921) 96,809
AT EFAEBZREHE R Fair value losses on financial assets at fair
EENRAFEEE value through profit or loss (165,403) (372,238)
& U Finance income 246,820 371,529
B & KA Finance costs 7 (397,178) (647,461)
FEARFE KB Share of profits and losses of:
BEDE Joint ventures 518,863 448,700
i Rl/N Associates 348,130 322,062
Al (B8),/FE (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6 (234,760) 7,624,121
FTig i &2 Income tax expense 10 (1,386,479) (2,868,033)
FR(ER)/FE (LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR (1,621,239) 4,756,088
AT AL EAS - Attributable to:
UNEIE 2N Owners of the parent (1,346,384) 2,702,567
FE1E AR M 2 Non-controlling interests (274,855) 2,053,521
(1,621,239) 4,756,088
NAILEERTEBA (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE
FEIE S (B 1B) /& F ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
EARES Basic and diluted
—FR(E1|), /78 — For (loss)/profit for the year 12 AR¥(0.39)7xT ARMK0757T
RMB(0.39) RMBO.75
N —
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

H = 2022912 831 B [FFE Year ended 31 December 2022

2022 20214
2022 2021
AR®TRT AR%T
RMB’000 RMB’000
FR(EFE)FE (LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR (1,621,239) 4,756,088
REZBEAEETR D Other comprehensive (loss)/income that
ZlEFZ7EMETE(EER)/ may be reclassified to profit or loss
& in subsequent periods:
MEH =58 Exchange differences:
MEGINEREEZELEZSE Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations (60,031) 25,297
REZBEAEETR DR Net other comprehensive (loss)/income that
ZlEF7EMETE(ER),/ may be reclassified to profit or loss
Wz =58 in subsequent periods (60,031) 25,297
FEREMDE(EE) W OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/
MR BiE INCOME FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (60,031) 25,297
FR2E(EB) RBEEE TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/
INCOME FOR THE YEAR (1,681,270) 4,781,385
AT AL EAS - Attributable to:
NEEA A Owners of the parent (1,406,415) 2,727,864
FE1E AR M 2 Non-controlling interests (274,855) 2,053,521
(1,681,270) 4,781,385

.,
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

20224 12 A 318 31 December 2022

2022 F 2021 4
2022 2021
s AR%®FTx AR®ET T
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
- -
ERBEE NON-CURRENT ASSETS
ME - WENEE Property, plant and equipment 13 60,487 86,556
EREEE Right-of-use assets 16 40,713 78,991
WEYE Investment properties 14 1,543,700 1,410,200
HEmmEEE Other intangible assets 15 5,251 6,186
REZLERNKRE Investments in joint ventures 17 4,667,553 6,217,393
REtZL NAHRE Investments in associates 18 16,828,180 17,459,401
EERIEEE Deferred tax assets 19 2,936,545 3,424,910
TR ZFEREMEWIE  Prepayments and other receivables 24 = 75,581
FEREBEEEE Total non-current assets 26,082,429 28,759,218
REBEE CURRENT ASSETS
BERATFEFABERZD Financial assets at fair value through
TRMEE profit or loss 20 34,266 181,065
EEYE Properties under development 21 112,418,842 132,008,659
BRERE E’\J E ELYE Completed properties held for sale 22 24,696,306 21,272,280
=Y e Trade receivables 23 7,751 5,239
JRE M5 128 g /2\ FIE Due from related companies 39 13,344,135 12,853,619
BARERE 1‘@ JEUWFAIE  Prepayments and other receivables 24 41,625,083 42,057,888
Al g B F 18 Tax recoverable 3,024,078 2,429,555
e MIRTTHE % Cash and bank balances 25 16,585,989 27,610,483
MEEERE Total current assets 211,736,450 238,418,788
REBEME CURRENT LIABILITIES
BoEMNZENENEZRE  Trade and bills payables 26 21,019,046 21,210,521
HENZBELESER Other payables and accruals 27 24,515,740 26,686,065
HEAE Lease liabilities 16 21,410 39,097
BRNEE Contract liabilities 28 113,837,210 120,815,799
F’E L NEIE S Due to related companies 39 16,653,749 18,996,008
S BRRITRE {ﬂz (= Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 29 11,341,143 12,341,166
JE & 7l 18 Tax payable 10 2,863,201 3,045,881
IS ERE H B S Provision for financial guarantee contracts 30 236,839 138,523
BEERBZSMERAE Proceeds from asset-backed securities - 318,641
B ERE Senior notes 31 6,501,799 6,879,457
nEBER Total current liabilities 196,990,137 210,471,158
REBEEFEHE NET CURRENT ASSETS 14,746,313 27,947,630
EERERRBAEE TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES 40,828,742 56,706,848
.
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REMBRAE
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
2022412 A 31 H 31 December 2022

2022 2021 4F
2022 2021
B 3 ARBET T AR®ET T
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
I —
FRBEE NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
FEBETREMER Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 29 8,892,210 19,340,356
HEaE Lease liabilities 16 24,066 43,609
FEIEFIE A& Deferred tax liabilities 19 538,328 538,191
BRERE Senior notes 31 - 1,301,830
FEMBBERTE Total non-current liabilities 9,454,604 21,223,986
EEFE NET ASSETS 31,374,138 35,482,862
= EQUITY
BAREEAEGER Equity attributable to owners of
the parent
RN Share capital 32 31,450 31,450
G Reserves 34 11,080,374 11,933,531
11,111,824 11,964,981
R ER Non-controlling interests 20,262,314 23,517,881
RSB TOTAL EQUITY 31,374,138 35,482,862
_
BRALR k4% BREXE
Mr. Chen Hongliang Mr. Yau Sze Ka
- -
Director Director
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

#HZ=2022412 A31 A 1L ¥ /Z Year ended 31 December 2022

BAREAAEL
Attributable to owners of the parent
B# A X EEER BRE HERD FER B
B e e 1 1) #E  REAE 1 ast 35 a5
Statutory Share Exchange Non-
Share Share Merger Capital surplus option Retained  fluctuation controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve profits reserve Total interests equity

ARBTR ARBTR AR%TR ARETR AR¥TR ARETR ARETR AR%TR AR%TR ARMTR ARETR

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
W82  MiEs4(a) KiiE4b)  KHiE34d)  HiE34() W33 K 34(e)
Note 32  Note 34(a) Note34(b) Note34(d)  Note 34(c) Note 33 Note 34(e)

202251 A1H Asat 1 January 2022

FRER Loss for the year
EREMPEBRE:  Other comprehensive loss
for the year:

HEGNERE Exchange differences on
E7ERER translation of foreign
operations

ER2HEGEEE  Tota comprehensive loss

for the year
WELFAEEMRKE  Capital contribution from
by non-controling
shareholders of
subsidiaries
FERERY Capital reduction of
HEARRE subsidiaries from

non-controling interests

HBAHERKEES Partial disposal of equity

EHHEBAR interests in subsidiaries
R without losing control
W RER Acquisition of non-controling
interests
R Cancellation of dividend
MEZEEHERE  Equity-ssttied share option
ZH arangements
EEBRBEEET  Appropriations to statutory
surplus reserve
BEEREZ R Dividends paid to non-
&2 controling interests
LEWBAR Disposal of subsidiaries

2022512831 Asat 31 December 2022
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FeaERERnE
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
£ 20229 12 31 H 1L F /£ Year ended 31 December 2022

NEHEAER
Attributable to owners of the parent
&3 X BR  EEEB#H B e iRk Bz
RA& wfE A L] EL] L REFE L] @it Ea it
Statutory Share Exchange Non-
Share Share Merger Capital surplus option Retained  fluctuation controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve profits reserve Total interests equity
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARBTR ARETT ARETT ARETFT ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETET
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
MiEse M) MHES4b) WS4 HEESSE) ftiss Bt 34fe)
Note32  Note34(a)  Note34(b)  Note34(d)  Note 35(c) Note 33 Note 34(g)
R2021E1A1A Asat 1 January 2021 31450 3,629,765 3138 (67,138) 1,459,341 9,932 5,826,535 3714 10,906,737 19275413 30,182,150
FRHE Profit for the year - - - - - - 2,702,567 — 2,702,567 2053521 4,756,088
EREMEEYWE . Other comprehensive income
for the year:
RESNEBE Exchange differences on
EIEREE translation of foreign
operations - - - - - - - 25,297 25,297 - 25,297
ER2AEMKEEE  Total comprehensive income
for the year - - - - - - 2,702,567 25207 2,727,864  2,063521 4,781,385
W@ AR JEE AR AR Capital contribution from
g non-controling
shareholders of
subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - 2,587,879 2,587,879
BAMERLERSH  Partial disposal of equity
BOHBAR interests in subsidiaries
[ & without losing control - - - 135 - - - - 135 (135) -
¢ PRudie 3 Acquisttion of non-controling
interests - - - 064,847 - - - - 064,847 (64,847) -
BERA R Dividends and distrioutions - (957,330) - - - - (551,599) - (1,508,925) - (1,508,925)
MEREENERE Equity-settled share option
ZH arrangements - - - - - 12,097 - - 12,097 - 12,097
ETERBEERS  Appropriations to statutory
surplus reserve - - - - 442,835 - (442,835) - - - -
FIFER SR Dividends paid to non-
(3] controlling interests - - - - - - (287,774) - (37,774 - (237,774)
HEMBERA Disposal of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - (333950)  (333.950)
W2021E12A31H  Asat 31 December 2021 31450 2,672,435 3,138* 7,844 1,902,176* 22,029 7,296,898" 29,011 11,964,981 23517881 35,482,862

. ZERERARBREAMBRIR ZEARE
& A K #11,080,374,000 7T (2021 4F : A R ¥k

11,933,531,0007T) °

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of
RMB11,080,374,000 (2021: RMB11,933,531,000) in the consolidated statement
of financial position.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

H = 2022912 431 8 I F £ Year ended 31 December 2022

20224 2021 4F
2022 2021
s AR¥TR AR®T
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
- -
RETHRAERE CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
Fi Al (E518) )8 (Loss)/profit before tax 6 (234,760) 7,624,121
AT ZIEFE Adjustments for:
ME - BMENEHEBERITE  Depreciation of items of property,
plant and equipment 6, 13 31,395 35,005
H b E S E Amortisation of other intangible assets 6,15 9,859 4,379
ShiE i% MEEARRNREEIE  Impairment losses recognised for properties
under development 6, 21 1,137,910 731,125
RFIERENE R IWE Impairment losses recognised for
R0 /UZ EEE completed properties held for sale 6, 22 540,536 100,768
MERMEEMANRMEEIE  Impairment losses recognised for financial
assets 475,073 5,081
FE N R () E5E Exchange loss/(gain), net 591,416 (246,024)
FEERENBHEES Changes in provision for financial guarantee
contracts 5 (1,867) (80,381)
BB A A E Gain on disposal of subsidiaries 5, 36 (280,564) (407,243)
HEAEDERBE AT Loss/(gain) on disposal of joint ventures and
BB (as) associates 66,769 (147,188)
EiEaEbENBRER Share of profits and losses of joint ventures (518,863) (448,700)
FEAG B & N | R K g5 18 Share of profits and losses of associates (348,130) (322,062)
REMENTFEEE Changes in fair value of investment
properties 14 7,921 (96,809)
EAFEFABZNS® Fair value losses on financial assets at fair
BERNATFEREIE value through profit or loss 165,403 372,238
FREEENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 16 43,921 50,502
A& A Finance costs 7 397,178 647,461
B & U a Finance income (246,820) (371,529)
UESEENERER Equity-settled share option expense 33 (4,002) 12,097
1,832,375 7,462,841
EEYERBELERN Decrease in properties under development
2 5 LY 5D and completed properties held for sale 14,197,172 888,561
T8 1~ 3078 N E b FE U 5K 38 1 0 Increase in prepayments and other receivables (2,746,000) (4,480,908)
PR I8 & Rk Decrease in restricted cash 25 3,729,715 292,103
2R F O Decrease in pledged deposits 25 713,100 835,009
Z 5 e Y FIE 1N Increase in trade receivables (2,512) (30)
E 5 e B N FE S Z 15 120 Increase in trade and bills payables 26 45,594 4,702,372
H {th &~ 2038 N FE 5 B FB 18 S Increase in other payables and accruals 937,529 5,929,060
BHABECRD), 1N (Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities (6,069,938) 4,410,814
FE < BB A B 303 (R ) /12 (Decrease)/increase in amounts due to related
n companies (168,069) 1,718,213
EEBERS Cash generated from operations 12,468,966 21,758,035
RPN Interest received 242,225 293,174
B & 5= Tax paid (1,762,640)  (4,246,054)
KRETEE Net cash flows generated from
BHEeERhEFHE operating activities 10,948,551 17,805,155
.
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H Z= 2022912 A31H |E FE Year ended 31 December 2022

2022 F 20214
2022 2021
izt AR¥®FTR ARETT
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
- .
REZDRLAR CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
BEWE BELXEER Purchases of items of property, plant and
equipment 13 (6,784) (24,595)
BEEMEFEE Purchases of other intangible assets 15 (8,924) (2,084)
WEE N TEIABZENSRE  Acquisition of financial assets at fair value through
BE profit or loss (31,832 (63,757)
HERAFEFAEZD Disposal of financial assets at fair value through
CRMEE profit or loss 43,750 62,867
HEDE BEKRKRE Disposal of property, plant and equipment 13 1,205 3,373
REeghxE )32 B NAIMIRE  Investments in joint ventures and associates (544,830) (4,759,322)
HERHERQFH }x ‘& Disposal of investments in subsidiaries 36 183,116 243,608
HEREGEMENRBZ NAA  Disposal of investments in joint ventures and
wE associates 1,238,371 709,562
EEPERBERRIRE Capital reduction from joint venture and associates 888,771 _
WERE S L% R4 AT Dividend received from joint venture and associates
s 522,141 —
BEREME Purchases of investment properties 14 (141,421) (433,591)
Rl UNCIEEA Advances to related companies 39 (8,206,106) (12,325,072
EEREBLATRR Repayment of advances to related companies 39 7,303,539 10,402,808
REZEHHMSE,(FiAH) Net cash flows generate from/(used in)
RERETFE investing activities 1,240,996 (6,186,203)
METHRERE CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
BB AR EERKERNTE Capital contribution from non-controliing
shareholders of subsidiaries 504,438 2,587,879
REBHARBK Advances from related companies 39 5,281,079 8,453,857
BERXEBEBARTBR Repayment of advances from related companies 39 (7,415,417) (9,306,641)
BEEBFEZR D /() Decrease/(increase) in pledged deposits 500,000 (134,383)
STHEEEE Payment of lease liabilities 16 (42,948) (55,468)
SENE ,%\ Interest paid (1,520,139) (4,367,337)
2R 8 Dividends paid - (967,003)
BE3 Hﬂ%é O 5 B AR B Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (528,468) (287,774
FEREZNHE AR /Uz & Capital reduction of subsidiaries from
non-controlling interests (765,098) —
B HERKEEHER Partial disposal of equity interests in subsidiaries
[ IpEENGINE without losing control 45,438 —
BOIBEEBRMERE Proceeds from issue of senior notes = 7,520,872
EEEBLERE Repayment of senior notes (1,223,220) (7,982,928)
SRR ITREMMEREHIE  Proceeds from interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings 3,388,262 31,078,929
BEEEEREBESICMBHIE  Repayment of proceeds from asset-backed
securitisations (320,000) -
BEMERITREMBER Repayment of interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings (15,783,817)  (43,863,485)
MEZHFFARERETHE Net cash flows used in financing activities (17,879,890)  (17,273,482)
- ———
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20224 20214

2022 2021

sz AR®BTRT ARETT
Notes  RMB’000 RMB’000

- .
RERBASEEYRD NET DECREASE IN CASH AND
R CASH EQUIVALENTS (5,690,343) (5,654,530)
FYHREeRREEED Cash and cash equivalents at beginning
of year 20,281,011 25,910,244
EXREETEFE Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net 13,058 25,297
FRESRAESEEY CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT END OF YEAR 14,603,726 20,281,011
HERBEZEEBYEER D ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
B¢ MIR1T & 6k Cash and bank balances 25 16,585,989 27,610,483
W TREBS Less: Restricted cash 25 1,760,385 5,894,494
2R TE R Pledged deposits 25 221,878 1,434,978
BERERAAMIRER CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
HeEEY AS STATED IN THE STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS 14,603,726 20,281,011
I
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Notes to Financial Statements

20224 12 A 318 31 December 2022

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

The Company is an exempted company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands. The registered office address of the Company
is 190 Elgin Avenue, George Town, Grand Cayman, KY1-9008,
Cayman Islands.

During the year, the Group was principally involved in property
development, property leasing and management consulting
services.

In the opinion of the directors, the ultimate holding company of
the Company is Changxing International Co., Ltd.

WELTER Information about subsidiaries
RNABEEN B A A S FHDY Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out
LU below:

gMAL/ BRITLE/ KRRERL
A8 AR EELH BRI REEANE FTEXH

Issued ordinary/ Percentage of

Place of incorporation/ registered share  equity attributable

Name registration and business capital to the Company  Principal activities
(F)
('000)
EEFF:
Directly held:
EEREFERAA RBRAEE % 750 100.00% 1% & % B
Ample SINO Investments Limited British Virgin Islands US$50 Investment holding
FREBRERERADA ABEAES £ 750 100.00% 1% & £ ik
Zhongliang International Development Company Limited British Virgin Islands Us$50 Investment holding
BEEE:
Indirectly held:
MINEREEBER AR REAREME(HRE]),/ A B 10,000 68.24% MEHEH
FE R
Hangzhou Zhengliang Real Estate Co., Ltd. People’s Republic of China RMB10,000 Property development
(“PRC")/Mainland China

FRFERREEERAA RE/ R E R A B 550,000 56.17% WEME
Xixian New District Liangyue Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000 Property development
BEBRREEARARFTEY mE/REN A K # 20,000 35.99% MEME
Sugian Hongjin Real Estate Co., Ltd.™? PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000 Property development
BHEREXBERLA i/ E R A & #50,000 77.90% WERE
Fuzhou Hongyue Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000 Property development
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)

Bt B N 3 & B (&) Information about subsidiaries (Continued)
KRB EEMBRAROFBEEY W Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out
T (&) below: (Continued)
HMAL/ ERITLE/ ARRERS
A1 AfREELH R A REEIL TEXH
Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
Place of incorporation/ registered share  equity attributable
Name registration and business capital to the Company  Principal activities
(F)
('000)
BELFF (&)
Indirectly held: (Continued)
EEREEXERAA HE/RER A R # 160,000 68.73% MBI
Guangde Liangsheng Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB160,000 Property development
BIZARBHEREFRAFMEY R E R A B #50,000 36.00% MERE
Jinjiang Liangchen Real Estate Development Co., Ltd."*" PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000 Property development
GETRBEEBERDA hE/mEA A K %130,000 90.00% ¥ EH%E
Yueqing Liangsheng Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB130,000 Property development
CHARRHEREERAA hE/REN A K 50,000 76.48% M EHE
Sanming Zhongliang Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000 Property development
R IREREEBRDA L E R A R #10,000 53.77% MERE
Weifang Wenliang Jiahao Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000 Property development
ARNBEEEN SR RAEEEERDA B R E R A K #10,000 100.00% #¥R%
Metro Airport Liang Anshengshi Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000 Property development
ERTEREMERBEERA AV B/ E R A R #50,000 3831% MERE
Huanghua Liangsheng Real Estate Development Limited™® " PRG/Mainland China RMB50,000 Property development
ERTRABEEBRAA mE R ER A B 550,000 85.43% MEME
Ningbo Liangyong Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000 Property development
ERRALLEEBNERAT G LE AR % 100,000 6349% %M
Ningguo Liangding Business Management Consulting PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000 Property development
Co., Ltd.
BEERELERAA HE/HER A R #10,000 61.00% X
Boxing Runyong Property Co., Ltd PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000 Property development
ERTHAEMEBRDA HE/RER A B #50,000 70.00% I EH#E
Huangshi Zhongliang Real Estate Co., Ltd PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000 Property development
KBEREELFERAA B/ R E R A K #50,000 61.00% MERZE
Chengdu Zhengliang Property Co., Ltd PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000 Property development
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AFAREEER @ 1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)

i PNCIE-E S XE )]
AprREEH B RRAONFIBET N

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out

T (&) below: (Continued)

EMARL BERTLE/ ARRERS
1 HEMREELE R A REBHL FTEER

Issued ordinary/ Percentage of

Place of incorporation/ registered share  equity attributable

Name registration and business capital to the Company  Principal activities
(Fr)
('000)

BELFF ()
Indirectly held: (Continued)
FERREHMEREERAA HE/RER A B B 50,000 100.00% 1 % 55
Chifeng Liangyi Real Estate Development Co., Ltd PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000 Property development
HERREEBRDA mE /R E R A B B 50,000 54.53% MERE
Bengbu Liangan Property Co., Ltd PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000 Property development
WUALREEEBRA RE/RERM A K # 50,000 100.00% ¥ %7 %
Hubei Lianghong Property Co., Ltd PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000 Property development
EMREBLERRATA HE/RER A & #10,000 70.00% R
Ganzhou Liangchang Real Estate Co., Ltd PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000 Property development
HRPRERMEREERAR RE R E R A B 157,000 57.99% MERE
Nantong Zhongliangshun Real Estate Development Co., Ltd  PRC/Mainland China RMB157,000 Property development
BELZEEELBRA AT mE /R E R A B # 120,000 45.08% MERZE
Huangshan Liangshuo Real Estate Co., Ltd."¢" PRC/Mainland China RMB120,000 Property development
GHEEEXERA HE/RERM A B 20,000 56.40% MERE
Xuzhou Xurun Property Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000 Property development
REREBEERNA HE/RER A K% 460,000 61.06% R
Anaing Liangsheng Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB460,000 Property development
EETRREEERDA HE/RER A E % 450,000 100.00% #1 % 5%
Fuyang Liangrui Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB450,000 Property development
AERREEBRAR MY B/ R E R A B 850,000 38.22% MEME
Hefei Liangtuo Real Estate Co., Ltd"®" PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000 Property development
ENeREHEREERAFMEY HE/hER A R 848,570 4362% MERE
Changzhou Jinchen Real Estate Development Co., Ltd."*"  PRC/Mainland China RMB848,570 Property development
REGPRABEARAA VD HE/RER A E % 200,000 36.67% MERE
Wuyi Zhongliangchuang Real Estate Co., Ltd.M") PRC/Mainland China RMB200,000 Property development
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)

Bt B N 3 & B (&) Information about subsidiaries (Continued)
KRB EEMBRAROFBEEY W Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out
T (&) below: (Continued)
HMAL/ ERITLE/ ARRERS
A1 AfREELH R A REEIL TEXH
Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
Place of incorporation/ registered share  equity attributable
Name registration and business capital to the Company  Principal activities
(F)
('000)
BELFF (&)
Indirectly held: (Continued)
BEMABHELBERAA R/ R ER M A R #20,000 64.00% MEHE
Sugjian Liangxiwang Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000 Property development
WHREEHEREBRAA HRE R E R A R #10,000 57.32% MERE
Chenzhou Liangrui Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000 Property development
ECREEEUHEREERLA RE R E R A R #50,000 85.12% M E R
Xiangyang Jinrunxiang Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. ~ PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000 Property development
LRk EFERAA BE 7 #0.001 100.00% 1% & 1% B
Yangna Investment Co., Limited Hong Kong HK$0.001 Investment holding
HEREERAF & 7 #.0.001 100.00% #E %Rk
Yanghai Investment Co., Limited Hong Kong HK$0.001 Investment holding
MHEREEXBERLA R R E R A R #50,000 9332% MEHRE
Hangzhou Shichen Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000 Property development
LEPROEXBERERAA HE/RER A E #3,330,000 100.00% #EEK
Shanghai Zhongliang Enterprise Development Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB3,330,000 Investment holding
TERVELERAA HE/RER A K #10,000 100.00% #EEK
Shanghai Liangtong Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000 Investment holding
LBEBELERLA mE/ R ER A B B 10,000 100.00% &A1 RR
Shanghai Cijin Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000 Investment holding
HIRREEBRAA R R ER A R #50,000 100.00% % &1 R
Zhejiang Liangcheng Property Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000 Investment holding
TERHEELERATA HE/RER A K #10,000 100.00% #EEK
Shanghai Tiandu Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000 Investment holding
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)

AREIREBER @m) 1.

Ht B~ Bl & B ()

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

KRB EEMBRAROFBEEY W Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out
T (&) below: (Continued)

BEMARL BRTLE/ KAREL
£ AMREELE R A REBAL FBEHR

Issued ordinary/ Percentage of

Place of incorporation/ registered share  equity attributable

Name registration and business capital to the Company  Principal activities
(Fr)
('000)

BEEE ()
Indirectly held: (Continued)
FREBRERRA i 7 500 100.00% 1% & £ ik
Zhongliang International Co., Ltd. Hong Kong HK$500 Investment holding
BETRARHEREERLA RE/ R ER A B 50,000 100.00% &A1 RR
Fujian Zhongliang Real Estate Development Limited PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000 Investment holding
TEREEBEAAAERAA mE/HER A B 700,000 100.00% 1% & % B
Shanghai Liangzhuo Business Information Consulting Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB700,000 Investment holding
BREEERAA B B0 100.00% & & &R
Heng Rong Co., Ltd. Hong Kong HK$10 Investment holding
REREBRAR EBRAHE £ 150 100.00% 1% & 1% &
Liangheng Investment Company Limited British Virgin Islands US$50 Investment holding

M1 ARAREREASEZE QR MEA
““@i&%ﬁfﬂ&ﬂz%ﬁ@éﬂ bi:)
ENEBEZHRIENESHA
Eéﬁ(@%@TﬁEKEZ%QEE’ﬁE
H TEREBRE)NRBREMM
FEZERH AEEBHZERA
HAEEHNE RitZE2FARS
RAEENNEA R

Note 1: As the Group has exposure or rights to variable returns from its
involvement with those companies, and has the ability to affect those
returns through its majority voting position and the existing rights to
direct the relevant activities including but not limited to the budget,
pricing and promotion strategies of these companies, the Group has
control over these companies and these companies are thus accounted
for as subsidiaries of the Group.

FRINHEERA/TIBREANAFE
XEIBRASHEEFRELTEA

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for

MEDZ2ARARBIMNBERAR - EFR the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
ROVWHEMHBARFESES Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion

BERERARITE - of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
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2.1
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AEBMWRABREER
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2.1

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) (which
include all standards and interpretations, International
Accounting Standards (“IASs”) and Standing Interpretations
Committee interpretations) approved by the International
Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They
have been prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for investment properties, financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) and other financial liabilities
which have been measured at fair value. These financial
statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values
are rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise
indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2022. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e.,
existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct the
relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights
results in control. When the Company has, directly or indirectly,
less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee,
the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@

the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of
the investee;

rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.
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Notes to Financial Statements
202212 A 31 H 31 December 2022

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii)
the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (jii) the
cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (ii) the
fair value of any investment retained and (i) any resulting
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of
components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Going Concern Basis

The Group recorded a net loss of RMB1,621,239,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2022. As at 31 December 2022,
the Group’s total interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
and senior notes amounted to RMB26,735,152,000, out of
which RMB17,842,942,000 will be due for repayment within the
next twelve months, while its cash and cash equivalents
amounted to RMB14,603,726,000. As at 31 December 2022,
the Group had not repaid an aggregate amount of principal and
interest of RMB209,736,000 for senior notes due May 2022
and July 2022 and an aggregate amount of interest of
RMB343,867,000 for certain senior notes according to their
scheduled repayment dates. As at 31 December 2022, an
aggregate amount of principal of RMB2,700,636,000 for
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings had not been
repaid according to their scheduled repayment dates, triggering
certain long term interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
amounted to RMB189,959,000 becoming repayable on
demand. A winding-up petition was filed by a trustee of senior
notes due May 2022 against the Company on 21 November
2022.

The above conditions indicate the existence of material
uncertainties which may cast significant doubt over the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. In view of such
circumstances, the directors of the Company have undertaken
a number of plans and measures to improve the Group’s
liquidity and financial position, including:

(@  The Group has appointed financial and legal advisers to
assist it in a holistic solution for its offshore debts, in order
to reach a consensual solution with all the stakeholders as
soon as practicable;
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Going Concern Basis (Continued)

(b)

(©

The Group has appointed legal counsels in relation to the
winding-up petitions;

The Group has been actively negotiating with the Group’s
existing debt holders to seek renewal or extension for
repayment of the Group’s bank and other borrowings;

The Group will continue to actively communicate with
banks to secure relevant project development loans for
qualified project development in a timely manner;

The Group will continue to seek other alternative financing
and borrowings to finance the settlement of its existing
financial obligations and future operating and capital
expenditures;

The Group has prepared a business strategy plan focusing
on the acceleration of the sales of properties;

The Group has implemented measures to speed up the
collection of outstanding sales proceeds and effectively
control costs and expenses; and

The Group will continue to seek suitable opportunities to
dispose of its equity interests in certain project
development companies in order to generate additional
cash inflows.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that, taking into
account the above plans and measures, the Group will have
sufficient working capital to finance its operations and meet its
financial obligations as and when they fall due within the
following twelve months from 31 December 2022. Accordingly,
the directors of the Company are satisfied that it is appropriate
to prepare the consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2022 on a going concern
basis.
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Going Concern Basis (Continued)

Notwithstanding the above, significant uncertainties exist as to
whether the management of the Group will be able to
implement the aforementioned plans and measures. Whether
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern will
depend upon the Group’s ability to generate adequate financing
and operating cash flows through the following:

(i) successfully completing the holistic solution for its offshore
debts;

(i) successfully dismissing the winding-up petitions;

(i) successfully negotiating with the Group’s existing debt
holders for the renewal or extension for repayment of the
Group’s bank and other borrowings;

(iv) successfully securing project development loans for
qualified project development in a timely manner;

(v)  successfully obtaining additional new sources of financing
as and when needed;

(vi)  successfully carrying out the Group’s business strategy
plan including the acceleration of the sales of properties;

(vii) successfully implementing measures to speed up the
collection of outstanding sales proceeds and effectively
control costs and expenses; and

(viii) successfully disposing of the Group’s equity interests in
project development companies when suitable.

Should the Group be unable to operate as a going concern,
adjustments may have to be made to write down the carrying
values of assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any
further liabilities which might arise, and to reclassify non-current
assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and current
liabilities, respectively. The effect of these adjustments has not
been reflected in the consolidated financial statements.
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22 EFHEEHEHE 2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES
AEEBECRAFERBHRERT AR The Group has adopted the following revised IFRSs for the first
T 5 &S AT BIBR B 75 #R &5 2E Bl - time for the current year’s financial statements.
PR BE 7S R B2 AELE 2 FEt Amendments to IFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
AR E 35 Framework
1Ba7
& =+ B WE - BERE Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment:
F16KMIBE] B HEAEH Proceeds before Intended Use
B BT 13 50 A
BRe st R EERAK — BT Amendments to IAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of
FBITHEMEET BEHZHKAX Fulfiling a Contract
BRI & RIS RS Annual Improvements to  Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9,
ERI2018FZF  MER|ZFEAK - IFRS Standard llustrative Examples
2020F 2 FE  BIRBB®mE 2018-2020 accompanying IFRS 16, and
2§ HERFEI5R IAS 41
B B B 7S R

AR ZE 1658
B B RO F2 M
] F B B B2
FEHER]
EPARA: o8 3
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

The nature and the impact of the revised IFRSs that are
applicable to the Group are described below:

(@)

Amendments to IFRS 3 replace a reference to the
previous Framework for the Preparation and Presentation
of Financial Statements with a reference to the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting (the “Conceptual
Framework”) issued in June 2018 without significantly
changing its requirements. The amendments also add to
IFRS 3 an exception to its recognition principle for an
entity to refer to the Conceptual Framework to determine
what constitutes an asset or a liability. The exception
specifies that, for liabilities and contingent liabilities that
would be within the scope of IAS 37 or IFRIC 21 if they
were incurred separately rather than assumed in a
business combination, an entity applying IFRS 3 should
refer to IAS 37 or IFRIC 21 respectively instead of the
Conceptual Framework. Furthermore, the amendments
clarify that contingent assets do not qualify for recognition
at the acquisition date. The Group has applied the
amendments prospectively to business combinations that
occurred on or after 1 January 2022. As there were no
business combinations during the year, the amendments
did not have any impact on the financial position and
performance of the Group.

Amendments to IAS 16 prohibit an entity from deducting
from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
any proceeds from selling items produced while bringing
that asset to the location and condition necessary for it to
be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management. Instead, an entity recognises the proceeds
from selling any such items, and the cost of those items
as determined by IAS 2 Inventories, in profit or loss. The
Group has applied the amendments retrospectively to
items of property, plant and equipment made available for
use on or after 1 January 2021. Since there was no sale
of items produced prior to the property, plant and
equipment being available for use, the amendments did
not have any impact on the financial position or

performance of the Group.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(©

Amendments to IAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of
assessing whether a contract is onerous under IAS 37,
the cost of fulfilling the contract comprises the costs that
relate directly to the contract. Costs that relate directly to
a contract include both the incremental costs of fulfilling
that contract (e.g., direct labour and materials) and an
allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfiling that
contract (e.g., an allocation of the depreciation charge for
an item of property, plant and equipment used in fulfiling
the contract as well as contract management and
supervision costs). General and administrative costs do
not relate directly to a contract and are excluded unless
they are explicitly chargeable to the counterparty under
the contract. The Group has applied the amendments
prospectively to contracts for which it has not yet fulfilled
all its obligations at 1 January 2022 and no onerous
contracts were identified. Therefore, the amendments did
not have any impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group.

Annual Improvements to IFRS Standard 2018-2020 sets
out amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9, lllustrative Examples
accompanying IFRS 16, and IAS 41. Details of the
amendment that is applicable to the Group are as follows:

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees that an
entity includes when assessing whether the terms of a
new or modified financial liability are substantially different
from the terms of the original financial liability. These fees
include only those paid or received between the borrower
and the lender, including fees paid or received by either
the borrower or lender on the other’s behalf. The Group
has applied the amendment prospectively from 1 January
2022. The amendment did not have significant impact on
the financial position or performance of the Group.
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EEREMVBEBRE 2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSs
H=

The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs,
that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial

statements.

Amendments to IFRS 10
IAS 28 (2011)

Amendments to IFRS 16

IFRS 17

Amendments to IFRS 17

Amendments to IFRS 17

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 1
and IFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to IAS 8

Amendments to IAS 12

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?®

Insurance Contracts'

Insurance Contracts"®

Initial Application of IFRS 17 and

IFRS 9 — Comparative
Information®

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”)?

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current
(the “2020 Amendments”)* *

Disclosure of Accounting Policies’

Definition of Accounting Estimates’

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction'

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

3 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption

4 As a consequence of the 2022 Amendments, the effective date of the

2020 Amendments was deferred to annual periods beginning on or after

1 January 2024.

5 As a consequence of the amendments to IFRS 17 issued in October
2020, IFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary exemption that
permits insurers to apply IAS 39 rather than IFRS 9 for annual periods
beginning before 1 January 2023

6 An entity that chooses to apply the transition option relating to the
classification overlay set out in this amendment shall apply it on initial

application of IFRS 17
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSs

(Continued)

Further information about those IFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below:

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 (2011) address an
inconsistency between the requirements in IFRS 10 and in IAS
28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The
amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss resulting
from a downstream transaction when the sale or contribution of
assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture
constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets that
do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the
transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to
the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate
or joint venture. The amendments are to be applied
prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date of
amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 (2011) was removed by
the IASB in December 2015 and a new mandatory effective
date will be determined after the completion of a broader review
of accounting for associates and joint ventures. However, the
amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to IFRS 16 specify the requirements that a seller-
lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a sale and
leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does not
recognise any amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right
of use it retains. The amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and shall be
applied retrospectively to sale and leaseback transactions
entered into after the date of initial application of IFRS 16 (i.e., 1
January 2019). Earlier application is permitted. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSs

(Continued)

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilites as Current or
Non-current clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities as
current or non-current, in particular the determination over
whether an entity has a right to defer settlement of the liabilities
for at least 12 months after the reporting period. Classification of
a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise
its right to defer settlement of the liability. The amendments also
clarify the situations that are considered a settlement of a liability.
In 2022, the IASB issued the 2022 Amendments to further clarify
that, among covenants of a liability arising from a loan
arrangement, only those with which an entity must comply on or
before the reporting date affect the classification of that liability as
current or non-current. In addition, the 2022 Amendments require
additional disclosures by an entity that classifies liabilities arising
from loan arrangements as non-current when it has a right to
defer settlement of those liabilities that are subject to the entity
complying with future covenants within 12 months after the
reporting period. The amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and shall be
applied retrospectively. Earlier application is permitted. An entity
that applies the 2020 Amendments early is required to apply
simultaneously the 2022 Amendments, and vice versa. The
Group is currently assessing the impact of the amendments and
whether existing loan agreements may require revision. Based on
a preliminary assessment, the amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies require
entities to disclose their material accounting policy information
rather than their significant accounting policies. Accounting
policy information is material if, when considered together with
other information included in an entity’s financial statements, it
can reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the
primary users of general purpose financial statements make on
the basis of those financial statements. Amendments to IFRS
Practice Statement 2 provide non-mandatory guidance on how
to apply the concept of materiality to accounting policy
disclosures. Amendments to IAS 1 are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and earlier
application is permitted. Since the guidance provided in the
amendments to IFRS Practice Statement 2 is non-mandatory,
an effective date for these amendments is not necessary. The
Group is currently assessing the impact of the amendments on
the Group’s accounting policy disclosures.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSs

(Continued)

Amendments to IAS 8 clarify the distinction between changes in
accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies.
Accounting estimates are defined as monetary amounts in
financial statements that are subject to measurement
uncertainty. The amendments also clarify how entities use
measurement techniques and inputs to develop accounting
estimates. The amendments are effective for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and apply to
changes in accounting policies and changes in accounting
estimates that occur on or after the start of that period. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 12 narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exception in IAS 12 so that it no longer applies to
transactions that give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences, such as leases and decommissioning
obligations. Therefore, entities are required to recognise a
deferred tax asset (provided that sufficient taxable profit is
available) and a deferred tax liability for temporary differences
arising from these transactions. The amendments are effective
for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023 and shall be applied to transactions related to leases and
decommissioning obligations at the beginning of the earliest
comparative period presented, with any cumulative effect
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained
profits or other component of equity as appropriate at that date.
In addition, the amendments shall be applied prospectively to
transactions other than leases and decommissioning
obligations. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights
and over which it is in a position to exercise significant influence.
Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial
and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control
or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to
the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in associates and joint ventures are
stated in the consolidated statements of financial position at the
Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of
accounting, less any impairment losses. Adjustments are made
to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may
exist. The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and
other comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures is
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income. In addition, when there has been
a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate, the
Group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in
the consolidated statements of changes in equity. Unrealised
gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group
and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
investments in the associates, except where unrealised losses
provide evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred.
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates or joint
ventures is included as part of the Group’s investments in
associates or joint ventures.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a
joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not
remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be accounted
for under the equity method. In all other cases, upon loss of
significant influence over the associate or joint control over the
joint venture, the Group measures and recognises any retained
investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying
amount of the associate or joint venture upon loss of significant
influence or joint control and the fair value of the retained
investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit
or loss.

When an investment in an associate is classified as held for
sale, it is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.

Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. For each business combination, the
Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests
in the acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle
their holders to a proportionate share of net assets in the event
of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components of non-
controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the
acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition
date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in
host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair
value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the
Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the
identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the
sum of this consideration and other items is lower than the fair
value of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at
31 December. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition
date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or
groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether
other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those
units or groups of units.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to
which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less
than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or
group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within
that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured
based on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the
portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including
the leasehold property held as a right-of-use assets which
would otherwise meet the definition of an investment property)
held to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation, rather
than for use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course of
business. Such properties are measured initially at cost,
including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are stated at fair value, which reflects
market conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in profit or loss in the year in
which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an

investment property are recognised in profit or loss in the year
of the retirement or disposal.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Investment properties (Continued)

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-occupied
properties or inventories, the deemed cost of a property for
subsequent accounting is its fair value at the date of change in
use. If a property occupied by the Group as an owner-occupied
property becomes an investment property, the Group accounts
for such property in accordance with the policy stated under
“Property, plant and equipment and depreciation” for owned
property and/or accounts for such property in accordance with
the policy stated under “Right-of-use assets” for property held
as a right-of-use asset up to the date of change in use, and any
difference at that date between the carrying amount and the fair
value of the property is accounted for as a revaluation in
accordance with the policy stated under “Property, plant and
equipment and depreciation” above. For a transfer from
inventories to investment properties, any difference between the
fair value of the property at that date and its previous carrying
amount is recognised in profit or loss.

Transfers to or from investment property
Transfers to or from investment property shall be made when

there is a change in use evidenced by:

(@ commencement of owner-occupation, for a transfer from
investment property to owner-occupied property;

(b) commencement of development with a view to sale, for a
transfer from investment property to inventories;

(c) end of owner-occupation, for a transfer from owner-
occupied property to investment property; and

(d) inception of an operating lease to another party and the
property is held for leasing, for a transfer from inventories
to investment property.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Properties under development

Properties under development are intended to be held for sale
after completion.

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost
comprising land costs, construction costs, borrowing costs,
professional fees and other costs directly attributable to such
properties incurred during the development period and net
realisable value.

Properties under development are classified as current assets
unless those will not be realised in normal operating cycle. On
completion, the properties are transferred to completed
properties held for sale.

Completed properties held for sale

Completed properties held for sale are stated in the statements
of financial position at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined by an apportionment of the total costs of
land and buildings attributable to the unsold properties. Net
realisable value takes into account the price ultimately expected
to be realised, less estimated costs to be incurred in selling the
properties.

Allocation of property development costs

Land costs are allocated to each unit according to their
respective saleable gross floor areas (“GFA”) to the total
saleable GFA. Construction costs relating to units were
identified and allocated specifically. Common construction costs
have been allocated according to the saleable GFA similar to
land costs.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition.
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either
finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are
subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that
the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period
and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite
useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)

Software is stated at cost less any impairment loss and is
amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated useful life
of 5 years.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to
make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.

(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at
cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes
the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct
costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Office properties 110 6 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)
(b) Lease liabilities

(c)

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease payments to
be made over the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts
expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The
lease payments also include the exercise price of a
purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the
Group and payments of penalties for termination of a
lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the
option to terminate the lease. The variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised
as an expense in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in
the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in lease
payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a change in
assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of office equipment (that
is those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or
less from the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option). It also applies the recognition exemption
for leases of low-value assets to leases of office equipment
and laptop computers that are considered to be of low
value. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or
when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either
an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are
classified as operating leases. When a contract contains lease
and non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for
on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included in
revenue in the statement of profit or loss due to its operating
nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same
basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as
revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying assets to the lessee are
accounted for as finance leases.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost, fair value through other
comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting the
effect of a significant financing component, the Group initially
measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a
financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction
costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under IFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set
out for “Revenue recognition” below.
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Notes to Financial Statements
202212 A 31 H 31 December 2022

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are
not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit
or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate
cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows
will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the
financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and
measured at amortised cost are held within a business model
with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified and
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are
held within a business model with the objective of both holding
to collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets
which are not held within the aforementioned business models
are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss (“FVTPL”)
are carried in the statement of financial position at fair value with
net changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or
loss.

This category includes equity investments which the Group had
not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value through other
comprehensive income. Dividends on equity investments
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
are also recognised as other income in the statement of profit
or loss when the right of payment has been established, it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with the
dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend
can be measured reliably.
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Notes to Financial Statements
202212 A 31 H 31 December 2022

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset
or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a)
the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and
rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group
continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the
rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to
the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that
result from default events that are possible within the next 12
months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for
which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit
risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since
initial recognition. When making the assessment, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information.
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Notes to Financial Statements
202212 A 31 H 31 December 2022

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

General approach (Continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain
cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in
default when internal or external information indicates that the
Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts
in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held
by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash
flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade
receivables which apply the simplified approach as detailed
below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs.
Under the simplified approach, the Group does not track
changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

For trade receivables that contain a significant financing
component and lease receivables, the Group chooses as its
accounting policy to adopt the simplified approach in calculating
ECLs with policies as described above.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
borrowings, or payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings, corporate bonds and senior notes (collectively
called “loans and borrowings”), lease liabilities, trade and bills
payables, other payables, and amounts due to related parties.
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Notes to Financial Statements
202212 A 31 H 31 December 2022

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
and lease liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated
at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are
an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in profit or
loss.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to
make a payment when due in accordance with the terms of a
debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract is recognised
initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures the
financial guarantee contracts at the higher of: () the ECL
allowance determined in accordance with the policy as set out
in “Impairment of financial assets”; and (i) the amount initially
recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative amount of
income recognised.

Senior notes

Senior notes issued by the Company that contain both liability
and early redemption option (which is not closely related to the
host contract) are classified separately into respective items on
initial recognition. At the date of issue, both the liability and early
redemption option components are recognised at fair value.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Senior notes (Continued)

In subsequent periods, the debt component of the senior notes
is carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
The early redemption option is measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the senior notes are
allocated to the liability and early redemption option
components in proportion to their relative fair values.
Transaction costs relating to the early redemption option are
charged to profit or loss immediately. Transaction costs relating
to the debt component are included in the carrying amount of
the liability portion and amortised over the period of the senior
notes using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of
an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange
or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original
liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference
between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit
or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if, and
only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.
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Notes to Financial Statements
202212 A 31 H 31 December 2022

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statements of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short
maturity of generally within three months when acquired, less
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statements of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
each of the Reporting period of the future expenditures
expected 1o be required to settle the obligation. The increase in
the discounted present value amount arising from the passage
of time is included in finance costs in profit or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods
are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or
paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of each of the Reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in which
the Group operates.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

° where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

U in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures when the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, and the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can
be utilised, except:

° where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will
reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can be
utilised.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of
the reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and
only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets
and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or
different taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax
liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on
a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for which it
is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to
a deferred income account and is released to profit or loss over
the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual
instalments or deducted from the carrying amount of the asset
and released to profit or loss by way of a reduced depreciation
charge.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which the
Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or
services to the customer. The variable consideration is
estimated at contract inception and constrained until it is highly
probable that a significant revenue reversal in the amount of
cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the
associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing the
transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than one
year, revenue is measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group
and the customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides the Group with
a significant financial benefit for more than one year, revenue
recognised under the contract includes the interest expense
accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest
method. For a contract where the period between the payment
by the customer and the transfer of the promised goods or
services is one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted
for the effects of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in IFRS 15.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Sale of properties

Revenue is recognised when or as the control of the asset is
transferred to the customer. Depending on the terms of the
contract and the laws that apply to the contract, control of the
asset may transfer over time or at a point in time. Control of the
asset is transferred over time if the Group’s performance:

° provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

° creates and enhances an asset that the customer controls
as the Group performs; or

° does not create an asset with an alternative use to the
Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.

If control of the asset transfers over time, revenue is recognised
over the period of the contract by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of that performance obligation.
Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
purchaser obtains control of the asset.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation is measured based on the Group’s efforts or inputs
to the satisfaction of the performance obligation, by reference
to the contract costs incurred up to the end of each reporting
period as a percentage of total estimated costs for each
contract.

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the
promised amount of consideration for the effect of financing
component if it is significant.

For a property development and sales contract for which the
control of the property is transferred at a point in time, revenue
is recognised when the customer obtains the physical
possession or the legal title of the completed property and the
Group has the present right to payment and the collection of
the consideration is probable.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Property management services

Property management service income derived from the
provision of property maintenance and management services is
recognised when the relevant services are rendered and the
customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group.

Management consulting services

Management consulting service income derived from the
provision of support services in connection with development of
property projects is recognised when the relevant services are
rendered and the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group.

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an
index or a rate are recognised as income in the accounting
period in which they are incurred.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that discounts the
estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the
financial instrument of the net carrying amount of the financial
asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the
Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or
a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before
the Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract
liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group performs
under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or
services to the customer).
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Notes to Financial Statements
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the
form of share-based payments, whereby employees render
services in exchange for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for
grants is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at
which they are granted. The fair value is determined by an
external valuer using a binomial model, further details of which
are given in note 33 to the financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the performance
and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense
recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each
reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent to
which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best
estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately
vest. The charge or credit to the statement of profit or loss for a
period represents the movement in the cumulative expense
recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken
into account when determining the grant date fair value of
awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being met is
assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market performance
conditions are reflected within the grant date fair value. Any
other conditions attached to an award, but without an
associated service requirement, are considered to be non-
vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the
fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an
award unless there are also service and/or performance
conditions.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met, no
expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or non-
vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition,
an expense is recognised for any modification that increases
the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise
beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of
modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This
includes any award where non-vesting conditions within the
control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award,
and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it is
granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they
were a modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Other employee benefits

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a defined
contribution pension scheme centrally operated by the local
municipal government. These subsidiaries are required to
contribute a certain proportion of its payroll costs to the central
pension scheme. The only obligation of the Company with
respect to the central pension scheme is to make the required
contributions. No forfeited contribution under the central
pension scheme is available to reduce the contribution payable
in future years. The contributions are charged to profit or loss as
they become payable in accordance with the rules of the central
pension scheme.

The Group also participates in a pension scheme under the
rules and regulations of the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
Ordinance (“MPF Scheme”) for all employees in Hong Kong,
which is a defined contribution retirement scheme. The
contributions to the MPF Scheme are based on minimum
statutory contribution requirement of 5% of eligible employees’
relevant aggregate income. No forfeited contribution under the
MPF Scheme is available to reduce the contribution payable in
future years. The assets of this pension scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in independently
administered funds.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e. assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of
those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases
when the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All
other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they
are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other
costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of
funds.

151



PREREERR AR 2022F F K

A I R EE

Notes to Financial Statements
2022 %12 A 31 H 31 December 2022

24

152

EAESTHREEBE@

[ g=!

R PIR R Re L E%R - REIRR
BHALEBE EZRAHARERE
MM TRE -
mERERKREERSIE  BAK

AREMABERR@LA@AE TE

FERTHKREER - B F
HIRR B 4R e B I B B 1 B WA R
BfE-
o

AEEXERNVBENMEEN
HADNDERZERKEMENE
EEBERENEB(EEE A
E-HEVBHRRUAARBZ7)
MARBNDEEESARE )
AXREEITEXBHERBEET K
SEETERESHIIER %%K
CHRERDEEENEZEBEXR
MBRTERBER ALK -

NHONESHENEBEERARRY

%mﬁﬁﬂﬁ¢WKME T E &
AR EREBEAMEL

%ﬁﬁ%%mﬁﬁﬁw°

AINE S B MIRESL ARG ER
FEKHBRERAXHHMEXRE
- ERBELMZERFEFE
MEERERRAEATFEERN
EXBE BERAFESEN
EXBRBELEN KRB ERER
REBAFEEHNHWRAEE—
By 77 BRI (BD A B YR a8 2k &5 18
REME2EWDRKBETERNEA
BHELZRIT D BN HE 2 mEUK
BB HER)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed
final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of
association grant the directors the authority to declare interim
dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are recognised
immediately as a liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

ltems included in the financial information of each of the Group’s
entities are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented
in BRMB, which is the Company’s functional currency because
the Group’s principal operations are carried out in the PRC.
Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities in the
Group are initially recorded using their respective functional
currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling
at the end of each of the reporting period. Differences arising on
settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in
profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-
monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with the
recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item
(i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value gain or
loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or
loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit
or loss, respectively).
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Notes to Financial Statements
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an
advance consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date
on which the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability arising from the advance consideration.
If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of
the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are
currencies other than the RMB. As at the end of the reporting
period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated
into RMB at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their statements of profit or loss are
translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange rates for
the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require @ material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Going Concern Consideration

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
apart from those involving estimations, management has
prepared the consolidated financial statements on the
assumption that the Group will be able to operate as a going
concern in the coming year, which is a critical judgement that
has the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements. The assessment of the going
concern assumption involves making a judgement by the
directors, at a particular point of time, about the future outcome
of events or conditions which are inherently uncertain. The
directors consider that the Group has the capability to continue
as a going concern and the major events or conditions, which
may give rise to business risks, that may individually or
collectively cast a significant doubt upon the going concern
assumption are set out in note 2.1 to the financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements:

Revenue recognition

Revenue from sales of properties is recognised over time when
the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date; otherwise,
revenue is recognised at the point in time when the buyer
obtains control of the completed property. The Group may not
change or substitute the property unit or redirect the property
unit for another use due to the contractual restrictions with the
customer and thus the property unit does not have an
alternative use to the Group. However, whether there is an
enforceable right to payment depends on the terms of sales
contract and the interpretation of the applicable laws that apply
to the contract. Such determination requires significant
judgements.

In assessing whether the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for its sale contracts, the Group has obtained legal
counsel’s opinion regarding the enforceability of the right to
payment, including an assessment on the contractual terms as
well as any legislation that could supplement or override those
contractual terms, and conducted an evaluation of any
existence of circumstances that could restrict the Group to
enforce its right to payment for specific performance.
Management uses judgements, based on legal counsel’'s
opinion, to classify sales contracts into those with right to
payment and those without the right. Management will reassess
their judgements on a regular basis to identify and evaluate the
existence of any circumstances that could affect the Group’s
enforceable right to payment and the implication on the
accounting for sales contracts.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Property lease classification — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its
investment property portfolio. The Group has determined,
based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the
arrangements, such as the lease term not constituting a major
part of the economic life of the commercial property and the
present value of the minimum lease payments not amounting to
substantially all the fair value of the commercial property, that it
retains substantially all the significant risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of these properties which are leased out
and accounts for the contracts as operating leases.

Classification between investment properties and owner-
occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making that
judgement. Investment property is a property held to earn
rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore, the Group
considers whether a property generates cash flows largely
independently of the other assets held by the Group. Some
properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals or for
capital appreciation and another portion that is held for use in
the production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes. If these portions could be sold
separately or leased out separately under a finance lease, the
Group accounts for the portions separately. If the portions could
not be sold separately, the property is an investment property
only if an insignificant portion is held for use in the production or
supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes.
Judgement is made on an individual property basis to determine
whether ancillary services are so significant that a property does
not qualify as an investment property.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below:

Revenue recognition

The Group recognises property development revenue over time
for certain properties by reference to the progress towards
complete satisfaction of the performance obligation at the
reporting date. The progress is measured based on the Group’s
efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of the performance
obligation, by reference to the contract costs incurred up to the
end of each reporting period as a percentage of total estimated
costs for each property unit in the contract. The Group
calculated the cost allocation based on the type of properties,
gross and saleable floor areas. Significant judgements and
estimations are required in determining the completeness of the
estimated total costs and the accuracy of progress towards
complete satisfaction of the performance obligation at the
reporting date. The Group has a standard monthly cost
budgeting and estimate completion process in which
management reviews the development progress and execution
of the performance obligations. As part of this process,
management reviews information including but not limited to,
the cost to achieve the schedule. Changes in cost estimates in
future periods can affect the Group’s revenue recognised. In
making the above estimations, the Group relies on past
experience and work of contractors and, if appropriate,
surveyors. The Group recognised revenue of RMB2,051,190,000
(2021: RMB86,105,989,000) for sale of properties transferred over
time for the year end 31 December 2022.

Provision for properties under development and completed
properties held for sale

The Group’s properties under development and completed
properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Based on the Group’s historical experience and
the nature of the subject properties, the Group makes estimates
of the selling prices, the costs of completion of properties under
development, and the costs to be incurred in selling the
properties based on prevailing market conditions.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

If there is an increase in costs to completion or a decrease in
net sales value, the net realisable value will decrease and this
may result in a provision for properties under development and
completed properties held for sale. Such provision requires the
use of judgement and estimates. Where the expectation is
different from the original estimate, the carrying value and
provision for properties in the periods in which such estimate is
changed will be adjusted accordingly. The carrying amount of
properties under development and completed properties held
for sale at 31 December 2022 was RMB112,418,842,000 (2021:
RMB132,008,659,000) and RMB24,696,306,000 (2021:
RMB21,272,280,000). Further details are given in note 21 and
note 22, respectively.

Significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the
promised amount of consideration for the effects of the timing
value of money if the timing of payments agreed to by the
parties to the contract provides the Group with a significant
benefit of financing.

Advance payments received from customers provides a
significant financing benefit to the Group. Although the Group is
required to place all deposits and periodic payments received
from the pre-completion sales in a stakeholder account, the
Group is able to benefit from those advance payment as it can
withdraw money from that account to pay for expended
construction costs on the project. The advance payments
received in effect reduce the Group’s need to rely on other
sources of financing.

The amount of the financing component is estimated at the
inception of the contract. After contract inception, the discount
rate is not updated for changes in interest rates or other
circumstances, such as a change in credit risk. The period of
financing is from the time that the payment is received until the
transfer of goods to the customers.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

PRC corporate income tax (“CIT”)

The Group is subject to corporate income taxes in the PRC. As
a result of the fact that certain matters relating to the income
taxes have not been confirmed by the local tax bureau,
objective estimate and judgement based on currently enacted
tax laws, regulations and other related policies are required in
determining the provision for income taxes to be made. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts originally recorded, the differences will impact on the
income tax and tax provisions in the period in which the
differences realise.

PRC land appreciation tax (“LAT”)

The Group is subject to LAT in the PRC. The provision for LAT
is based on management’s best estimates according to the
understanding of the requirements set forth in the relevant PRC
tax laws and regulations. The actual LAT liabilities are subject to
the determination by the tax authorities upon the completion of
the property development projects. The Group has not finalised
its LAT calculation and payments with the tax authorities for
certain of its property development projects. The final outcome
could be different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
and any differences will impact on the LAT expenses and the
related provision in the period in which the differences realise.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets (including the right-of-use
assets) at the end of the reporting period. Other non-financial
assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators that
the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment
exists when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating
unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its
fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The
calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is based on
available data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length
transaction of similar assets or observable market prices less
incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When value in use
calculations are undertaken, management must estimate the
expected future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating
unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate
the present value of those cash flows.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Estimate of fair value of investment properties

In the absence of current prices in an active market for similar
properties, the Group considers information from a variety of
sources, including:

(@ current prices in an active market for properties of a
different nature, condition or location, adjusted to reflect
those differences;

(b)  recent prices of similar properties on less active markets,
with adjustments to reflect any changes in economic
conditions since the date of the transactions that occurred
at those prices; and

(c) discounted cash flow projections based on reliable
estimates of future cash flows, supported by the terms of
any existing lease and other contracts and (when possible)
by external evidence such as current market rents for
similar properties in the same location and condition, and
using discount rates that reflect current market
assessments of the uncertainty in the amount and timing
of the cash flows.

At 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of investment
properties was RMB1,543,700,000 (2021: RMB1,410,200,000).
Further details, including the key assumptions used for fair value
measurement are given in note 14 to the financial statements.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the losses can be utilised. Significant
management judgement is required to determine the amount of
deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the
likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with
future tax planning strategies. The carrying value of deferred tax
assets relating to recognised tax losses at 31 December 2022
was RMB2,971,838,000 (2021: RMB3,481,658,000). The
amount of unrecognised tax losses at 31 December 2022 was
RMB3,059,723,000 (2021: RMB1,786,055,000). Further details
are contained in note 19 to the financial statements.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

Management monitors the operating results of the Group’s
business which includes property development by project
location for the purpose of making decisions about resource
allocation and performance assessment, while no revenue, net
profit or total assets from a single location exceeded 10% of the
Group’s consolidated revenue, net profit or total assets,
respectively. As all locations have similar economic
characteristics with similar nature of property development and
leasing and management, nature of the aforementioned
business processes, type or class of customers for the
aforementioned businesses and methods used to distribute the
properties or provide the services, all locations were aggregated
as one reportable operating segment.

Geographical information

No geographical information is presented as the Group’s
revenue from the external customers is derived solely from its
operation in Mainland China and no non-current assets of the
Group are located outside Mainland China.

Information about major customers

No revenue from sales to a single customer or a group of
customers under common control accounted for 10% or more
of the Group’s revenue for the reporting period.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

HWARHDHTAT : An analysis of revenue is as follows:

20224 20214
2022 2021
AR®BTR AR®BTT
RMB’000 RMB’000

FEEFAELBHKA Revenue from contracts with
customers 39,317,201 76,096,440

B H 2R 8 A Revenue from other sources
VTR E W Property lease income 12,213 17,720
39,329,414 76,114,160

.,
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

(Continued)
REFEFAHHKRA Revenue from contracts with customers
iy DBIHEBWAER (i) Disaggregated revenue information
2022 2021 F
2022 2021
ARET T AR T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
-
EmBREER Types of goods or services
MEHE Sale of properties 39,169,158 75,533,446
H b AR 15 Other services 148,043 562,994
RERBFEALHMBERA Total revenue from contracts with
customers 39,317,201 76,096,440
W A T SRR Timing of revenue recognition
RERESHHEZN Sale of properties transferred
MEEE at a point in time 37,117,968 69,427,457
BEREEEHYEEE Sale of properties transferred
over time 2,051,190 6,105,989
BE B A #2175 Services transferred over time 148,043 562,994
REREFPEHMEBERA Total revenue from contracts with
customers 39,317,201 76,096,440

TRBTRAREHEFARS
WOz AEMBEYL 8 BEHME
BITHRENEEERNEHER
WA :

.,

The following table shows the amounts of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that were
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of the
reporting period and recognised from performance

obligations satisfied in previous periods:

HABEBE 2 ANAED
BRI

WEHE

Revenue recognised that was
included in contract liabilities

at the beginning of the reporting

period:
Sale of properties

2022 £ 2021 4
2022 2021
ARETRT ARBETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
34,159,660 63,871,686

.,
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
(ii) Performance obligations
Information of the Group’s performance obligations is

summarised below:

Sale of properties

For property sales contracts, the Group receives
payments from customers based on billing schedules as
established in the contracts. Payments are usually
received in advance of the performance under the
contracts.

Provision of services

For other service contracts, the Group recognises revenue
equal to the right to invoice amount when it corresponds
directly with the value to the customer of the Group’s
performance to date, on a monthly basis. The majority of
the service contracts do not have a fixed term. The Group
has elected the practical expedient for not to disclose the
remaining performance obligations for these types of
contracts.

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the
remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially

SERLSBENOT : unsatisfied) as at 31 December are as follows:

20224 2021 4F

2022 2021

AR¥ET T AR T T

RMB’000 RMB’000

e

TEHERAEKANEE Amounts expected to be
recognised as revenue

—F K Within one year 59,236,583 68,278,594

—F % After one year 93,139,417 93,663,221

152,376,000 161,941,815

.,

163



FREREEARAT 2022F FH

A I R EE

Notes to Financial Statements
2022 %12 A 31 H 31 December 2022

5. WA - Hfi A R U

KEEFEHHNBA (H)

(ii)

BHE T (E)

EHRH (&)

FRFEHR —FERERABRA
MAOBREZFRHBBEHETORS
BReHEEENR=ZFRNETH
%%%%ﬁ% R 202212 A
318 D= E1E R HE
mﬂ%%m;&m%x%ﬁﬁ
% %8 A A R 589,685,000 7T
FEHBER=ZFULtERAK
A L EENSEIBER
BR &l Y AT AR (E o

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(ii) Performance obligations (Continued)

Provision of services (Continued)

The above amounts of transaction prices allocated to the
remaining performance obligations which are expected to
be recognised as revenue after one year relate to the sale
of properties that are to be satisfied within three years. As
at 31 December 2022, the aggregate amount of
transaction prices allocated to the remaining performance
obligations relate to the provision of services is
RMB589,685,000, which is expected to be recognised as
revenue over three years. The amounts disclosed above
do not include variable consideration which is constrain.

2022 F 2021 4F
2022 2021
ARETR ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000

A,

H ity A & W &= Other income and gains
HENEB QR WS Gain on disposal of subsidiaries 280,564 407,243
2R & Forfeiture of deposits 35,810 26,230
BT 78 B Government grants 25,137 38,869
PV EREHNNENRTE Remeasurement of financial
guarantee contracts 1,867 80,381
fEH Z5E % Foreign exchange differences, net - 241,427
HEaED % &H A ) Gain on disposal of joint ventures
g 2= and associates - 147,188
Hh, Others 19,505 17,750
362,883 959,088
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6. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX

AEFBFEM(ER) /FAECHNE The Group’s (loss)/profit before tax is arrived at after charging/
GITA)UT&IE: (crediting):
2022 2021 4F
2022 2021
e AR®TrR AR®ET T
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
-
EEMEKR Cost of properties sold 22 33,519,437 62,646,725
B 5 AR 7 A R Cost of services provided 53,483 188,235
MEEYEERA Impairment losses recognised for
SR B E properties under development 21 1,137,910 731,125
BEBEHEMNETITY  Impairment losses recognised for
X¥MERABESE completed properties held for sale 22 540,536 100,768
HEBEEENE T IY  Impairment losses written off for
XM R EEE completed properties held for sale 22 (434,799) (109,060)
ME - BENFBHEITE  Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 13 31,395 35,005
CREEENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 16 43,921 50,502
H fih 2 1 A B 5 Amortisation of other intangible assets 15 9,859 4,379
T ABEBRBEEH  Lease payments not included in the
HENK measurement of lease liabilities 16 5,964 9,301
% B4R 7 B Auditor’s remuneration 13,000 13,864
BERAMHEZ Employee benefit expense (including
(BREEERZES{TH  directors’ and chief executive’s
ANBE M (M7E8)) : remuneration (note 8)):
ITERE® Wages and salaries 1,263,705 1,827,031
BEZLHEMHI R Pension scheme contributions and
ran-—g =R social welfare 140,109 226,080
VAR 25 45 B 1) BB AR A
G2 Equity-settled share option expenses 33 (4,002) 12,097
PEH =% 55 Foreign exchange differences, net 651,447 (241,427)

SEATAN IR - B e
WHEEMEENS
MEERME

HEARELERBER
AE R ()

HEWX  BFER&E
Y z8

Impairment of financial assets included
in prepayments, other receivables and

other assets 24 63,022 5,081
Loss/(gain) on disposal of joint ventures

and associates 66,769 (147,188)
Gain on disposal of items of property,

plant and equipment 954 704

165



FREREEARAT 2022F FH

A I R EE

Notes to Financial Statements

20224 12 A 31 H 31 December 2022

166

#l & B 2 7. FINANCE COSTS
BEXASHTOT An analysis of finance costs is as follows:
2022 20214
2022 2021
AR®TRT AR%Tr
RMB’000 RMB’000
HITEFRAMER  EHRZEHE L Interest on bank loans and other
BEEREZEFMESHETE borrowings, senior notes and
proceeds from asset-backed
securities 1,807,885 4,115,312
WAGHEENFERZ Interest expense arising from revenue
contracts 1,211,746 650,568
HEBEMHNE Interest on lease liabilities 2,302 7,455
WIEE A FEFAEBED Total interest expense on financial
cHMABENEMX A liabilities not at fair value through
profit or loss 3,021,933 4,773,335

B BARERE

Less: Interest capitalised

(2,624,755) (4,125,874)

397,178 647,461

.,
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

REMUNERATION
BiEEDHEA FBDQAIEHE Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the vyear,
383(1)@) * b) * ) g Kk~ al (BE disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c)
EEZRMCERNERE) RO E25 5 and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of
B AFEESRESTBAES the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Ban s - Directors) Regulation, is as follows:
20224 20214
2022 2021
AR®ET R ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
——
e Fees 1,110 1,110
HEM B - Other emoluments:
ITE& - ZBENREMEF Salaries, allowances
and benefits in kind 14,382 19,031
BEHEe Performance-related bonuses* - 4,842
NHEREENERER Equity-settled share option
expenses 336 324
BExctEERREEREA Pension scheme contributions and
social welfare 336 343
16,164 25,650
—
* KARETHITEESHREESES & * Certain executive directors of the Company are entitled to bonus

REeDEAKERVEFEER -

payments which are associated with the profit after tax of the Group.

ETESZEBEREALNRIHNEIREZ Certain directors were granted share options, in respect of their
TEHARNEBERHENRSEREBER services to the Group, under the share option scheme of the
BooE— ST EERNM B HRERN T Company, further details of which are set out in note 33 to the
W ZEORNEBEHRNEERRME financial statements. The fair value of such options, which has
RZEREAFEIINEHHEAE been recognised in the statement of profit or loss over the
FAXRFEYHBRERAHFESED vesting period, was determined as at the date of grant and the
AL EERESITEHRA S H M amount included in the financial statements for the current year

AR o

is included in the above directors’ and chief executive’s
remuneration disclosures.
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8. EERRETHAEHFM@ 8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (Continued)
(@) BIFHITES (a) Independent non-executive directors
BEEZ L FTRBEEER Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung, Mr. Wang Kaiguo and Mr. Wu
ROBEOF £ R2019F 6 A19H Xiaobo were appointed as independent non-executive
BZERARAB)BILIERTT directors of the Company on 19 June 2019.
BEEo
2022 F 20214
2022 2021
AR®TRT AR%T
RMB’000 RMB’000
we Fees
—HEELS L — Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung 370 370
—THREEE — Mr. Wang Kaiguo 370 370
— RERSTE — Mr. Wu Xiaobo 370 370
1,110 1,110

RERN - BEEMNBILIFATT
EEAEMEI (20214 « #)

b) BITES

BalE ROz kE  =H
FEEE -HBEEAERMAE
% 4 5 Bl A20184F3H29H -
2019412 A23H - 2019412 A
23 H - 2019412 23 H K& 2021
F7TA1HEZEZAARRE#H
TEE- R ZTMELER
202196 A30H R LA A Bl #
TEE-

168

(b)

.,

There was no other emolument payable to the
independent non-executive directors during the year (2021:
Nil).

Executive directors

Mr. Yang Jian, Mr. Chen Hongliang, Mr. Li Heli, Mr. Yau
Sze Ka (Albert) and Mr. He Jian were appointed as
executive directors of the Company on 29 March 2018,
23 December 2019, 23 December 2019 ,23 December
2019 and 1 July 2021, respectively. In the meantime,
Mr. Li Heli retired as an executive director of the Company
on 30 June 2021.
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8. EERERSTHAEHMm@m 8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

REMUNERATION (Continued)

(b) HITEZEH) (b)
HZE2022F 12831 B LEE

Executive directors (Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2022

254

15 2R AR NEREEN

kA BNEAN Eu%s R EER BRERX Fmast
Salaries,

allowances Pension scheme Equity-settled
and benefits Performance-  contributions and share option Total
Fees inkind  related bonuses social welfare expenses remuneration
ARBTR  AR¥TR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

BES: Executive directors:
-HE%E — Mr. Yang Jian - 4,222 - 141 - 4,363
-Baz%L — Mr. Chen Hongliang - 2,600 - 88 297 2,985
- [ERE — Mr. He Jian - 2,200 - 91 39 2,330
-HEERE — Mr. Yau Sze Ka (Albert) - 5,360 - 16 = 5,376
- 14,382 - 336 336 15,054

BZE2021 12831 B LEE Year ended 31 December 2021

B£%

I& BER B 5 IEREEH

e ENET BuEs Rit&EH BRERY et
Salaries,

allowances Pension scheme Equity-settled

and benefits Performance-  contributions and share option
Fees inkind  related bonuses social welfare expenses  Total remuneration
ARETT  ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

BES: Executive directors:

-Hal%E — Mr. Yang Jian - 7,307 3,248 121 - 10,676
-RURELE — Mr. Chen Hongliang - 3,500 300 84 287 4171
—fIgl%E — Mr. He Jian - 1,843 144 90 kig 2,114
-HEREE — Mr. Yau Sze Ka (Albert) - 4,631 400 15 - 5,046
- ENREE — Mr. LiHeli - 1,750 750 33 - 2,533
- 19,031 4,842 343 324 24,540

RER BEEEIERTR
A B IRE KR B HRE L (7] #r B
H 22 B o

There was no arrangement under which a director or the
chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the year.
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TEBSHHNES

FAMNhEmeiMEERENA
BEQRRIF:ZREF) EFHFH
FIEE N E XM FES - Bl = 2022F &
2021F 12 A31HIEFEE AR AR
AT MEEMNTFMFBOT

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included four
directors (2021: three directors), details of whose remuneration
are set out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration for the
years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 of the five highest
paid employees of the Company are as follows:

20224 20214
2022 2021
ARMFTRT AREFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000

TE ZBREMET Salaries, allowances and benefits in
kind 16,302 19,293
BEWEe Performance related bonuses = 5,498
DESEENBERER Equity-settled share option expenses 336 287

BEEZSTEHEHRIREEREF Pension scheme contributions and

social welfare 473 417
17,111 25,495

F A TR AT 6 E M S E R I
BETRABSEHMIESR AR
mF :

.,

The remuneration of the non-director and non-chief executive
highest paid employees within the following bands is as follows:

EEAH

Number of employees
2022 F 20214
2022 2021
= % 2,000,000/ 7T Nil to HK$2,000,000 — —
2,000,001 /% 7T £ 2,500,000 7 7T HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 1 —
2,500,001 /% T £ 3,000,000 % 7T HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 - —
3,000,001 /% T & 3,500,000 7 7T HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 - 2
1 2

AREBVWEBARATNEETH AL R
SHEMALINME  EEBER
EMARNEBE S EMARNEE B

H RS ERRERIfE -
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No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors of the
Company or the five highest paid individuals as an inducement
to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of
office.
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B AR BAMNERMAEN - R
BEHE AEERFEEMAKL
W EBARBAMMAEN AR
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SEES TR
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REIRMR AR RERAERE
AT IBERGE - FH REHER
HEHE IR ERBREARE L
M HEETREEN RILE -

A IR R EE

Notes to Financial Statements
202212 A 31 H 31 December 2022

10. INCOME TAX

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profits
arising in or derived from the tax jurisdictions in which members
of the Group are domiciled and operate. Pursuant to the rules
and regulations of the Cayman Islands, the Company and the
Group’s subsidiaries incorporated in the Cayman Islands are
not subject to any income tax. The Group’s subsidiary
incorporated in Hong Kong is not liable for income tax as it did
not have any assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the
reporting period.

Subsidiaries of the Group operating in Mainland China are
subject to the PRC corporate income tax with a tax rate of 25%
for the reporting period.

LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on
the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds from the sale
of properties less deductible expenditures including land costs,
borrowing costs and other property development expenditures.
The Group has estimated, made and included in taxation a
provision for LAT according to the requirements set forth in the
relevant Mainland China tax laws and regulations. The LAT
provision is subject to the final review and approval by the local
tax bureau.

2022 & 2021 4F
2022 2021
AR®BTR ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
-
BIEAFR I8 - Current tax:
R ZEER PRC corporate income tax 489,884 2,960,984
R -t M E R PRC LAT 452,747 455,946
EERIE (FF5E19) Deferred tax (note 19) 443,848 (548,897)
FRMIBEL B Total tax charge for the year 1,386,479 2,868,033
-
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10. TS & @) 10. INCOME TAX (continued)
RABIREKESWE QR M A reconciliation of income tax expense applicable to profit
ERFEBEBEZEHETENR A before tax at the statutory rate for the jurisdiction in which the
ﬂ’L 1 ﬂ 2: AR EREXYHIZEER Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to
RAEMHRERSHNYEEREET the tax expense at the effective tax rate is as follows:
20224 2021 4F
2022 2021
AR%ET R ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
I
Fial (&518), 8 (Loss)/profit before tax (234,760) 7,624,121
AT EMERTE At the statutory income tax rate (58,690) 1,906,030
BETEREENT Profits and losses attributable to
FEAG A E K& B 18 joint ventures and associates (216,748) (192,691)
AN E B Expenses not deductible for tax 48,689 60,997
BAEFEFRNTIEER Tax losses utilised from
previous years (88,128) (119,315)
RERIAEE Tax losses not recognised 603,655 611,762
RERATBENEREER Deductible temporary differences
not recognised 758,141 259,291
T 3 38 (B T B Provision for LAT 452,747 455,946
THIRETN R E Tax effect on LAT (113,187) (113,987)
BAEEERRERTERN Tax charge at the Group’s
IE X effective rate 1,386,479 2,868,033
I
SEREDPENBENTEMLTESS The share of tax attributable to joint ventures and associates
il /é_'r A R #172,954,000 7T (2021 amounting to RMB172,954,000 (2021: RMB149,567,000) and
F AR #149,567,0000T ) & AR RMB116,043,000 (2021: RMB107,354,000), respectively, is
# 116,043,000 7T (2021 : A R #& included in “Share of profits and losses of joint ventures and
107,354,0007T) * At AGZEEBE K associates” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
MIEEEELERBEQTNER
BB -
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10. Fﬁ' @E 0. INCOME TAX (Continued)
SEMBIRAR AN EGTIIELE Tax payable in the consolidated statement of financial position
represents:
20224 2021 4F
2022 2021
ARET AR®ET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
e ———
FE#BE Tax payable
JER B EFTEH PRC CIT payable 1,723,220 2,012,030
JE A~ AR B A i 12 (B FR PRC LAT payable 1,139,981 1,033,851
JEH TR TR Total tax payable 2,863,201 3,045,881
.
R E 11. DIVIDENDS
EEewEESIRMNEE2022F12 The Board does not recommend a final dividend for the year

12.

A31HIEFEZ REAKE (2021 4F :
) o

BAREEERRERE AR
HE(J%T“)/ A

Hﬁ%ﬂiﬂé (2021 : BF) &5 Ty
BESAREEEDZEEARMGE
WEE(1F: FH) RFRAE &
ﬁaﬁﬂxbu%%@%&swzmomoﬂx
(20214 : 3581,791,500/%) 5t &

Hﬁﬁ&%()&ﬂﬁ)/&ﬂﬂﬁﬁ@ﬂ
BERFTEABGEFAUBER)F
/Fﬁﬁﬁj‘“ﬁﬁﬁ/*ﬁ?ﬁfégﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ
Hxﬁ'ﬁ?ﬁ? TN E ﬁﬂxbﬂﬁé$i’]
%51 o AREEEEEEBBK
Q*Eiﬂﬁﬂx%ﬁrﬁﬁﬁﬁjﬁ’]ﬂxf °

ended 31 December 2022 (2021: nil).

12. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY

HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic loss (2021: earnings) per share
amount is based on the loss (2021: profit) for the year
attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent, and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares of 3,492,670,410
(2021: 3,581,791,500 ) in issue during the year.

The calculation of the diluted (loss)/earnings per share amounts
is based on the (loss)/profit for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent, and the weighted average number
of ordinary shares outstanding to assume conversion of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares. The
Company’s dilutive potential ordinary shares are derived from
the shares granted under the share option scheme.
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12. B Rl EEER T—r B AFE{L 12. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE
5] (& )/ ) () ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE PARENT (continued)
FRERN(ERE) BRNSERNTEK The calculation of the basic (loss)/earnings per share amounts is
BT based on:
2022 F 20214
2022 2021
ARMF T ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
I N

BRAEBEDRFAARNA
(B8 FE AREER

(Loss)/Profit attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent, used

EARREF in the basic earnings per share
calculation (1,346,384) 2,702,567
R4 & B
Number of shares
2022 % 20214
2022 2021
-
i &vi) Shares
FRNDHETLRBEMEFEHE - Weighted average number of
AREEERELREF ordinary shares in issue during the
year used in the basic earnings per
share calculation 3,492,670,410 3,581,791,500
ey E - TRRNEFHE  Effect of dilution — weighted average
number of ordinary shares
0 % #e Share options (56,925,000)* (16,153,114)*
3,435,745,410* 3,565,638,386"
- -
* AR RERERSE NG REE (5 * Because the diluted (loss)/earnings per share amount is increased when

B)/BFHNEE MBEREAERE
EEE mRAESREE(EE)S
BANCHRERE - ALt SREE
EESENREFAGARNLBEES
A AL E B A R #1,346,384,000
TRERNEBTERARNEFTHH
3,492,670,410% 5+ & -
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taking share options into account, the share options had an anti-dilutive
effect and were ignored in the calculation of diluted (loss)/earnings per
share. Therefore, the diluted loss per share amount is based on the loss
attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent of RMB1,346,384,000
for the year, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of
3,492,670,410 in issue during the year.
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

BT "E

Motor

Buildings vehicles
ARBTT AR®TR
RMB’000  RMB’000

2022%12A 318

20225118

31 December 2022

At 1 January 2022

BARER
ETRE
Office
equipment
and electronic
devices
AR®T T
RMB’000

HEEE @t
Leasehold
improvements Total
AR®TRT AR%Tx
RMB’000 RMB’000

B AN Cost 81,420 42,785 100,327 58,650 283,182
2t E Accumulated depreciation ~ (47,807)  (33,369) (65,299) (50,157) (196,626)
REFE Net carrying amount 33,613 9,422 35,028 8,493 86,556
Ro022%1 A1A - At1January 2022, net of
NGREFME accumulated depreciation 33,613 9,422 35,028 8,493 86,556
NE Additions - 112 5,399 1,273 6,784
HEKBARF Disposal of subsidiaries
(K37E36) (note 36) - - (253) - (253)
= Disposal - (220) (985) - (1,208)
FEMEEE Depreciation provided
(M z£6) during the year (note 6) (6,392) (4,419) (15,431) (5,153) (31,395)
202212 A31H + At 31 December 2022,
MR EFME net of accumulated
depreciation 27,221 4,895 23,758 4,613 60,487
F202212 A31H ¢ At 31 December 2022:
B AN Cost 81,420 42,897 105,726 59,923 289,966
itHE Accumulated depreciation ~ (54,199)  (38,002) (81,968) (653100  (229,479)
REFE Net carrying amount 27,221 4,895 23,758 4,613 60,487
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13. ¥ - BERZHE@® 13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

BARBR

gF A ETR BERE it
Office
equipment

Motor  and electronic Leasehold

Buildings vehicles devices  improvements Total

ARBTT ARETRT ARBTT ARBTT ARETR

RMB'000  RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000

2021 F12A 310 31 December 2021

©®2021%1 1R At 1 January 2021

P AR Cost 80,827 40,678 85,355 51,727 258,587
ZEtE Accumulated depreciation (9,453) (25,579) (44,484) (44,365) (123,881)
REFE Net carrying amount 71,374 15,099 40,871 7,362 134,706

202151 A1 - 1 At 1 January 2021, net of

BhE2ITE accumulated depreciation
NE Additions 593 2,107 14,972 6,923 24,595
HENRBAR Disposal of subsidiaries

(Fft3¥36) (note 36) (32,059) (1,570) (738) - (34,367)
e Disposal - (164) (3,154) (55) (3,373)
FENERE Depreciation provided

(Fizx6) during the year (note 6) (6,295) (6,050) (16,923) (5,737) (35,005)

Ro021E12 A31H At 31 December 2021,
Nk EFTE net of accumulated
depreciation 33,613 9,422 35,028 8,493 86,556

R2021E12 A31H At 31 December 2021:

B AN Cost 81,420 42,785 100,327 58,650 283,182
ZETiE Accumulated depreciation (47,807) (33,363) (65,299) (60,157) (196,626)
FEFE Net carrying amount 33,613 9,422 35,028 8,493 86,556
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14. REY 14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
EXT wE et
Under
Completed construction Total

ARBETT ARBTT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

M2021F1 A1 B ERMEE Carrying amount at

1 January 2021 1,052,150 787,400 1,839,550
NE Additions — 433,591 433,591
i Transfer 252,547 (252,547) —
N EFABE W FESE Net gain from a fair value

adjustment (40,847) 137,656 96,809
M E AR (5E36)  Disposal of subsidiaries (note 36) — (366,200) (366,200)
ERTHELEMNE I Transfer to completed properties

W) held for sale (593,550) — (598,550)

MR2021F 12 A31B & Carrying amount at 31 December

202241 A1HKERMEE 2021 and 1 January 2022 670,300 739,900 1,410,200
NE Additions - 141,421 141,421
3 Transfer 150,334 (150,334) —
NEEFAERMFRR Net gain from a fair value

e adjustment (44,534) 36,613 (7,921)

R2022F12 A31 HHY Carrying amount at 31 December
FREE 2022 776,100 767,600 1,543,700
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14.

178

REYE @

AEEBNREMELALRFBRR
o RIBE L H G B K ERD
EBTEETGHELABZABR AT
((MHEBTDETHEHE AEE
R E Y E R 20020F 12 A31 B E
A A K #1,543,700,000 7T (2021 4F :
A R #1,410,200,0007C) ° & A R A
EEgHERE  XEEBARATZEHN
EEBEMEEARNSEYENIIN G
BE-TEFEREMSGAH 28
BUMEEESRF/BEERE N
PHERESETHER  AEBEE R
HEBRELGEELERAHERMETT

SER

R2022F 12 A31H A& B E M|
BEAEAREZ T(R021F: AR
253,400,0007C) I EWMHEE FE&E
U EREFAEEN —KRIBT
BE (3E29) o

14.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

The Group’s investment properties are situated in Mainland
China. The Group’s investment properties were revalued on
31 December 2022 based on valuations performed by Jones
Lang LaSalle Corporate Appraisal and Advisory Limited
(“JLL"), an independent professionally qualified valuer,
at RMB1,543,700,000 (2021: RMB1,410,200,000). The Group
decide, after approval from the board of directors of the
Company, to appoint which external valuer to be responsible for
the external valuations of the Group’s properties. Selection
criteria includes market knowledge, reputation, independence
and whether professional standards are maintained. The Group
has discussions with the valuer on the valuation assumptions
and valuation results when the valuations are performed for
financial reporting.

At 31 December 2022, the Group’s investment properties with
a carrying value of RMB nil (2021: RMB253,400,000) were
pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the
Group (note 29).
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14. BEYE @) 14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
ATEEER Fair value hierarchy
TEHPAEEKREWEN QAT E The following table illustrates the fair value measurement
EER hierarchy of the Group’s investment properties:

A2022%F 12831 A A
UTERFAENATE
Fair value measurement as
at 31 December 2022 using

RERBME EBEATHERE EXRFTH

H R E WABE Z@ASE

(B—FE) € =3 (5=18)

Quoted

prices Significant Significant

in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs ot
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ARSI AR%®TR AR%®TR AR%®TnxR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

LA T IE B #17H) Recurring fair value

KEMNTFE measurement for:
e
EEX/ES Commercial properties
BxL Completed - - 776,100 776,100
T Under construction — — 767,600 767,600

— — 1,543,700 1,543,700
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14.

BE Y m)

DN EER @

14.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

R2021F12 A31 H{F A

AT EMRROATE
Fair value measurement as
at 31 December 2021 using

RIERMS BEARAUHEE BARLAAH
BB WARE REARE
(B—F) (BE=E) (F=RE)
Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs Bz
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
AREFTT ARBFTT AR¥TT AR®BTET
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
FLUA T I8 B #7178 Recurring fair value
KEMEQTE measurement for:
HE:
EEX/ES Commercial properties
BxT Completed — — 670,300 670,300
T Under construction — — 739,900 739,900
- — 1,410,200 1,410,200

RERN F—BEHE-_EB2EITE
NEEFE2EE fEE A E T
FE=[B(20214F : f&) o
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During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers
into or out of Level 3 (2021: Nil).
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

DNEEER(FH Fair value hierarchy (Continued)
LT AREYESEMENGER Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the
MEEEH ASERE - key inputs to the valuation of investment properties:
B H i BERFUEEGRARE EERMEFHE
Range or weighted average
12A31H
31 December
Valuation Significant unobservable 2022 2021 %
techniques inputs 2022 2021
|
ETIMENE WA K fhEtaE AR¥18.3-162.57T AR 18.3-162.57T
Completed commercial  Income approach (BERAREAR) RMB18.3-162.5 RMB18.3-162.5
properties Estimated rental value
(per square metre and
per month)
- N 4.0%-5.50% 4.0%-5.75%
Capitalisation rate
REIZEEX 5.0%-15.0% 5.0%-10.0%
Long term vacancy rate
EEBEME bt BUA REAEx 10.0% 8.0%-10.0%

Commercial properties
under construction

EXTEEDENRFENERR
NEBE NAEBBFARERD
XEARBHAOAMELE R RERT
M TRAERBSHEE W (i HE
W BEEHWAFELTD #E)
RIEMAB RN AREE B E XL
Ko TME@REBEEBRATEELER
Mms LA ESHNA AL REE

%5

Comparison method  Expected profit margin

The fair value of completed commercial properties is determined
using the income approach by taking into account the rental
income of the properties derived from the existing leases and/or
achievable in the existing market with due allowance for the
reversionary income potential of the leases, which have been
then capitalised at an appropriate capitalisation rate. Where
appropriate, reference to the comparable sales transactions as
available in the relevant market has also been considered.
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EEBEVENRFEERALBOR
EE g2EZHEBAMS LAERK
AELREEFEY (WER)KH
BRIATEHEBRSHYERNRFHER

REBERI):

s MEBE2EEZEERVWERELN
et EERARG T HNEE

AR

e MEZSEERVERBEZT

AR AW AEFEE -

BEMANBERES EEREVMER

FEBIE-

182

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

A significant increase (decrease) in the estimated rental value
would result in a significant increase (decrease) in the fair value
of the investment properties. A significant increase (decrease) in
the long term vacancy rate and the capitalisation rate in isolation
would result in a significant decrease (increase) in the fair value
of the investment properties.

The fair value of commercial properties under construction is
determined using the comparison method, with reference to
comparable sales evidence as available in the relevant market
to derive the fair value of the properties assuming they were
completed and, where appropriate, after deducting the following
items:

° Estimated construction cost and professional fees to be
expensed to complete the properties that would be
incurred by a market participant; and

o Estimated profit margin that a market participant would
require to hold and develop the properties to completion.

A higher expected profit margin would result in a lower fair value
of the investment properties under construction.
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15. Hit B EE 15. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

20224 20214
2022 2021
AR¥BTR ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
B4 Software
REA At the beginning of the year:
(DN Cost 15,120 13,036
RETH# I Accumulated amortisation (8,934) (4,555)
R FE Net carrying amount 6,186 8,481
FYRMEE : Carrying amount at the beginning of
the year: 6,186 8,481
NE Additions 8,924 2,084
FRE B EEHE (H6) Amortisation provided during
the year (note 6) (9,859) (4,379)
FAREEE : Carrying amount at the end of the
year: 5,251 6,186
RER : At the end of the year:
B AR Cost 24,044 15,120
REH 5 Accumulated amortisation (18,793) (8,934)
R FHE Net carrying amount 5,251 6,186

.,
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16.

184

HE

FEBEREBEA

AEBETEEZEMANBAE
EEMrRkENETEREZEES
W-HEMAEMEZHBA KRN
F—E2RF MPARE2EHY—
RABIEAS AT R HEBER
BE - —RM5 AEEXRH
ERAEENIEZELROHEMEE
BE -

@ ERAREE
ERAEEEREEELBE
EREBMT -

16. LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various items of office
properties and office equipment used in its operations. Leases
of office properties generally have lease terms between one and
six years, while office equipment generally has lease terms of
12 months or less and/or is individually of low value. Generally,
the Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing the
leased assets outside the Group.

(@ Right-of-use assets
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets
and the movements during the year are as follows:

WMAEYHE

Office

properties

AR T

RMB’000

]
K2022%1H1H As at 1 January 2022 78,991
NE Additions 6,009
& B B A B (M 5E36) Disposal of subsidiaries (note 36) (366)
WERZ Depreciation charge (43,921)
R2022%F 12 A31H As at 31 December 2022 40,713
|

MAEYHE

Office

properties

AREF T

RMB’000

20211818 As at 1 January 2021 111,100
NE Additions 19,972
&= BB A7) (M1 5E36) Disposal of subsidiaries (note 36) (1,579)
ERX Depreciation charge (50,502)

7R2021%F 12 H31H As at 31 December 2021 78,991
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16. LEASES (Continued)

20224 12 A 31 H 31 December 2022

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b) Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements
during the year are as follows:

2022 20214
2022 2021
ARETRT AREBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000

A

M1A1BEZEREEE Carrying amount at 1 January 82,706 119,942
wHEE New leases 6,009 19,972
& BT &8 A 7] (Bt 5236) Disposal of subsidiaries (note 36) (291) (1,740)
FAE RN EIE N Accretion of interest recognised
during the year 2,302 7,455
(B Payments (45,250) (62,923)
M12A31B ZREE Carrying amount at 31 December 45,476 82,706
DR Analysed into:
& &R Current portion 21,410 39,097
ERBNEB Non-current portion 24,066 43,609

HeaBzHrMRYBR
RMIETA0HEFE -

.,

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note
40 to the financial statements.

185



PREREERR AR 2022F F K

A I R EE

Notes to Financial Statements

20224 12 A 31 H 31 December 2022

16.
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HEm 16. LEASES (continued)
REBEBAEAE The Group as a lessee (Continued)
@ MHEAEREZERZEE (@) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to
PO leases are as follows:
20224 20214
2022 2021
ARET T ARBEFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
—
HEBGEZFE Interest on lease liabilities 2,302 7,455
FTHREEEZIMERX Depreciation charge of right-of-
use assets 43,921 50,502

HIEHHEHERBZHAX
G AFTHRAEX)

HEBEEEHERHE 2MAX

(FFATTHF )

Expense relating to short-term

leases (included in administrative

expenses) 5,931 8,873
Expense relating to leases of

low-value assets

(included in administrative

expenses) 33 428

REBERERZETHE

Total amount recognised in profit
or loss 52,187 67,258

b)) MEZRERHAERYE R

7 P 7 35(c) #K & -

AEBERHBEA

AEBHHEELEWE(HE14)
ERRELEHETHET ZZR
MEME-HEKR—REXBEFR
THREFESTREREE IR
TRTEHAREAS AEEREFER
mRzHEe WA AR12,213,000
70 (20214« A R #17,720,0007T) °

BRFRENM B HmRMES -

(b)  The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 35(c)
to the financial statements.

The Group as a lessor

The Group leases its investment properties (note 14) consisting
of three commercial properties under operating lease
arrangements. The terms of the leases generally require the
tenants to pay security deposits and provide for periodic rent
adjustments according to the then prevailing market conditions.
Rental income recognised by the Group during the year was
RMB12,213,000 (2021: RMB17,720,000), details of which are
included in note 5 to the financial statements.



16.

17.

ZHONGLIANG HOLDINGS GROUP COMPANY LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022

HE @ 16.

M2022FE 12 A31H - KNE&EE R R
HEAPZTAIHEEEREN KK
R R RAEMZOT

A IR R EE

Notes to Financial Statements
202212 A 31 H 31 December 2022

LEASES (Continued)

At 31 December 2022, the undiscounted lease payments
receivable by the Group in future periods under non-cancellable
operating leases with its tenants are as follows:

2022 2021 4
2022 2021
AR®BTRE AR®TT
RMB’000 RMB’000

A,

—FE R Within one year 15,672 16,428
—FREMEN After one year but within two years 13,221 18,376
WEFZREBE=ZFN After two years but within three years 12,977 16,276
—FBRENFR After three years but within four years 12,356 16,901
MEZEBRFR After four years but within five years 12,236 16,449
HF1& After five years 112,646 175,970

179,108 260,400

.,

REELEZKRE 17. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES
2022 20214
2022 2021
ARET T AR T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
fEhEEFE Share of net assets 4,543,140 6,091,937
REETEELENTBHER Financial guarantees provided to
joint ventures 124,413 125,456
4,667,553 6,217,393

AEBEREASECEREHE TR
TTREMERER EFBEEHLH
HBO-BEZRR UBERRBE T
RATRER Al B RS B (B - i H
BE/SARERALEEENE D F
BE -

REBRES S E XN EKGRIERE
N RIAR I TR M LS9 E o

.,

The Group has guaranteed certain of the bank and other
borrowings made to its joint ventures, details of which are set
out in note 30. In the opinion of the directors, the financial
guarantee services are unlikely to be compensated in the
foreseeable future and are considered as part of the Group’s
net investments in the joint ventures.

The Group’s receivables and payables with joint ventures are
disclosed in note 39 to the financial statements.
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17. REEDECZRE @ 17. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)
(@) AEBEESELEFE (a) Particulars of the Group’s material joint ventures
rEBEEMN
=F it B &% SMmRA  FrEEER
NEEW F4 H{E Botk TEES
Percentage of
Nominal ownership
value of interest
Place and year registered attributable to Principal
Name of companies of registration share capital the Group activities
AR®ET T
RMB’000
MMNREEEERAF A A M 300,000 38.61% W5
Hangzhou Liangxin Real Estate 2020 Property
Co., Ltd. Hangzhou, PRC Development
2020
CEMTERBEFARLQA" 5 600,000 50.00% ) 3 BA 8
Jinhua Fugiao Real Estate 20174 Property
Co., Ltd* Jinhua, PRC Development
2017
FERREXARAE" hE e 10,000 28.8% WG
Shanghai Ruichen Property 20184 Property
Co., Ltd.* Shanghai, PRC development

* REBEZRE ZTAELE
RE E2021F12A31B IFF E
BEZAEE  BREZE2022
F12A31BLEFEAERIEE

YRS R

188

2018

The directors of the Group are of the view that those joint ventures
were the material joint ventures for the year ended 31 December
2021 but were not individually material for the year ended 31

December 2022.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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17. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

(b)

Hangzhou Liangxin Real Estate Co., Ltd. (“Hangzhou
Liangxin”), which was considered a material joint venture
of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2022,
co-developed property development projects with the
other joint venture partners in Mainland China and were
accounted for using the equity method.

Jinhua Fugiao Real Estate. Co., Ltd. (“Jinhua Fugiao”),
and Shanghai Ruichen Property Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai
Ruichen”), which were considered material joint ventures
of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2021,
co-developed property development projects with the
other joint venture partners in Mainland China and were
accounted for using the equity method.
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17. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

(b) (Continued)

The following table illustrates the summarised financial
information in respect of Hangzhou Liangxin, adjusted for
any differences in accounting policies and reconciled to

FEmRRmERRE: the carrying amount in the consolidated financial
statements:
2022 F
2022
AR® T
RMB’000
]
WERIREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 257,155
= S = Other current assets 1,652,292
MENEE Current assets 1,909,447
FEMEBEE Non-current assets 5,916
TREBE(TEEEI R Financial liabilities, excluding trade
H b fE 1 3KIH) and other payables
HEmMREHEaRE Other current liabilities (1,409,903)
mEaE Current liabilities (1,409,903)
BEFE Net assets 505,460
FAREENSLLENREZ Y Recondiliation to the Group’s interest
R - in the joint venture:
REBEFTHENL Proportion of the Group’s ownership 38.6%
REBREEEEDEEEFME  Group’s share of net assets of the joint venture 195,158
BT XSG ASEIRBRAE Adjustment for unrealised profits and losses
from related party transactions (2,767)
RERAEE Carrying amount of the investment 192,391
A Revenue 2,267,999
AR R i 2 Cost and expenses (1,695,057)
B8 Tax (216,909)
FRFE Profit for the year 356,033
FRAETEWNELE Total comprehensive income for the year 356,033
|
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17. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

(b) (Continued)

The following table illustrates the summarised financial
information in respect of Jinhua Fugiao and Shanghai
Ruichen for the year ended 31 December 2021, adjusted
for any differences in accounting policies and reconciled
to the carrying amount in the consolidated financial

HER - statements:
SEER EEEE
Jinhua Shanghai
Fugiao Ruichen
2021 & 2021
2021 2021
ARETFT ARETFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
HEREBEE2ZEEY Cash and cash equivalents 320,238 90,032
HEiREEE Other current assets 1,216,073 2,163,979
mENE E Current assets 1,536,311 2,254,011
FERBEE Non-current assets 122 46
mBEE Current liabilities (604,249)  (1,341,433)
BEFE Net assets 932,184 912,624
AAEBRAECEMEZZ  Reconciliation to the Group’s
R interest in the joint venture:
REEBEFTHENL Proportion of the Group’s ownership 50% 40%
NEBELHAEEDCEEBEFE Group’s share of net assets of the
joint venture 466,092 365,050
BB ARSI RERETAE Adjustment for unrealised profits
and losses from related party
transactions (5628) (2,144)
KEEmE Carrying amount of the investment 465,564 362,906
WA Revenue 3,975,064 2,865,242
R R A 2 Cost and expenses (3,511,994) (1,889,302)
BE Tax (115,780) (264,480)
F N F|E Profit for the year 347,290 711,460
FA2EKNEAE Total comprehensive income for

the year 347,290 711,460
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17. REEDEZRE W 17. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (cContinued)
() TRITAEEBEAREE K (c) The following table illustrates the aggregate financial
EEPENEBTBHER information of the Group’s joint ventures which are not

individually material:

2022 2021 4
2022 2021
AR®BTRE AR®TT
RMB’000 RMB’000

A,

FARMEEPENER Share of the joint ventures’ profits

B8 and losses for the year 381,434 (9,529
JEIEAE ¥ 2mURZEHEE  Share of the joint ventures’ total
comprehensive income 381,434 (9,529)
KEBRALELEKRER Aggregate carrying amount of the
REEE Group’s investments in the joint
ventures 4,859,951 5,388,923
R e
EEPEDHAESEARE - The joint ventures have been accounted for using the equity
method.
RRANBEERAE  N2022F12 The directors of the Company are of the opinion that no
A31A M EEIEL BERE provision for impairment was necessary as at 31 December
(20214F : 4®) o 2022 (2021: Nil).
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18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

2022 20214
2022 2021
ARBFRT  ARBTIL
RMB’000 RMB’000
BB EFE Share of net assets 16,549,407 17,230,424
R T EE QA MR ER Financial guarantees provided to
associates 278,773 228,977
16,828,180 17,459,401
.
REFEREKRLQTIEHE T The Group has guaranteed certain of the bank and other
TREMEZREGR HEBSHAW borrowings made to its associates, details of which are set out
H30-BEEZE MEERRET in note 30. In the opinion of the directors, the financial guarantee
RKABER AT BB RERHE  wE services are unlikely to be compensated in the foreseeable
WEABREBRRNELDNTEI D F future and are considered as part of the Group’s net
& o investments in the associates.
NEEE BB E N A E W IE L E The Group’s receivables and payables with associates are

SRR B T IR M ST 40 R o

disclosed in note 40 to the financial statements.
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18. REBE RN NEE @)

194

(a)

18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

AEBEEKREQNAFE (a) Particulars of the Group’s material associates
rEBE RS
HMBRA FrEEER
ACIEE =t i 3t B K% 4 H{E Bk XEITH
Percentage of
Nominal ownership
value of interest
Place and year registered attributable to Principal
Name of companies of registration share capital the Group activities
AREF T
RMB’000
REBRRAT BB USD 1,659 24.50% )35
Brilliant Friend Limited 20184 Property
Hong Kong Development
2018
N R R & BR A F)" o B A7 M 2,400,000 15.00% ¥ % Fi &
Hangzhou Zhetong Investment 20184F Property
Co., Ltd.* Hangzhou, PRC Development
2018
GIEEEEXEFRAA F B & AR 50,000 30.22% ¥R
Hefei Jufeng Real Estate Co., Ltd. 20204 Property
Hefei, PRC Development
2020
MINERIE B X FR A F)™ o B A7 M 11,000 32.90% WM
Hangzhou Rongyue Real Estate 2017 F Property
Co., Ltd.* Hangzhou, PRC Development

ke

RIETNAT R E B R QA ([
MR D WABERME - K
E@MAUZE—ZEESMARIM
R WEEEERTEN-
I B =2022%F 12 8318 IF F
B MmN RARY ARNEER

BEAE -

AEBEERE ZBERFTR
HE2021F12A31BEFE A
BABE QAR EREE2022F
12A31HEFEAEREERD

BEAE -

2017

ek

Pursuant to the articles of association of Hangzhou Zhetong
Investment Co., Ltd. (“Hangzhou Zhetong”), the Group has
significant influence by appointing one director in the board.
Therefore, Hangzhou Zhetong was accounted for as an associate
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022.

The directors of the Group are of the view that the associate was
the material associate for the year ended 31 December 2021 but
was not individually material for the year ended 31 December
2022.
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18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

(b)

Brilliant Friend Limited (“Brilliant Friend”), Hangzhou
Zhetong and Hefei Jufeng Real Estate Co., Ltd. (“Hefei
Jufeng”), which were considered material associates of
the Group during the year ended 31 December 2022, co-
developed property development projects with the other
associates in Mainland China and were accounted for
using the equity method.

Hangzhou Rongyue Real Estate Co., Ltd. (“Hangzhou
Rongyue”), which was considered a material associate of
the Group during the year ended 31 December 2021, co-
developed property development projects with the other
associate partners in Mainland China and were accounted
for using the equity method.
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18. REBE RN NEE @)

(b)

(8)

TRIINTEBRABR QA
UM R & & BR fE g & = 2022
F1I2A3MHILEFENTBER
ME  HhE A BUR
ZBREHARIEC RLEZ

18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

(b) (Continued)

The following table illustrates the summarised financial
information in respect of Brilliant Friend, Hangzhou
Zhetong and Hefei Jufeng for the year ended 31
December 2022, adjusted for any differences in
accounting policies and reconciled to the carrying amount

=R

WMEBEEEHE: in the consolidated financial statements:
REBRAA 0 M = S IEE g
Brilliant Friend Hangzhou Hefei
Limited Zhetong Jufeng
2022 F 20224 2022 F
2022 2022 2022
ARBT T ARBTT AR®BTT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
MENEE Current assets 1,730,066 4,578,136 3,034,043
EMBEE Non-current assets 89 1,496 56,733
nBAE Current liabilities (218,374)  (1,391,582)  (2,686,157)
BEFE Net assets 1,511,781 3,188,050 404,619
B AREBEREEE R Reconciliation to the Group’s
s 2 R - interest in the associate:
KEBE ARG Proportion of the Group’s
ownership 24.50% 15.00% 30.22%
PN SE AN R gt R /N Group’s share of net assets
BEFE of the associate 370,386 478,208 122,276
BB AR RERE Adjustment for unrealised
B profits and losses from
related party transactions (13) (867) (5,531)
KEREE Carrying amount of the
investment 370,373 477,841 116,745
WA Revenue 3,184,374 11,247,006 2,745,216
& FE Profit for the year 796,885 985,114 471,125
FAEHE WS AR5 Total comprehensive income
for the year 796,885 985,114 471,125
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18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

(b) (Continued)

The following table illustrates the summarised financial
information in respect of Hangzhou Rongyue for the year
ended 31 December 2021, adjusted for any differences in
accounting policies and reconciled to the carrying amount

B FS R R BRE B AR - in the consolidated financial statements:
20214
2021
AR®ET T
RMB’000
mENE E Current assets 1,746,810
EMEBEE Non-current assets 28
REBE Current liabilities (1,404,219)
BEFE Net assets 342,619
FEAREBENBE ATHNEZ 2 Reconciliation to the Group’s interest
R in the associate:
RNEBFBRIGL Proportion of the Group’s ownership 32.90%
RNEBFEGBEATIEEFME  Group’s share of net assets of the associate 112,722
Bt T X HREIRE R FHE Adjustment for unrealised profits and losses
from related party transactions (385)
HERAEE Carrying amount of the investment 112,337
A Revenue 2,536,582
F R Profit for the year 435,251
FA2EMKEATE Total comprehensive income for the year 435,251
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18. REZE AN RINKRE @) 18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)
() TRITAEEBEAREE K (c) The following table illustrates the aggregate financial
i N E) B BE 4B B S B R information of the Group’s associates which are not

individually material:

2022 2021 4
2022 2021
AR®BTRE AR®TT
RMB’000 RMB’000

A,

FAEEERBFER Share of the associates’ profits and

18 losses for the year (132,678) 178,864
JE(REt 2 N B2 HEUN 4% Share of the associates’ total
comprehensive income (132,678) 178,864
NEBPEEQNFIRENEE  Aggregate carrying amount of the
maE Group’s investments in the
associates 16,228,725 17,347,064
R e
R FiiBIEER PSS NT B The associates have been accounted for using the equity
AR EARE- method in the above financial information.
KNANBEERE  R2022F12 The directors of the Company are of the opinion that no
B3IE I EE/ELRERE provision for impairment was necessary as at 31
(20214 : #®) o December 2022 (2021: Nil).
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19. DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the

)N year are as follows:
ELEREBEEE Deferred tax assets
385 R R FRAE 84 L
ERBAE RRERB ol Est it
HERE THANESR B X BERE ARERHRA BEH @zt
Losses
available for  Expenses for Unrealised
offsetting offsetting revenue in
Lease against future  against future Impairment of contract
liability  taxable profits ~ taxable profits assets liabilities  Accrued LAT Total
ARETT AREFT ARETT ARBTT ARETR ARETT ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
K201 51 A18K Gross deferred tax assets
EEHRBEAEAR at 1 January 2021 29,986 111,010 74,938 39,659 2,798,996 233,937 3,288,426
HEN B AT (FizEs6)  Disposal of subsidiaries (note 36) (435) - - - (322,595) - (323,030)
ER(BE)/ A Deferred tax (charged)/credited to
BRMECHE profit or loss during the year
(K&E10) (note 10) (8,874) 69,130 33,043 29,124 469,477 (75,638) 516,262
R2021F12 A31 BHE  Gross deferred tax assets
EHEEELS at 31 December 2021 20,677 180,140 107,981 68,683 2,945,878 158,299 3,481,658
R202251 18K Gross deferred tax assets
BERREAEAR at 1 January 2022 20,677 180,140 107,981 68,683 2,945,878 158,299 3,481,658
HEFBAT (F36) Disposal of subsidiaries (note 36) (79) - - - (44,672) - (44,745)
ER(BE)/ A Deferred tax (charged)/credited to
BRMECHE profit or loss during the year
(B5E10) (note 10) (9,235) 71,118 (51,440) (16,164) (404,431) (54,923) (465,075)
R2022%F 12 A31HE) Gross deferred tax assets
ELHBEAEAR at 31 December 2022 11,369 251,258 56,541 52,519 2,496,775 103,376 2,971,838
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19. IE & % 18 (@) 19. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)
REANNELEHBEEERBENE The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the
FHanr : (B) year are as follows: (Continued)

EEHEEE Deferred tax liabilities
RE
ROFEFA  NEREE
BEzERM HENERI 5%
BHEREN EEEY MEER AHEH BE RS B
BE®2D FRAEEE LATERE LAFERE LATERAE BRARA @t
Fair value
adjustments
Fair value arising from
Changes in adjustments investment Fair value
provision for arising from  propertiesand  adjustments
financial financial completed arising from  Recognition
guarantee Right-of-use assets at properties held business  of revenue
contracts assets FVTPL for sale combinations over time Total
ARETL ARMTRL AREFT ARETE ARETT ARBTT ARETR
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB'000

H2021%1 A1B#  Gross deferred tax liabilities

ELHBAGEE a1 January 2021 33,882 27,775 (7,325) 111,539 190,711 343,401 699,983
HEME DA Disposal of subsidiaries (note 36)

(Fi5£36) - (395) - (6,059) (65,954) - (72,408)
ERH%BE/ (3t A)  Deferred tax charged/(credited) to

BRMELEHE profit or loss during the year

(M3£10) (note 10) 20,096 (7,633) 7,325 11,043 (12,868) (50599)  (32,636)

N2021512 A31 HE) Gross deferred tax liabilities
BEEFIEGEHSE  at 31 December 2021 53,978 19,747 - 116,523 111,889 292,802 504,939

H2022%1 F1E#  Gross deferred tax liabilities

EREFHEEEAS at 1 January 2022 53,978 19,747 - 116,523 111,889 292,802 594,939
HEME DA Disposal of subsidiaries (note 36)
(K 7%36) - 92) - - - - @)

ERMNBE/(GtA\) Deferred tax charged/(credited) to
BEmMETHE profit or loss during the year
(FE10) (note 10) 466 (9,477) - (1,930) (17,996) 7711 (21,226)

2022412 A31 B &) Gross deferred tax liabilities
EIERBEEMAE  at 31 December 2022 54,444 10,178 - 114,593 93,893 300,513 573,621
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19. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and
liabilities have been offset in the consolidated statement of
financial position. The following is an analysis of the deferred tax

M IB&E R DT - balances of the Group for financial reporting purposes:
20224 20214
2022 2021
ARETR ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
I —
RS B RS R S 2k D B SR B Net deferred tax assets recognised
IR TE & EFE in the consolidated statement of
financial position 2,936,545 3,424,910
RER A BT ISR R A R A Net deferred tax liabilities recognised
BELEHIEARFHE in the consolidated statement of
financial position (538,328) (638,191)
BB EREERNELTIE Net deferred tax assets in respect of
BEFE continuing operations 2,398,217 2,886,719
—— .

BESLATHEERARTEHBAEE

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the
following items:

2022F 20214
2022 2021
AR T ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
— _
HIEEE Tax losses 1,625,287 1,109,760
AR CET R M = EE Deductible temporary differences 1,434,436 676,295
3,059,723 1,786,055
—— _

FHlMIBEEET —ERERBEESE
HEEBENRARZARERE &
FeBmRBATAAEERERE &
FMEBHA LMEE FUASE BT
AMEMIBEERRELEHNIBEEE -
ZEMBEBRER D 5 K E £2023
G 2024 F 2025 4F 1 2026 F K
2027 FE (W REZEFE)ER °

The above tax losses are available indefinitely for offsetting
against future taxable profits of the companies in which the
losses arose. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in
respect of the above items as it is not considered probable that
taxable profits will be available against which the above items
can be utilised. These tax losses will expire up to and including
years 2023, 2024, 2025, 2026 and 2027 .
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19. IE % 18 (@)

BEFBESEMSHE EPBE R
BRI IRE D EMIINEIREE
Bk B I B A B 10% B FE IR © 5%
TE B2008F1 A1H AR @& H
R2007F12A1IHBRELENEF -
i B A EZ EIINBEIEE E R A
AR ABMBIELY  TRARKSE
K - KEBEMBEBAHREAHE10% °
EHit r AEBERZESERBE ALK
S H M B A R B2008F1 A1 H RE
A BB FFT 5 R B9 AR B B TR0 o

R2022F 12 A31H » #E & 7 KA QX 7
NAEBRFBRAMAA KB A
AIZEH MBI &) R E & FFE A
I ERELENIE ARAIES
RE AEENES BB EFEHAL
DIERASEMNEE  AZENB
NETNKARER A B R D IK%ZE
EH o BT EEREERIEGED

RE A EB AR AEEEN

NEMRERENEREEZEAE
& H# B AN RE770,740,000 7T (2021

F : AR #867,986,0007T) °

2. EAFHEHFAEZNE M

19.

20.

DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established in
Mainland China. The requirement is effective from 1 January
2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign
investors. For the Group, the applicable rate is 10%. The Group
is therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed
by those subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect
of earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

At 31 December 2022, no deferred tax has been recognised for
withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted
earnings that are subject to withholding taxes of the Company
and the Group’s subsidiaries established in Mainland China. In
the opinion of the directors of the Company, the Group’s fund
will be retained in Mainland China for the expansion of the
Group’s operation, so it is not probable that these subsidiaries
will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable future. The
aggregate amounts of temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in
Mainland China for which deferred tax liabilities have not been
recognised totalled approximately RMB770,740,000 (2021:
RMB867,986,000).

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

BE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
20224 20214
2022 2021
AR¥FTRT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
-
TR AEE  BRAFE Listed equity investments, at fair value - 121,953
HEMIEEMEE  EAFE Other unlisted investments, at fair value 34,266 59,112
RER At the end of the year 34,266 181,065
- —————

HR LR ARESFEREE &
DERBRAFEFTABRENE R

202

The above equity investments were classified as financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss as they were held for trading.
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2. EBAFEHFAEZNE M

EE @)

20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

EEETIRERSBRITEITHIE
MER BAREANEAESRELIF
ERASRFEMNK HEH DA

The above unlisted investments were wealth management
products issued by banks. They were mandatorily classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as their

RBAFEFABGZNEREE -

contractual cash flows are not solely payments of principal and
interest.

21. EEWE 21. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

2022 20214

2022 2021

AR®TRT AR®FT

RMB’000 RMB’000

I

REH] At the beginning of the year 132,008,659 145,914,463

NE Additions 21,512,221 65,774,978

& B B A | (B 5E36) Disposal of subsidiaries (note 36) (2,803,268) (6,084,614)
EREHIERENE T IYE Transferred to completed properties

(Ff5E22) held for sale (note 22) (37,405,333)  (73,133,945)

BRI EEE (H3Ee6) Impairment losses recognised (note 6) (1,137,910) (731,125)

BT REHENEEIYWER  Impairment losses transferred to

BB B 18 (P 5E22) completed properties held for sale

(note 22) 244,473 268,902

RER At the end of the year 112,418,842 132,008,659

AEBNERZMEOLRTE AL
MHEE L -

MN2022%12A31H A& EE®E
“1E A% AR #56,787,872,0007C
(20214 : A R #67,994,853,0007C )
METERZYED TEH UEA
N BE R IR 1T Ik H b {5 FK AY 3K R
(MF5E29) o

.,

The Group’s properties under development are situated on
leasehold lands in Mainland China.

As at 31 December 2022, certain of the Group’s properties
under development with an aggregate carrying amount of
approximately RMB56,787,872,000 (2021: RMB67,994,853,000)
have been pledged to secure bank and other borrowings
granted to the Group (note 29).
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21.

204

EEWE @)
EEWERNREREEZESHOT :

21. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT (Continued)

The movements in provision for impairment of properties under
development are as follows:

2022 F 2021 4F
2022 2021
ARETR ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000

A

R 7)) At the beginning of the year (734,985) (272,762)
ERREEE (HiEe) Impairment losses recognised (note 6) (1,137,910) (731,125)
BESFELENE T IYWERN  Impairment losses transferred to
BB B 18 (P 5E22) completed properties held for sale
(note 22) 244,473 268,902
R E R At the end of the year (1,628,422) (734,985)

EEZMENEBEERS HRETH
- ERMEEBAENERFE
B BIIFHERE JERFEHAN
SE2EREHRARNRITIRALE
EERBREZEANAEZHEENI R
BRSE TRATARERE °

A,

The value of properties under development was assessed at the
end of the reporting period. An impairment exists when the
carrying value exceeds its net realisable value. The net realisable
value is determined by the Group with reference to the
prevailing market conditions and existing prices, less applicable
variable selling expenses and anticipated costs at completion,
at the end of the reporting period.
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22. COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

20224 20214
2022 2021
AR¥BTR ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FYREE Carrying amount at the beginning of
the year 21,272,280 10,886,087
ER e EEmEFE21) Transferred from properties under
development (note 21) 37,405,333 73,133,945
EREEME (KE14) Transferred from investment
properties(note 14) - 593,550
ERECEMEMER(HE6) Transferred to cost of properties sold
(note 6) (33,519,437)  (62,646,725)
58 /O R (B B 18 (FiY Rk 6) Impairment losses written off (note 6) 434,799 109,060
EEATEMENRESIE Impairment losses transferred from
(Bt 5E21) properties under development
(note 21) (244,473) (268,902)
& B B A | (it 5E36) Disposal of subsidiaries (note 36) (111,660) (433,967)
BRI EEE (fiEe) Impairment losses recognised
(note 6) (540,536) (100,768)
FREEE Carrying amount at the end of
the year 24,696,306 21,272,280

FIFHENE T IYMENRER B

.,

The movements in provision for impairment of completed

FEINT properties held for sale are as follows:
20224 20214
2022 2021
AR® T ARBFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
iNE =) At the beginning of the year (386,711) (126,101)
85 B R E B 1R Impairment losses written off 434,799 109,060
HEREEEERYENRMEERE (MiE21)  Impairment losses transferred
from properties under
development (note 21) (244,473) (268,902)
BEER R EEE (1iEe6) Impairment losses recognised
(note 6) (540,536) (100,768)
REXR At the end of the year (736,921) (386,711)

A,
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22, HIEHENE T IYWE m)

FIFHENETIVENEEER
EHMRETHGH - EREEBAR

BEEDZ2EERBTHEMNEE

BMEERMBEERS TINEE -

23. EZ BWRIA

22.

23.

COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

(Continued)

The value of completed properties held for sale was assessed
at the end of the reporting period. An impairment exists when
the carrying value exceeds its net realisable value. The net
realisable value is determined by reference to the selling price
based on prevailing market price less applicable selling
expenses.

TRADE RECEIVABLES

2022 20214
2022 2021
AR®BTRE AR®TT
RMB’000 RMB’000

B 5 WA
HAE

Trade receivables

A

7,751 5,239

Impairment - —

7,751 5,239

BHRBKRBEIERREEFPNE
WHE - AEBE ) EAREREHE
ARWEEEWRIE - B SR BE
EETHRE ERNLARAEE
B2REURBEEXENRAETER,A
ARt AFEEERBRAESE

REVIE

206

.,

Trade receivables mainly represent rentals receivable from
tenants. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed
regularly by management. In view of the aforementioned and
the fact that the Group’s trade receivables relate to a large
number of diversified customers, there is no significant
concentration of credit risk.
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23. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Trade receivables are unsecured and non-interest-bearing. The

EoRWRENEOEREEQNTE carrying amounts of trade receivables approximate to their fair
BE RREBRENBEAHD values. An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end
ZHEWZERREDITOT of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:
2022 2021 4F
2022 2021
AR®ET AR®ET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
I —
DR —F Less than 1 year 7,751 5,239
—F L E Over 1 year — _
7,751 5,239
N —
SR HR A FE UG R OB ER i HRAm B 49 2 Receivables that were not past due relate to a large number of
B AETREPRPER - diversified customers for whom there was no recent history of

72 B 5K A R 10 77 0% Bl B BR B 75 3R
SEANFIRMAENRYEEE R
REBHE XN EATRABESE
WREERzHERERREGE - B
AAERHEEEE B EWRNA
ERAREERRERMARRE
D ERNUEHEBER XN ER@ A

@m#ﬁ*$ﬁﬁ§$mﬁﬁ@&
FHEBANBHEERRETEXR

PR U 3 4 A AR RS TR B A

default.

The Group applies the simplified approach to providing for
expected credit losses prescribed by IFRS 9, which permits the
use of the lifetime expected loss provision for all trade
receivables. To measure the expected credit losses, trade
receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due. Based on the evaluation
on the expected loss rate and the gross carrying amount, the
directors of the Company are of the opinion that the expected
credit losses in respect of these balances are immaterial, and
therefore, there has not been a loss allowance provision.
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TS RIR R H e B R IR

24. PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

20224 20214
2022 2021
AR¥BTR ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
I8 R IE & H b o] Uk 0] 7 18 Prepaid tax and other tax recoverable 5,391,122 6,119,977
HE=H+iFEAEABNIESES  Deposits related to third parties’ land
use rights 932,809 978,384
TihHEZ S Deposits for land auction 416,340 743,498
Hhig® Other deposits 4,408,704 4,037,362
U i (F AR EFEF 3RTE  Progress prepayments for acquisition
of land use rights 63,661 337,180
R ARTEN A Prepayments for construction cost 315,542 478,977
JE S Bt B 1 &) FE 4% IR AR R SR IE Due from non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiaries 27,311,660 27,323,685
H fib pE U 3k 18 Other receivables 2,879,628 2,145,767
41,719,466 42,164,830
R E Less: Impairment 94,383 31,361
WD BEARHEENE S Less: Portion classified as current
assets 41,625,083 42,057,888
IERENFB > Non-current portion - 75,581

H g W RIEREEMT A5t B R

B F ESRHIR -

.,

Other receivables are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and have

no fixed terms of repayment.
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. ENREREMEWRTFIE@  24. PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)
FEW G IER R EREEH T The movements in provision for impairment of receivables are
as follows:
2022 20214
2022 2021
ARETR ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
EEE———
NG At the beginning of the year 31,361 26,280
EHRRBEEE Impairment losses recognised 63,022 5,081
RERXR At the end of the year 94,383 31,361

AEERBEEHEEBEEENEE
ftb FE U FR B R IR & T BB A © 7%
WAL IHBEFE BB HRE %R
FOFRETHRENEETE - EHE
EEENSENE %&iaﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ A
kB W) H R AR EE R E
{t o 2022412 A318 - E‘E,Hﬂf*,\
& 18 B A K 194,383,000 7T (2021 4F
12318 : AR#231,361,0007T) °

.,

The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model
on other receivables and deposits, which are subject to
impairment assessment under IFRS 9. The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk
since initial recognition. As at 31 December 2022, the ECLs
were RMB94,383,000 (31 December 2021: RMB31,361,000).
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RekBEEEEY  ZMRHIE 25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS,

EREEBER RESTRICTED CASH AND PLEDGED
DEPOSITS

2022 F 20214
2022 2021
AR® Tt ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000

I —
R RIEITHEH Cash and bank balances 16,585,989 27,610,483
B XBRHIIR e Less: Restricted cash 1,760,385 5,894,494
B FER Pledged deposits 221,878 1,434,978
BehELEBY Cash and cash equivalents 14,603,726 20,281,011
AR E Denominated in RMB 14,598,266 20,003,365
LA TTETE Denominated in HK$ 3,647 43,147
AZETTEHE Denominated in US$ 1,813 234,499
14,603,726 20,281,011

B

BIEFREBEER AEEMNET
MERBE QAR ABETRERER
EREERTEFPIEREEARE - B
202212 A31B ZESXRHEIR S
A AR 725,028,000 (20214 = A
R #5,894,494,000 7T) °

R2022F 12 A31H » "NEE KR E 4
B A4 AR #1,035,357,000 7T (2021
FARBZELDMNETIRIRE
BWABT R A ©

R2022%F 12 A31H AEEKRMEE
BEAEHARBZT(2021F : ARE
500,000,000 7t) B & T E #H # F %
ETEHR UEAASEEERRT
MEMERKMEZFREERD
AR o

72022912 A31 8 A R #221,878,000
70 (20214 = A R #5934,978,000 7T ) HY
RITHERE TER  ERERIKRB
ERHIEEREIMEFRLERTR
TEARITRITARZENEMRS -

Pursuant to relevant regulations in the PRC, certain property
development companies of the Group are required to place
certain amounts of cash in designated bank accounts for
specified use. As at 31 December 2022, such restricted cash
amounted to RMB725,028,000 (2021: RMB5,894,494,000).

As at 31 December 2022, certain of the Group’s restricted cash
amounted to an aggregate carrying amount of approximately
RMB1,035,357,000 (2021: RMB nil) which have been frozen by
the court.

As at 31 December 2022, certain of the Group’s pledged
deposits with an aggregate carrying amount of approximately
RMB nil (2021: RMB500,000,000) have been pledged to secure
bank and other borrowings granted to the Group or to provide
a guarantee to a third party.

As at 31 December 2022, bank deposits of RMB221,878,000
(2021: RMB934,978,000) were pledged as security for
purchasers’ mortgage loans, or construction of projects, or
pledged to banks as collateral for issuance of bank acceptance
notes.
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Eﬁ,%% HEEEY  ZR&IZE 25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS,
= &2

K 7 17 =K ;) RESTRICTED CASH AND PLEDGED
DEPOSITS (Continued)
AREBERATERLBEAHMEE A The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies,
i - AR A B A 2 (OMNE B I R 51 however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control
RCKETE EERNMESIERTE) K Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and
SEEEERAERBEETINEZRER Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
ZIRTBARBH B AEEMEE - permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.
BRITHESBRESHRITERAXRIZE Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
FENFERERINAE c IRITEBTE N bank deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with
HEEYNLEAEEEMNET R creditworthy banks with no recent history of default. The
e B eEEYNERERE AT carrying amounts of the cash and cash equivalents
BEESE - approximated to their fair values.
202212 A31H  RRHIBEE B As at 31 December 2022, the internal credit rating of restricted
BHRFTHRURREMASZEMHR cash, pledged deposits and cash and cash equivalents were
HEEALRERAERTELR AEHE regarded as the grade of performing. The Group has assessed
EEEEETRESIRS - E#HEFT ,Ty\ that the credit risk of the restricted cash, pledged deposits and
UAkBREMREEEYH(E ff cash and cash equivalents has not increased significantly since
B ¥1A # M\L/{X]Iﬁﬁﬁ%i* e initial recognition and measured the impairment based on the
B2 BB = B 518 .:Jr;/ﬂiﬁ EL 12-month expected credit losses, and has assessed that the
BERHEHEHRHEEBEL TEKN- expected credit losses are immaterial.
EZEANARERENEE 26. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES
RBEERREREZAHNESE An ageing analysis of the trade and bills payables as at the end
NREBEBERENEBENERESTHOT of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:
2022 20214
2022 2021
AR®ETR ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
EE———
PR—F Less than 1 year 15,416,547 20,581,296
—F Pk Over 1 year 5,602,499 629,225

21,019,046 21,210,521

., —————————
B 5 ENE IE&VHETE?J%? =% i Trade and bills payables are unsecured, interest-free and are
ReB —RERIREEELEG. normally settled based on the progress of construction. As at
75/\2022 F12 )q 313 & & 7 [éﬁ B 31 December 2022, commercial acceptance bills of
NRFENEEALEZNDARE approximately RMB256,957,000 issued by the Company’s
256,957,000 7T 38 B K £+ © subsidiaries were overdue and unpaid.
NEERE S ENZE LE ﬁ = The fair values of trade and bills payables as at the end of the
EHOAFLEEAEREETREMRS reporting period approximated to their corresponding carrying
BE2HZ HHIR A e o amounts due to their relatively short maturity terms.
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27. HttENRIERETE A

27. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

2022 20214
2022 2021
ARETRT AREBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000

JE A B B 2 B FE 4% AR A SR SRR

A

Due to non-controlling shareholders

of subsidiaries 19,031,393 21,271,898
EE=FWEHIAEHEBERI  Advances from third parties related

to land auction 156,236 176,314
BENEEERS Retention deposits related to

construction 1,863,631 2,260,317
VHEERBELRS Deposits related to sales of

properties 621,292 694,537
HEH &M mE Value added tax and surcharges 1,069,332 521,447
B T & KAgF Payroll and welfare payable 78,603 254,821
JE 1~ AR 2, Dividend payable - 551,514
JE& A~ 1) &, Interest payable 533,803 171,214
A Others 1,161,450 784,003

24,515,740 26,686,065

HAth & 5 SRR Ko FE A BT B & ) JE %
BERRFRAEASEBERRRERE
B MNEREHREAEMNKEN
AFEEEEREREERS -

28. EHNEE

AEBEEHERATEEABENE
WEE:

.,

Other payables and amounts due to non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiaries are unsecured and repayable on
demand. The fair values of other payables at the end of each of
the reporting periods approximated to their corresponding
carrying amounts.

28. CONTRACT LIABILITIES
The Group recognised the following revenue-related contract
liabilities:
2022 F 20214
2022 2021
AR¥TRT ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000

A

Contract liabilities 113,837,210 120,815,799

AEBEREBEMEFEES QIR GT
ERHEXATFPRR A3EFHE
REGHOBEEZAWE  HEEXER
KEMEMERBEE -
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The Group receives payments from customers based on billing
schedules as established in the property sales contracts.
Payments are usually received in advance of the performance
under the contracts which are mainly from property
development and sales.
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29. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS

2022%12A31H
31 December 2022

202112 A31H
31 December 2021

BN

RITEN
—HEH
|ITER
— EK A
HEi &%
—HEHA

HEi &%
— KA

RERTERN
b
—RHAH

RPEMERD
)
R 3

RHEMERLD
D
—HHAM

I BN
RITEN
—HEH
Hi &R
—HFHAF
Hi &%
— B

Current

Bank loans —
secured

Bank loans —
unsecured

Other loans —
secured

Other loans
— unsecured

Current portion of
long term bank
loans — secured

Current portion of
long term other
loans — secured

Current portion of
long term other
loans — secured

Non-current
Bank loans

— secured
Other loans

— secured
Other loans

— unsecured

BB E (%) A AR®TR EBRFEXR) 8 ARETT
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
(%) Maturity RMB’000 (%) Maturity RMB’000
- N ) A I
6.50-7.50 2023 78,000 6.59-11.80 2022 801,660
2023
- 10.80 2022 74,800
11.00-14.50 BREX/ 772,553 6.89-14.50 2022 1,313,769
20235
On demand/
2023
6.00-16.00 BER/ 2,582,695 5.00-16.00 2022 4,229,644
2023 %
On demand/
2023
4.60-9.00 RER/ 3,814,148 4.75-12.40 2022 4,007,963
20235
On demand/
2023
7.70-12.50 2023% 1,876,407 7.20-12.50 2022 855,820
2023
10.00-14.50 REXR,/ 2,217,340 10.00-14.50 2022 1,057,510
2023%F
On demand/
2023
11,341,143 12,341,166
4.10-10.50 2024-2025 6,070,740 4.10-10.50 2023-2025 12,698,700
2.80-15.00 2024-2025 2,149,200 6.00-15.00 2023 5,058,860
8.00-12.00 2024-2025 672,270 10.00-14.20 2023 1,582,796
8,892,210 19,340,356
20,233,353 31,681,522
| —
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20, FFERITREMER@

29. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (Continued)

2022 F 2021 4F
2022 2021
ARET T ARBEFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000

A

WA Analysed into:
JEEBIRITER Bank loans repayable:
—FRFFEENR Within one year or on demand 3,892,148 4,884,423
E_F In the second year 5,158,740 6,452,777
FE-FZEZFRF In the third to fifth years, inclusive
(BHEEREME) 912,000 6,245,923
9,962,888 17,583,123
JEEEHMEK: Other borrowings repayable:
—FRRIEEKX Within one year or on demand 7,448,995 7,456,743
F_F In the second year 1,912,016 6,333,356
F-FEFRF In the third to fifth years, inclusive
(BREEMF) 909,454 308,300

10,270,465 14,098,399

20,233,353 31,681,522

R2022F12A31H » st BERIT R E

.,

As at 31 December 2022, an aggregate amount of principal of

AR S 45 5 AR B2 700,636,000 RMB2,700,636,000 for interest-bearing bank and other

TTHARETERBEERES BRI
PRBFERITEREMERARE
489,430,000 LA A RI I Bk EE -

2022412 31 H % » 120224F 12
AS1BEHM B RITREMER
K44 st AR #559,738,0007T B 1€
BT -

214

borrowings had not been repaid according to their scheduled
repayment dates, triggering certain long term interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings amounted to RMB489,430,000
becoming repayable on demand.

Subsequent to 31 December 2022, an aggregate amount of
principal of RMB559,738,000 for interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings, which were overdue as at 31 December
2022, were repaid or extended.
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2. FFERTREMER @ 29. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (Continued)
AEEETFTRIOTLEMIERBBE Certain of the Group’s bank and other borrowings are secured
BT EEFEEKS ERREHK by the pledges of the following assets with carrying values at
MEREERT : the end of the reporting period as follows:

2022 F 20214

2022 2021

s AR®BFTFR ARBTT

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
R —

EEYE Properties under development 21 56,787,872 67,994,853

KEWE Investment properties 14 = 253,400
o

ARRERBECDHERHFRRT
Ko B At t8 R E) A F (B B2 E AR (E AR
F ETE2RASRSERANAEE
HEVE =N EREBRERTD
B ERER -

R2022F12A31H @A & A 7 3k
TR RERMNE THRITREAM
BR&ESZ A AR ¥32193587T
(20214 : A R #6,298,964,0007T) °

The management of the Company has assessed that the fair
values of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the fact
that such borrowings were made between the Group and
independent third party financial institutions based on prevailing
market interest rates.

Certain of the bank and other borrowings of up to
RMB3,219,358 were guaranteed by the Company’s non-
controlling shareholders as at 31 December 2022 (2021:
RMB6,298,964,000).
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30.

216

HMBERSHNRE 30. PROVISION FOR FINANCIAL GUARANTEE
CONTRACTS

20224 20214

2022 2021

AR®ET R ARET T

RMB’000 RMB’000
.

k) At the beginning of the year 138,523 72,914

BHEEEES Changes in expected credit losses (1,867) (80,381)

NE Additions 100,183 145,990

RER At the end of the year 236,839 138,523
.

MBRERENERAEESELE
LEtERBAR—RE=ZEFRE
THROTMEMEREBNER &
BRI K ST

BRARBRIN - ANEEIW AR RS
BHER - FMEERBDOBAEEES
B o

FHRERANKEHEEEBER
HEYN ST HEIASENERSERE
DAL U AL ETE - FEHE
EEEREBRAFESERTE
D EREEFAEABNRIT)EE
EEEBNEHRNRRERAEEE
HEEBANEGELEREEAQ
7)) WEI 1A & 58 - R E 22022
F12A3MBEFE ARd 2t
X¥RBERFUR—BRE=ZTR
HERFREHCEBBEREAR
¥ 236,839,000 7t (2021 4F : A R #
138,523,0007T) °

The financial guarantee contracts represent guarantees given to
banks and other financial institutions in connection with
borrowings made to the Group’s joint ventures and associates
and a third party, details of which are set out in note 37.

The Group does not provide financial guarantees except for
limited circumstances. All guarantees are approved by the
directors of the Group.

The financial guarantee contracts are measured at the higher of
the ECL allowance and the amount initially recognised less the
cumulative amount of income recognised. The ECL allowance is
measured by estimating the cash shortfalls, which are based on
the expected payments to reimburse the holders (i.e., the
banks) for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that the
Group expects to receive from the debtor (i.e., the joint ventures
and associates). During the year ended 31 December 2022, an
ECL allowance of RMB236,839,000 was provided as a result of
guarantees provided to the joint ventures and associates and a
thirty party (2021: RMB138,523,000).
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31. SENIOR NOTES

2022%12A31H 2021912 A31H

31 December 2022 31 December 2021
A AR®TR e ARETT
Maturity ~ RMB’000 Maturity ~ RMB’000

202261 A BB 7 5% B L EE Senior notes due Jan 2022-7.5% - —  2022/1/31 1,163,601

202245 A 3| HE8 5% B L2 1E Senior notes due May 2022-8.5% Ondemand 112,499  2022/5/19 1,847,772
REXR

R2022%7 A B HH9.50% B L= Senior notes due Jul 2022-9.50% On demand 87,573  2022/7/29 2,879,102
REXR

20228 A 3| EH11.00%E % Z4  Senior notes due Aug 2022-11.00% —  2022/8/5 988,982

720234 4 A 5| H1E)12.00%E £ Z%  Senior notes due Apr 2023-12.00% 2023/4/17 1,417,154  2023/4/17 1,301,830

R2023F 4 AFEIE8.75%E L EHE  Senior notes due Apr 2023-8.75% 2023/4/15 1,584,408 -

R 202312 A F|Ei)9.75% @ £ 24 Senior notes due Dec 2023-9.75% 2023/12/31 3,300,165 -

6,501,799 8,181,287

B BV S Less: Current portion 6,501,799 6,879,457

MBS D Non-current portion - 1,301,830

217



FREREEARAT 2022F FH

A I R EE

Notes to Financial Statements
2022 %12 A 31 H 31 December 2022

31. {E 51_5 Hﬁ 31. SENIOR NOTES (Continued)
20224 20214
12A31H 12431 H
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
AR® T ARBTFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
_—
NEBFEEENELZENT The Group’s senior notes were
repayable as follows:
BR—EFERNRILEREERE Repayable within one year or on
demand 6,501,799 6,879,457
HRE_FEE Repayable in the second year = 1,301,830
6,501,799 8,181,287
_

20221 A E I B KRB (7.5%)

HE2022F12A31BIFFEAR K
%E%@zozzi1ﬁ%ﬁ§f%§+$@

AR =B £61,496,000FK L A& BEE A
65396000%735’12022&1)% =B
WEESH - TR RESH & )8 115,794,000
ETLREE - 20221 A31H » &
NEIEEE R M2022F1 A2 B
@ {8 A115,794,0003% T 3 I FE 5t &

AFE -

A 2022 %5 F (8.5%) - 2022 £ 7 B
(9.5%) - 2023 £F 4 A (8.75%) & 2023

F128(9.75%) B HFHNE L EE
R2021 12 A31H KE @D

/300,000,000 7T &450,000,000%
T H920224F 5 A 2| 81 H98.5% 4% BB B
S B ([2022F5 8 ZE 1 |) Kk2022
F7 8 3 H 89.5% 18 %t E # ([2022

FTAREDINIAREE -

N2022FE5 A17H "L B8 D
/10,200,000 7T & 10,500,0003 7T
7 [0 B8 892022 F5 A Z 15 22022 F 7

AZBEWEH -
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Senior notes due January 2022 (7.5%)

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
repurchased the January 2022 Notes with an aggregate
principal amount of US$61,496,000. An aggregate principal
amount of US$65,396,000 of the January 2022 Notes were
cancelled and US$115,794,000 remained outstanding after the
cancellation. On 31 January 2022, the Company fully redeemed
the outstanding January 2022 Notes at the redemption amount
of US$115,794,000 plus accrued and unpaid interest.

Senior notes due May 2022 (8.5%), July 2022 (9.5%), April
2023 (8.75%) and December 2023 (9.75%)

As at 31 December 2021, aggregate principal amounts of
US$300,000,000 and US$450,000,000 of the 8.5% green
senior notes due May 2022 (the “May 2022 Notes”) and of the
9.5% senior notes due July 2022 (the “July 2022 Notes”)
remained outstanding respectively.

On 17 May 2022, aggregate principal amounts of
US$10,200,000 and US$10,500,000 of the repurchased May
2022 Notes and the July 2022 Notes were cancelled
respectively.
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BEEE @

2022 %5 A (8.5%) - 2022 £ 7 A
(9.5%) - 2023 £ 4 A (8.75%) & 2023
F12 H(9.75%) B HA 9 B 5 Z 48 (#)

202245 818 H N2022F6 16 H -
KA AIFERK2022F 5 A E I & 2022 F
TAZEBERNRBEH(RBEL]) -
TEXZRBEN % 271,147,000
JC H)2022F 5 A 2 1 & 426,926,000
ETLW022F7 A EBE B RIRERE
R EARRD A E N L atoo22
FES5H E i K20 ETAEZEE =
He AR BURRRITEEZMRD
2022 F 5 A BB R2022F 7T A B -
KABBREBEIBRELN D AIZEITAE
4 #8 F224,224 517 % JT Y2023 F
48 % H ;98.75% 18 % = & ([2023
F4H B HE-875%]) & K & 42 %
473,848,483 JT Hy20234F 12 A EI| HA
B9.75% 18 £ F & ([2023F 12 A4 &
E-9.75%1) 2023 4 A Z 1 -8.75%
N 2023F 12 A T #E-9.75% 1) & %)
EHFBEX G BR2022F58 2 &
2022F7THER T2 EMEHSLE
HNEGHEEIBEESIBZERNIX
BHEMH-

202212 A31 8 » N AT Ak ER
2022 F5 R EHE N2022F7T A EEE
REBEMmATSNAS REF B BT
30,115,000t (MK EEZHE) - &
REXEM o

F2023F 4 A EE-875% B EE
B G F| R 58.75% » 12202210 A 15
B N2023F4 A58 X N RZK - B %
ZRMEIHHE AB2023F4 150 - B
FIHART ) R R - AN R) A AIRTE
S e R BB B (B 4K BB Bl & = £ 100%
MEBLEEAGHESE-

IR R E
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31. SENIOR NOTES (Continued)

Senior notes due May 2022 (8.5%), July 2022 (9.5%), April
2023 (8.75%) and December 2023 (9.75%) (Continued)

On 18 May 2022 and 16 June 2022, the Company completed
the offer to exchange (“Exchange Offers”) relating to the May
2022 Notes and the July 2022 Notes. Upon completion of the
Exchange Offers, May 2022 Notes and July 2022 Notes of
US$271,147,000 and US$426,926,000 were validly tendered
for exchange and accepted by the Company. The aforesaid
May 2022 Notes and July 2022 Notes have been cancelled. In
exchange of the validly tendered and accepted May 2022 Notes
and July 2022 Notes, the Company issued the 8.75% senior
notes due April 2023 (the “April 2023 Notes-8.75%”) and the
9.75% senior notes due December 2023 (the “December 2023
Notes-9.75%") in aggregate principal amounts of
US$224,224 517 and US$473,848,483 respectively pursuant
to the Exchange Offers. The events of default provision under
the April 2023 Notes-8.75% and the December 2023
Notes-9.75% will carve out any cross-default events arising
directly or indirectly from any defaults or events of default under
the May 2022 Notes and July 2022 Notes.

As at 31 December 2022, the Company did not pay principal
and interest thereon in aggregate amount of US$30,115,000,
net of repurchased notes, before expiry of grace period for the
May 2022 Notes and the July 2022 Notes, which constituted an
event of default.

For the April 2023 Notes-8.75%, the senior notes bear interest
at 8.75% per annum which is payable in arrears on 15 October
2022 and 15 April 2023. The maturity date of the senior notes is
15 April 2023. At any time prior to maturity, the Company may
redeem up to 100% of the aggregate principal amount of the
senior notes at a predetermined redemption price.
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31. BEEEB @

2022 %5 A (8.5%) - 2022 £ 7 A
(9.5%) - 2023 £ 4 A (8.75%) & 2023
F12 A (9.75%) B HA 9 B S Z 48 (#)

MN2022F 12 A31H » & & 7 Kk #E
F2023F4 A EE-8.75% % 1 & B
8,883,000k L' AL T~ &H T
HRBRERFEAGEERIEA

g -

BL2023F 128 EE-975% - BEEE
B EFER K E.75% @ 2022512 A
31H ~ 202346 A30H K& 2023F12 A
FEXNARR-BEEAEEMNITEHA
A2023F 12 A31H - R B HA AT 1T
AR - RAA A LAIRTE R EENE
6] (B 1% f& [0] &% & 2 100% K 18 ¢ Z &

ZINGAE L

MR2022%F 12 A31H » &AQ Al A& 845t
2023F 12 A E #-9.75% = 17 & &
28,490,000t * B THFEH T
HAREBEAEBREREAGBRENRRER

BI& -

2022F 8 A EIHAMV B %&£ E 5 (11.0%)

R2021F8H6H » R AAEITASE
4258 /4 150,000,0003 7T Ay 2022 F 8 A
B B A9 11.0% 18 % R & ([2022F 8 A
ZHE]) o R2022F 4 268 AR A
o022 F8 A BB FFH AR ALk
Bt - AR AREE B Bk R &k
HERA2022F8AREFAE ARARD
AIRENTBEREERTHERE
2022F8 H Z 15 o 1h2022F 5 H208 -
02F8AEBNREERS BT
150,000,000 jT B & B R # #F 88 &
RMB20202FEAEERFFARHED
T EREER - 2022F8 8 EE

BRI NP RIR & X o
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31. SENIOR NOTES (Continued)

Senior notes due May 2022 (8.5%), July 2022 (9.5%), April
2023 (8.75%) and December 2023 (9.75%) (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022, the Company did not pay interest in
the amount of US$8,883,000 for the April 2023 Notes-8.75%,
so it did not meet certain covenants and the holders of the
senior notes have rights to demand early repayment.

For the December 2023 Notes-9.75%, the senior notes bear
interest at 9.75% per annum which is payable in arrears on 31
December 2022, 30 June 2023 and 31 December 2023. The
maturity date of the senior notes is 31 December 2023. At any
time prior to maturity, the Company may redeem up to 100% of
the aggregate principal amount of the senior notes at a
predetermined redemption price.

As at 31 December 2022, the Company failed to pay interest in
the amount of US$28,490,000 for the December 2023
Notes-9.75%, so it did not meet certain covenants and the
holders of the senior notes have rights to demand early repayment.

Senior notes due August 2022 (11.0%)

On 6 August 2021, the Company issued the 11.0% senior
notes due August 2022 with principal in an aggregate amount
of US$150,000,000 (the “August 2022 Notes”). On 26 April
2022, the Company entered into agreements with the holders
of the August 2022 Notes, pursuant to which the August 2022
Notes were fully refinanced by the Company by applying a new
refinancing loan facility which was provided to the Company by
the holders of the August 2022 Notes in accordance with the
terms and conditions contained therein. On 20 May 2022, the
total outstanding principal amount of the August 2022 Notes of
US$150,000,000, had been effectively cancelled and
exchanged into the aforesaid new refinancing loan facility
provided by the holders of the August 2022 Notes. No cash
settlement was involved for such cancellation of the August
2022 Notes.
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20234 A B H H0B %& E 8 (12.0%)

R2021F9H17H » RARIETER
& H12.00% 72023 4 3 B 69 18 %
Z % K& #4258 5200,000,0003 TT
([20283F4 8 EH-12%]) - EX =
ENFEMEE1200% BFFRY
—k-BHREEMNEEA F2023
FA[17H  R2022F9 A17 B BT #Y
TR KRR AIAIRTELEETE
/) fE O] B 1% B Bl &% == 1 35% M B 5t
FEBEAS LR MR2022F9H18
BERHEZ2EOTMER AQ
A)A] DA ¥R T8 2 HE T RO BB B (E 4K FE T
BEE100%MEERBRSBREE -

R2022F12 A31H » &N A & KR EER
2023F 4 A ZHE-12% N E R B fE
A 3% 5 1] B.12,000,000% 7T+ B itk
HEBETRHWRELEEBERFEBEABR
EESRIZAIERE -

AEBERERBEMERAMEERN
© 4@ R A K %2,890,595,000 7T #J
AAERITREMEST AT E
AT K K2023F4 A k12 A 5 8
MEEREFEABEERER

B -

HRELEENREEBELHENRD
FEIAERN Al AEETE
NEEIT B RN 2022 F 2021 512 A
STHERZENFE-

IR R E
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31. SENIOR NOTES (Continued)

Senior notes due April 2023 (12.0%)

On 17 September 2021, the Company issued senior notes at a
coupon rate of 12.00% due within 2023 with an aggregate
principal amount of US$200,000,000 (the “April 2023
Notes-12%”). The senior notes bear interest at 12.00% per
annum which is payable semi-annually in arrears. The maturity
date of the senior notes is 17 April 2023. At any time prior to 17
September 2022, the Company may redeem up to 35% of the
aggregate principal amount of the senior notes at a
predetermined redemption price, and at any time from 18
September 2022 to maturity, the Company may redeem up to
100% of the aggregate principal amount of the senior notes at
a predetermined redemption price.

As at 31 December 2022, the Company did not pay interest in
the amount of US$12,000,000 before expiry of grace period for
the April 2023 Notes-12%, so it did not meet certain covenants
and the holders of the senior notes have rights to demand early
repayment.

The Group did not repay an aggregate principal amount of
RMB2,890,595,000 for interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings according to their scheduled repayment dates, so it
did not meet certain covenants and the holders of senior notes
due April and December 2023 have rights to demand early
repayment.

The fair values of the early redemption options of the senior

notes were not significant and therefore were not recognised by
the Group on inception and as at 31 December 2022 and 2021.
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32. K& 32. SHARE CAPITAL
B 5 Shares
2022 & 20214
12A31H 12 431 H
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
BT BT
HK$ HKS
BEBITERAC: Issued and fully paid:
3,581,791,500 % 3,581,791,500
(20214 : 3,581,791,500 /%) (2021: 3,581,791,500) ordinary
M MEEO0.01/%8 T (20214 shares of HK$0.01 each
FREECOTE L) T B (2021: HK$0.01 each) 35,817,915 35,817,915
HERARETT Equivalent to RMB’000 31,450 31,450

33. BRESERKROHBE

AKRREZE—BEKRESTS ([Z:T
g - ErEARETHERMAKS
KA R BVERGEE 2= - W E) %
E2HEEBAANALBRENEE
FSERB N BRAXARE RERK
MEBE  ZTEFEARAEETHHS
B RHE REEFT2HEELET
HEME HERLEF - ZatE
R2019F 7 A16H £ - I B k& 3F

BAZE &

RARITHBERER
RZBRFTFA—BEBR -

BEZTEEMEEREO R
FHERESEONBROBERS A
353,000,000 % 1 B pE 2 Bk 8 & =
& FA2019F 7 A M8 A B BTG
H19.9% c ZeT BB THEREMNITE

ER5.838TT °
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33.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE
INCENTIVE SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
for the purpose of providing selected participants with the
opportunity to acquire propriety interests in the Company and
to encourage selected participants to work towards enhancing
the value of the Company and its shares for the benefit of the
Company and its shareholders as a whole. The Scheme
provides the Company with a flexible means of retaining,
incentivising, rewarding, remunerating, compensating and/or
providing benefits to selected participants. The Scheme
became effective on 16 July 2019 and, unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from
that date.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently
permitted to be granted under the Scheme is 353,000,000
shares, representing 9.9% shares in issue immediately upon
completion of the Global Offering in July and August 2019. The
exercise price of the share options under the Scheme is
HK$5.83.
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33. BRESTE R HEsTE 33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE
(%) INCENTIVE SCHEME (continued)

BRESEE R : The share option vesting schedules are:

HER S K
BSESHL
Maximum percentage
of underlying shares

AL ERE A AR E Vesting date in respect of the option may be
KB H vested
202157 A7H 7 July 2021 10%
2022%7 A7 H 7 July 2022 20%
2023F7 A7H 7 July 2023 20%
20247 A7H 7 July 2024 20%
2025%7 A7H 7 July 2025 30%
TR ZE BT T ERER The following share options were outstanding under the
RITE Scheme during the year:
2022 %
2022
nEEY
TEE BRESE
Weighted average Number
exercise price of options
BRERT ¥ 1
HK$
per share ’000
m1A18 At 1 January 5.83 50,400
FAEL Granted during the year — —
FRERM Lapsed during the year - (25,900)
12 4318 At 31 December 5.83 24,500
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3. ERESSIRKRO BB E 33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE

() INCENTIVE SCHEME (continued)
RIEBHKR BMRTEERE T The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options
FEEAITHEISRWT : outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:
2022 F 2022
BREHE TEE TS
Number of options Exercise price Exercise period
¥ % BRET
’000 HKS$ per share
2,450 5.83 7 July 2021 to 6 July 2030
2021 7 H7H Z2030F7 A6 H
4,900 5.83 7 July 2022 to 6 July 2030
2022F7H7HZE2030F7H6H
4,900 5.83 7 July 2023 to 6 July 2030
2023 7H7HZE2030%7H6H
4,900 5.83 7 July 2024 to 6 July 2030
202457 H7H Z£2030F7H6H
7,350 5.83 7 July 2025 to 6 July 2030
20257 H7HZE2030F7 A6 H
ERENUAESEENEREAT The fair value of equity-settled share options granted was
B R2020F7 A7HIRA —EA 8 estimated as at 7 July 2020 using a binomial model taking into
NG WEEHEHBRENK account the terms and conditions upon which the options were
REMEHE - TR AR a8 A granted. The following table lists the inputs to the model used:
BIE -
P& B U 2 2 (%) Dividend yield (%) 9.05
8 B R 1@ (% Expected volatility (%) 37.37
4 2 b 7 & (%) Risk-free interest rate (%) 0.43
MEFEHRE(FERBET) Weighted average share price (HK$ per share) 5.83
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33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE

INCENTIVE SCHEME (Continued)

The expected life of the options is based on the benchmark of
the industry and is not necessarily indicative of the exercise
patterns that my occur. The expected volatility reflects the
assumptions management made and is indicative of future
trends, which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated into
the measurement of fair value.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had
24,500,000 share options outstanding under the Scheme. The
exercise in full of the outstanding share options would, under
the present capital structure of the Company, result in the issue
of 24,500,000 additional ordinary shares of the Company and
additional share capital of RMB24,500,000 (before issue
expenses).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the
Company had 24,500,000 share options outstanding under the
Scheme, which represented approximately 0.7% of the
Company’s shares in issue as at that date.

Share Incentive Scheme

The Company operates a share incentive scheme (the “Share
Incentive Scheme”) which was adopted by an ordinary
resolution of the shareholders of the Company on 31 December
2021. Unless otherwise cancelled or amended, the Share
Incentive Scheme will remain valid and effective for 10 years
from the date of adoption. The specific objectives of the scheme
are () to promote the long-term sustained growth in the
shareholder value of the Group; (i) to recognise the
contributions by certain outstanding employees and to provide
them with incentives in order to retain them for the continual
operation and development of the Group; and (i) to attract
outstanding talents in the industry for further development of the
Group.
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33.

34.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE
INCENTIVE SCHEME (Continued)

Share Incentive Scheme (Continued)

Mr. Yang Jian (“Mr. Yang”), the executive director and
controlling shareholder of the Company, has transferred the
entire interest in Liangyi International Company Limited, which
in turn directly holds 89,121,090 shares, representing
approximately 2.49% of the total number of issued shares by
way of gift to the trustee. The Share Incentive Scheme is
operated by an independent trustee which holds the shares in
trust for the selected participants, until the shares become
vested. The shares granted will be vested in the proportions
and on the dates as set out in the relevant letters of grant
issued by the Company. Vested shares will be transferred to the
selected participants at no cost save that transaction fees and
expenses will be payable by the selected participants as
transferees.

As at 31 December 2022, the number of the Company’s shares
held under the Share Incentive Scheme account was
89,121,090. None of the shares has been awarded under the
Share Incentive Scheme.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the year ended 31 December 2022 are presented in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

(@) Share premium

The share premium represents the difference between the
par value of the shares issued and the consideration
received.

(b) Merger reserve

The merger reserve of the Group represents the issued
capital of the then holding company of the companies
now comprising the Group and the capital contributions
from the equity holders of certain subsidiaries now
comprising the Group before the completion of the
reorganisation.
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34. RESERVES (Continued)

Statutory surplus reserve

In accordance with the PRC Company Law and the
articles of association of the subsidiaries established in the
PRC, the Group is required to appropriate 10% of its net
profits after tax, as determined under PRC GAAP, to the
statutory surplus reserve until the reserve balance reaches
50% of its registered capital. Subject to certain restrictions
set out in the relevant PRC regulations and in the articles
of association of the Group, the statutory surplus reserve
may be used either to offset losses, or to be converted to
increase share capital provided that the balance after such
conversion is not less than 25% of the registered capital
of the Group. The reserve cannot be used for purposes
other than those for which it is created and is not
distributable as cash dividends.

Capital reserve

Capital reserve mainly represents the difference between
the cost of acquisition and the non-controlling interests
acquired in the case of acquisition of additional non-
controlling interests of subsidiaries, or, the difference
between the proceeds from disposal and the non-
controlling interests disposed of in the case of disposal of
partial equity interests in subsidiaries to non-controlling
shareholders without loss of control. Details of the
movements in the capital reserve are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Exchange fluctuation reserve

The exchange fluctuation reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of group entities. The reserve is dealt
with in accordance with the accounting policy set out in
note 2.4.
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. mEBEERERMEE 35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(@ FEFBREXRH (a) Major non-cash transactions
RAFEE  REBEGREFT R During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to
RENHELHSGEREE right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of RMB6,009,000
ERHEAGHFRSERD B (2021: RMB19,972,000) and RMB4,859,000 (2021:
A A R #6,009,0007T (2021 4F : RMB19,972,000), respectively, in respect of lease
AR #19,972,0007T) K A R # arrangements for buildings and offices.

4,859,000 7T (20214 : A R #
19,972,0007T,) °

RBEFE AAalE—%8 In previous years, the Company and an independent third
VA % =F DRI IERE M party established non-wholly-owned subsidiaries
B A EpBIE =7 &K respectively, in which the independent third party and the
NS ?v ﬁ LEEE RNEE Company held minority equity interests. During the year
12A31BEFE ZF B ended 31 December, these subsidiary companies were
NAEIBEGEM  ARARE T deregistered, and both the Company and the independent
FZFTHERERZEEED third party exited investments in these entities, with mutual
KE HERREEL AR /\ E ot exemption of funds of RMB980,000,000.

980,000,0007T °

b) BRETHELENEEEE (b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities
FERTR EBARE SEERES RMETHELE
Hit R ARRE FERE BAEE HEAE ERFE WEBAE
Interest-
bearing bank Due to Proceeds from Total liabilities
and other related asset-backed Senior Lease Interest  from financing
borrowings  companies securities notes liabilities payable activities
ARBFL ARETRT ARBTR ARBTR AREFT ARBTR ARETR
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
R2021F1 A18 At 1 January 2021 44,897,753 18,130,579 317,709 8,876,764 119,942 252,482 72,595,229
BEBSLREEL  Changes from financing
HEH cash flow (12,784,556)  (852,784) - (462,056) (62.923) (4,196,560 (18,358,879
HHEE New leases - - - - 19,972 - 19,972
FBRX Interest expense - — — - 7,455 4,115,312 4,122,767
REMBB AT Increase arising from due to
HED %E R&%  related companies classified
BEREMEM as operating cash flows - 1,718,213 - - — - 1,718,213
FHEHEAFM  Decrease arising from disposal
D of subsidiaries (383,090) - - — (1,740) — (384,830)
HE3ER 428 Other non-cash movements (48,585) - 932 (233,421) - - (281,074)
A2021%12A31H At 31 December 2021 31,681,522 18,996,008 318,641 8,181,287 82,706 171,234 59,431,398

BERSRBEL  Changes from financing

cash flow (11,452,533)  (2,174,190) (320,000) (2,166,242) (45,250) (2,152,378) (18,310,593)

HHE New leases - - - - 6,009 - 6,009

AR Interest expense - - - - 2,302 1,807,885 1,810,187

B ﬁ 'T FE NG Decrease arising from due to

NERLE related companies classified

fﬂ ﬁ ?ﬁ EMKY  asoperating cash flows - (168,069) - - - - (168,069)
HEMBRATM Decrease arising from disposal

B of subsidiaries (120,800) = = = (291) = (121,001)

HtkEREED Other non-cash movements 125,164 - 1,359 486,754 - 353,531 966,808

202212 A31H At 31 December 2022 20,233,353 16,653,749 - 6,501,799 45,476 180,272 43,614,649
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3. KERERERNHZTE @ 35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
(c) HERERHERE (c) Total cash outflow for leases
AR RERMNEERESR The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement
HAazEmT of cash flows is as follows:
2022 2021 4
2022 2021
ARET T AR T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
R EEEA Within operating activities 5,964 9,301
RELEEB A Within financing activities 45,250 62,923
51,214 72,224
e
36. HEHE QT 36. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
HZE2022F12H31HILEE For the year ended 31 December 2022
HMEYL AEERHEN FAEBREESER HmRE

T i 1o B BFENESR BRENERZ AR%®TxR
Equity interest Equity interest

Place of held by the held by the Total
incorporation/ Group before Group after  consideration
HWELR BB Name of subsidiary registration disposal disposal RMB’000
HBRBEXERA A Nantong Liangxu Real Estate PRC Nil
Development Co., Ltd. th 40.00% i 163,090
7R & 18 5 e B Chifeng Liangbo Real Estate PRC Nil
BRAA Development Co., Ltd. h 48.33% i 48,038
BIMRIHEHERZ AR  Cangzhou Liangyue Real Estate PRC Nil
NG| Development Co., Ltd. i 70.00% i 41,846
MMERBELAR AT Hangzhou Runyue Real Estate Co., PRC Nil
Ltd. f 48.74% i 49,030
KERSEMERZAGMR Tanjn Liangding Real Estate PRC Nil
NG| Development Co., Ltd. i 70.00% i3 50,910
FERERMCEXEEAH  Wuhu Huiiang Enterprise Management PRC Nil
BBRAH Consulting Co., Ltd. H 51.00% 49.00% E
BEMPESEARAT Lanxi Zhonglianglong Real Estate Co., PRC Nil
Ltd. Co., Ltd. f 20.40% i 30,600
EEE AP HEMER Ningyuan Daliang Liqun Real Estate PRC Nil
BEHBAAE Co., Ltd. Gl 39.00% ::3 29,078
ERRREEAIRART  Ningbo Lianghe Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC Nil
Gl 65.03% i 6,503
BERBEBEAMR AT  Weihai Liangding Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC
(TEERE]) (1) (“Weihai Liangding”) (Note 1) s 100% 51% 78,400
" e S B
MizE1: WBREBERESRSEWAEMERZMEE B Note 1: Pursuant to the articles of association of Weihai Liangding, all
BREBNFMAERRTAZREAEKE S shareholders’ resolutions of Weihai Liangding shall be resolved by both
BRE—HZER - ERZBTE BB shareholders on a unanimous basis. In light of this requirement, Weihai
REARIARAEENESEDE Liangding is accounted for as a joint venture of the Group
BRERNEEFAS1%RE - notwithstanding that the Group held a 51% equity interest.
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36. HEME QT @

BE2021F12831HLFE

36. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

AR AEERBER AEERLER BRE
R HAENER HAENER AREFTT
Place of Equity interest Equity interest Total
incorporation/ held by the Group held by the Group consideration
MEARZE Name of subsidiary registration before disposal after disposal RMB’000
BMNRERMAERZAR Fuzhou Liangsong Real Estate PRC
NAE(PHEET) Development Co., Ltd. (Note 1) e 51% 49% 192,610
EMRERMEFLLAR Guizhou Lianghui Real Estate PRC Ni Ni
NG Brokerage Co., Ltd. B 66% i3 i3
MNRAZEEBRAR  Hangzhou Liangtai Real Estate Co., Ltd PRC Nil
G| 94% i 34,500
EEmMAEEEARR AR Zhaoging Lianghao Real Estate Co., PRC Nil
Ltd. s 100% 33% i
BME=EEBRADA  Zhengzhou Lvchen Real Estate Co., PRC Nil
(Tgp M s = 1) (fif 3£ 2) Ltd. (“Zhengzhou Lvchen”) (Note 2) H 100% 65% 4
AER2MEEBIR A7 HefeiLiangyue Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC Nil
(B 7E1) (Note 1) o 100% 49% :
BEREIEXABMAT  Nanning Liangchuang Real Estate Co., PRC Nil
(MF#E1) Ltd. (Note 1) I 100% 31% i
EWRREREMERZ  Kunming Zhongliang Dacheng Real PRC Nil
BRAFA Estate s 33.75% i 70,519
TEBERRNEEBRATF Pingyang Liangjie Property Co., Ltd. PRC Nil
H 60% 1 56,000
MMIEREEBR DG Hangzhou Zhengyue Industrial Co., Ltd. PRC Nil
H 60% 1 67,100
BEREAEERFEMERE Baotou Liangquan Heye Real Estate PRC Nil
BRAF Development Co., Ltd. & 35% :: 60,337
TN EZEBR A7 Xuzhou Guiyue Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC Nil
H 51% i 296,000
BINTTREE £HR A7 Wenzhou Liangshuo Real Estate PRC Nil
(K1) Co., Ltd. (Note 1) H 100% 27% 3
REPHREEAFMANE  Dongying Liangsheng Real Estate Co., PRC Nil
Ltd. H 100% 1 7,000

MfsE1: & £22021F12A831B tHE EF- &
BEENBIBRRUZERELRS R A
BRIE-TEAB ANEBERBY
BRESEBFEEENLHER B
BOERIEBER KM AR
FREBEYEREEREEN
WATEMRBESEANSXEREME
BEN—BRAE AUHzSER
RINAEEDE-

Mo : REDMERNMAHBERZAN
MERHMAEBRRAZRALE)
BR—BHER ERZRE - B
RREABRIBASEMNGERE
BE AN R B R B 65% B HE o
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Note 1: During the year ended 31 December 2021, the independent
shareholders of the respective entity injected capital in the form of
registered capital to the entities. After the capital injection, each of the
Group and the independent shareholder held partial interest of the
entities. The revised Memorandum and Articles of Association of the
entity has stipulated that all of the relevant activities including the
strategic financial and operating decisions required approval by the
unanimous consent of all of its shareholders and thus the entities are
accounted for as joint ventures.

Note 2: Pursuant to the articles of association of Zhengzhou Lvchen, all
shareholders’ resolutions of Zhengzhou Lvchen shall be resolved by
both shareholders on a unanimous basis. In light of this requirement,
Zhengzhou Lvchen is accounted for as a joint venture of the Group
notwithstanding that the Group held a 65% equity interest.
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36. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

The carrying values of the assets and liabilities on the dates of

N disposal were as follows:
2022 20214
2022 2021
AR®TRT AR%FT
RMB’000 RMB’000
- .
HE T SENEEFE: Net assets disposed of:
ME - B k& (M E13) Property, plant and equipment
(note 13) 253 34,367
WEYE (M E14) Investment properties (note 14) - 366,200
BIER A& B (M 5E19) Deferred tax assets (note 19) 44,745 323,030
FREEE(ME16) Right of use assets (note 16) 366 1,579
e (M 5E21) Properties under development
(note 21) 2,803,268 6,084,614
BEHEMNE T TYWE (H:F22) Completed properties held for sale
(note 22) 111,660 433,967
A] U B 7 1B Tax recoverable 93,866 —
HENIRESEEY Cash and cash equivalents 263,469 642,458
SR IR & Restricted cash 404,394 —_
T8 45 508 K H Ath g I 5 Prepayments and other receivables 2,308,811 3,593,107
REZBLENKRE Investments in joint ventures 58,133 —
2 ZENRIEREMNRE Trade and bills payables (276,921) (574,734)
ERNAaE Contract liabilities (2,120,397) (5,154,631)
FFERITREMER Interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings (120,800) (383,090)
JE #7518 Tax payable (51,059) (268,135)
HEaE(ME16) Lease liability (note 16) (291) (1,740)
REFIE R B (EE19) Deferred tax liabilities (note 19) (92) (72,408)
Hih N RIERESER Other payables and accruals (3,018,929) (4,122,198)
FE 15 IR HE 2 Non-controlling interests (222,427) (333,950)
278,049 568,436
HEREREEAEIBABERAIR Transferred to interests held and
AETFEER classified as associates and joint
ventures (61,118) (89,613)
& B A R = Gain on disposal of subsidiaries 280,564 407,243
AT 575 KE A Satisfied by:
i Cash 446,585 886,066
H b & K IE Other receivables 50,910 —
- - —
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36. HEM B2 3 )
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36. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

An analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in
respect of the disposal of the subsidiaries is as follows:

2022 F 20214

2022 2021

ARTRT AR%T

RMB’000 RMB’000

EEee———

HeRE Cash consideration 446,585 886,066

HEZReRBEEFEYD Cash and cash equivalents disposed of (263,469) (642,458)
REEMBAREE R Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents

REeZEEMRANFE in respect of the disposal of
subsidiaries 183,116 243,608

ARREERRLEMELENN
BRAHASEMEHBENX
Itk &R 2 B BB 2~ AR B IO {E R
MEERLARWKE -

37. MBERRIREE

R|EMR - BHERET

.,

The directors of the Company consider that not all subsidiaries
disposed of were significant to the Group and thus the individual
financial information of some subsidiaries on the disposal date
was not disclosed.

37. FINANCIAL GUARANTEES AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

At the end of the reporting period, financial guarantees were as

follows:
Bt 5 20224 20214
Notes 2022 2021
AR®BT R AREFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
.
RETAEEMEERY Guarantees given to banks 1) 32,608,409 61,946,755
BEMRITIRIEAER in connection with facilities
granted to purchasers of
the Group’s properties
METEELER Guarantees given to banks in @) 7,152,062 16,146,891

2 RRIARE =TT
BMEFRITRHEMER

connection with facilities
granted to joint ventures

and associates and third

parties

232



ZHONGLIANG HOLDINGS GROUP COMPANY LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022

. BBEREIAREBE@®

(1)

AEBEGRETRITOAEERE
EMEERRONKRIBHME
REER - RIBERZHOIKE
FoMBERERRBEMAR K
SEAERZFRTEREEN
BEXMBRNREREEAS
B[R A A A B R TR o

BIE bt d HEAYMED K
ATZERITERKBERDN
BEHMB - WZEERHERILE
B ZERTEREERH
EEXERE - UTHERBAFRA
BEEREAYE -

AEENERPHERDERR
BEREHEZEERERYE
REHELREZLIL BH
FR-RENERXZXEREY
ERWFFERFARG -

RER REBEIL RHAAE
BRIFHENEZIMEER
BRhmRBmERH"EREL
FAEREX - ARABEER
RMEBBRRBONT HEAYE
W R IR FE R AEEKRE
B R I1BE FOE R E A & A
B R B AR B SR AR ET IR
B

K’ilﬁ’fﬁfz\% ESN
NEI R —RZE=ZFEEE
mﬂ%ﬁ&ﬁ{ﬂﬂ%%kﬁi
Ro B Z=20229F12A31H
?%f/ft%w&@aﬂ&—%%
“HER ATREBARK
236,839,000 7T (2021 4F : A R
#138,523,0007T) ©

ﬁiﬁm

IR R E

Notes to Financial Statements
202212 A 31 H 31 December 2022

37. FINANCIAL GUARANTEES AND CONTINGENT

LIABILITIES (Continued)

1

The Group provided guarantees in respect of mortgage
facilities granted by certain banks to the purchasers of the
Group’s properties under development. Pursuant to the
terms of the guarantee arrangements, in the case of
default on mortgage payments by the purchasers, the
Group is responsible for repaying the outstanding
mortgage principals together with any accrued interest
and penalties owed by the defaulted purchasers to those
banks.

Under the above arrangement, the related properties were
pledged to the banks as collateral for the mortgage loans,
upon default on mortgage repayments by these
purchasers, the banks are entitled to take over the legal
titles and will realise the pledged properties through open
auction.

The Group’s guarantee period starts from the dates of
grant of the relevant mortgage loans and ends upon the
issuance and registration of property ownership
certificates to the purchasers, which will generally be
available within half a year to two years after the
purchasers take possession of the relevant properties.

The Group did not incur any material losses during the
year in respect of the guarantees provided for mortgage
facilities granted to purchasers of the Group’s completed
properties held for sale. The directors of the Company
considered that in the case of default on payments, the
net realisable value of the related properties would be
sufficient to repay the outstanding mortgage loans
together with any accrued interest and penalty, and
therefore no provision has been made in connection with
the guarantees.

The Group provided guarantees to banks and other
institutions in connection with borrowings made to joint
ventures, associates and a third party. As of 31 December
2022, an allowance of RMB236,839,000 (2021:
RMB138,523,000) was provided for as a result of the
guarantees provided to the related companies and a third

party.
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37. BERREIAEE @)
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37. FINANCIAL GUARANTEES AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES (Continued)

)

In addition to the litigations commenced by banks and
other financial institutions against subsidiaries of the
Group as disclosed in note 29, there were outstanding
litigations commenced by several constructors against
certain subsidiaries of the Group claiming construction
fees. Based on the advice of the Group’s in-house legal
counsel, the directors of the Company have estimated
that the Group will likely be liable to pay the construction,
which had been provided and included in “trade and bill
payables” as at 31 December 2022 and 2021. In the
opinion of the Company’s directors, no further provision
for litigation was required to be made for the year ended
31 December 2022 and 2021.

Except as disclosed above, during the year and up to 31
December 2022, the Group was not involved in any other
material litigation, arbitration or administrative proceedings,
claims or disputes. As far as the Company’s directors
were aware, the Group had no other material litigation or
claim which was pending or threatened against the Group.
As at 31 December 2022, the Group was the defendant
of certain non-material litigations, and also a party to
certain litigations arising from the ordinary course of
business of the Group. The likely outcome of these
contingent liabilities, litigations or other legal proceedings
cannot be ascertained with reasonable certainty at
present, but the Company’s directors believes that any
possible legal liability which may be incurred from the
aforesaid cases will not have any material impact on the
financial position or results of the Group.
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38. EiE 38. COMMITMENTS
RIERR REFBEBUTER The Group had the following capital commitments at the end of
HE the reporting period:
2022 F 20214
2022 2021
AR T ARETFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
.
BT AE AR Contracted, but not provided for:
Y % 8 R &) Property development activities 24,422,191 35,151,890
U B% + b {5 A A Acquisition of land use rights 1,515,284 2,978,415
25,937,475 38,130,305
e
AN REBRALECERBELT In addition, the Group had the following commitments provided
AE(BREAEBELEMEE D% to joint ventures (including the Group’s share of commitments
HEELD A RE) RN A LT made jointly with other joint venturers), which are not included in
it & - the above:
20224 2021
2022 2021
ARET T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
I
EETAVE R AR BB Contracted, but not provided for:
B Capital contributions 1,218,699 3,871,275

1,218,699 3,871,275

.,
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3. BEEARS 39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
1) EXBEBEIXS (1) Significant related party transactions
B E BRI BITHIMAR In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these
S8 RFRNRNEE S financial statements, the Group had the following
EITATRS : transactions with related parties during the year:
2022 & 20214
2022 2021
AR® Tt ARBEFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000

ElE PNCIE-
BELENBE QT
kOS]

BELERBE AT
i 2 R BRL SR 1
A

KE M ATBHK
BEARRBELAA
5 44 BB AR SR 92 1 0

NC]

&

‘I]]]D}

ERE LR

BERREBE AR
R ARV IR RRCIR 422 1

NC]

AeEETERBE QA M
E IR AR (K aE)

B AR YR IR RRCER 22 1

—JTE{/\%ﬁm:‘IE
HW%*(WE?)

236

Advances to related companies:
Joint ventures and associates
Companies controlled by the

ultimate controlling shareholders

Repayment of advances to related
companies:
Joint ventures and associates
Companies controlled by the
ultimate controlling shareholders

Advances from related companies:
Joint ventures and associates
Companies controlled by the

ultimate controlling shareholders

Repayment of advances from related
companies:
Joint ventures and associates
Companies controlled by the
ultimate controlling shareholders

Management consulting services to
joint ventures and associates (Note)

Property management services from
companies controlled by the
ultimate controlling shareholders*
(Note)

8,184,912

21,194

7,301,630

1,910

5,229,839

51,240

7,211,588

203,829

90,597

45,414

12,279,272

45,800

10,402,808

8,453,857

9,128,121

178,520

485,946

414,817
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39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

BEREBAIRS (#H) (1) Significant related party transactions (Continued)
20224 20214
2022 2021
AR¥BTR ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
TR PR AR RIS A 7] Design, decoration and outfitting
REEE  BREREE service from companies controlled
Bk 75~ (BfS 53) by the ultimate controlling
shareholders* (Note) - 94,010
TREVEIRALE I EIH) A T Sales agency services and other
REHEERIERE M EAM ancillary services from companies
it & AR 7 (BT 5%) controlled by the ultimate controlling
shareholders* (Note) 6,770 11,416
METESER HEZEHE2  Donation to a company controlled by
REMREEEIATIIBI  certain directors and/or their close
family members - 1,100

M 2SR DREBEBIOTEE
195 76 B 160 3R B AR 1 A 1T -

* B B B 75 A2 5 N AR B i AT
SR BEBERSH(TER LT
MAIE14AE) -

EEBLTHNEMARS

R2022%F 12 A31H & £
EARTHEAEDLERE &
RANEEREAARKE
7,152,062,000 7T (2021 12 A
318 : A R #15,646,891,000
L)WM A TFTRITREAME KR
HER -

(2

.,

Note: These transactions were carried out in accordance with the terms
and conditions mutually agreed by the parties incurred.

* The related party transactions above also constitute connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions as defined in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Other transactions with related parties

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has guaranteed
certain of the bank and other borrowings made to
its joint ventures and associates up to RMB7,152,062,000
(31 December 2021: RMB15,646,891,000).
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39. Bt AR Z )
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HEBRSHREHEHESR

39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(3) Outstanding balances with related parties

2022 20214
2022 2021
ARETRT AREBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000

P U R S 2% )R ¢
AL ERBE LA

RS RBCRAE S A A

B

A

Due from related companies:

Joint ventures and associates 13,691,102 12,807,819
Companies controlled by the

ultimate controlling shareholders 65,084 45,800
Impairment (412,051) —

13,344,135 12,853,619

JE& {5 B Bk . B SRR
BELERBERR

EREERBRRZES N E

Due to related companies:

Joint ventures and associates 16,627,819 18,609,568
Companies controlled by the
ultimate controlling shareholders 25,930 386,440

16,653,749 18,996,008

HERBE TSRS ER
e ATEFERIRERER -

AEBEFHBEHEBEEE
mEE SEM12E BB
EEE2HEHREEBEER
BEERRBRERE  LFGH
B R20229F12 A31 B #y B HF
ZEKE A AR 412,051,000
JC(20214F « #) -

.,

Balances with the above related parties were unsecured, non-
interest-bearing and repayable on demand.

The Group has evaluated the expected loss rate and gross
carrying amount, measured the impairment based on the
12-month ECLs or lifetime ECLs according to the credit risk,
and assessed that the expected credit losses were
RMB412,051,000 as at 31 December 2022 (2021: nil).
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39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

AEBFTEEEABSHH (4) Compensation of key management personnel of the
Group
20224 20214
2022 2021
AR¥BTR ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
HEEERH Short-term employee benefits 14,382 23,873
BEZRFEIHK Pension scheme contributions 336 343
NESEENBRERX Equity-settled share option expense 336 324

MEZEBAEXMNH Total compensation paid to key
e G management personnel 15,054 24,540
e ———
EME=EEMWEME—FFBE Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in note 8
REBF R R MTZES - to the financial statements.
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40. ZEHEITHNEMT A

240

RBERARZTEeRITANKEEE

m

2022 12H31H

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

31 December 2022

ERMEE Financial assets
REHR AR BA¥E
5l BR 9 FFABREN
EMEE tRMEE #Et
Financial
assets at Financial
amortised assets at
cost FVTPL Total
AR¥ T AR%EF T AR¥T T
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
! ' | |
AR RIER Financial assets included in
H e SR IE 1Y prepayments and other
o & E (fsE24) receivables (note 24) 34,599,992 - 34,599,992
AT EFAEZH  Financial assets at fair value
o B & E (FF3E20) through profit or loss (note 20) — 34,266 34,266
JiE U 8 Bk 1 B 3RIE Due from related companies
(Hf$3£39) (note 39) 13,756,186 - 13,756,186
Z 5 e 78 (M 5T 23) Trade receivables (note 23) 7,751 - 7,751
Be MIRTTHE% Cash and bank balances
(Ff 5 25) (note 25) 16,585,989 — 16,585,989
64,949,918 34,266 64,984,184
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

(Continued)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

(Continued)

31 December 2022 (Continued)

TREE Financial liabilities
28 £ )2 %N
5l BR B9
cRAs
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
AR¥ T
RMB’000
]
BAEERE (MsE31) Senior notes (note 31) 6,501,799
HERE(HE16) Lease liabilities (note 16) 45,476
2o RENRIERENZE (M :26)  Trade and bills payables (note 26) 21,019,046
SFAEMEARELESE AN Financial liabilities included in other payables and
& /A & (M sE27) accruals (note 27) 22,590,277
JE < B B 2 7] 338 (MY 5E39) Due to related companies (note 39) 16,653,749
FHEER1T K H b 18 7 (B 5E29) Interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings (note 29) 20,233,353
B SRR A X B (Y 5E30) Provision for financial guarantee contracts (note 30) 236,839
87,280,539
|
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40. ZEHE SN ERM TR @ 40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

(Continued)

RBEHRZHEe T AEMNEKEE
wm ()

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:
(Continued)

2021F12H31H 31 December 2021

TREE Financial assets
2 8 $H A AR BRFE
HI BR 89 AT AEZE
SEEE SREE @5t
Financial
assets at Financial
amortised assets
cost at FVTPL Total
ARBT T AR T T ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
HAFEMFEREM  Financial assets included in
JEWFIEM S RIEE  prepayments and other
(Fft 5E24) receivables (note 24) 31,361,047 — 31,361,047
BATETABRED Financial assets at fair value
TREE (Bﬁ F£20) through profit or loss (note 20) — 181,065 181,065
JiE Uk 8 B X B FRIE Due from related companies
(FF3E39) (note 39) 12,853,619 — 12,853,619
B2 5 e 18 (M5 23) Trade receivables (note 23) 5,239 — 5,239
fﬁ & MIRTT & 64 Cash and bank balances
(B 5E25) (note 25) 27,610,483 — 27,610,483
71,830,388 181,065 72,011,453
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

(Continued)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

(Continued)

31 December 2021 (Continued)

TREE Financial liabilities
5| B8R &9
TRBE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
AREF T
RMB’000
B EE (M sE31) Senior notes (note 31) 8,181,287
MEBE(HT16) Lease liabilities (note 16) 82,706
Z 5 EMNRIE R EMNZE (M 5526)  Trade and bills payables (note 26) 21,210,521
SFAEMEMNTEREFERD Financial liabilities included in other payables
TR EE (W 327) and accruals (note 27) 25,038,946
JE 1< B B &) 38 (BT 5E39) Due to related companies (note 39) 18,996,008
FAFERITRA ﬁﬂ f& 3K (Mf 35 29) Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
(note 29) 31,681,522
BEERE %“ Fri8 3k Proceeds from asset-backed securities 318,641
B YRR & #o F4 (FfF 5E30) Provision for financial guarantee contracts (note 30) 138,523
105,648,154
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M TRIENAFERLAFE 41. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
[E 4R OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
BREMERAFEAEHEENE R The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial
TEW AEBsRHITEMERE instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that
EAFENT : reasonably approximate to fair values, are as follows:

REE A¥EE
Carrying amounts Fair values
20224 20214 20224 20214
2022 2021 2022 2021
AR®BTR ARETt AR®TR ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
—— — EEEE—————————————
EWMEE Financial assets
A FE(EE ABEE Financial assets at FVTPL
NEREE 34,266 181,065 34,266 181,065
cHmEesE Financial liabilities
B Z 4 (K 5£31) Senior notes (note 31) 6,501,799 8,181,287 2,530,612 6,415,072
SERITREM Interest-bearing bank and
& 7 (Pt 5229) other borrowings
(note 29) 20,233,353 31,681,522 20,229,999 31,698,954
BEERES Proceed form assets-
FT 158 718 backed securities — 318,641 — 322,945
B RS EIRE ©98E &  Provision for financial
(Bt 5¥30) guarantee contracts
(note 30) 236,839 138,523 236,839 138,523
26,971,991 40,319,973 22,997,450 38,575,494
e ——————————————

244

EREECHRBRLASFED
EEMER RV ERE
BN R RRIE - S ATENRIE R HE M
FBEZRENEREE EHERNXK
AMENEE G AEMEN A
MEFFERN SR A E M E B
NARIEN A FERHKR®ENE
H E2HRNZFIANIHHAR
BRE PR -

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, pledged deposits, restricted cash, amounts
due from related companies, financial assets included in
prepayments and other receivables, trade and bills payables,
financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals and
amounts due to related companies approximate to their carrying
amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these
instruments.
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41. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The Group’s corporate finance team headed by the Group’s is
responsible for determining the policies and procedures for the
fair value measurement of financial instruments. The corporate
finance team reports directly to the Group’s and the board of
directors. At each reporting date, the corporate finance team
analyses the movements in the values of financial instruments
and determines the major inputs applied in the valuation. The
valuation is reviewed and approved by the Group. The valuation
process and results are discussed with the board of directors
twice a year for interim and annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between wiling parties, other than in a
forced or liquidation sale.

The fair values of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
and provision for financial guarantee contracts and proceeds
from asset-backed securities have been calculated by
discounting the expected future cash flows using rates currently
available for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and
remaining maturities. The fair value of proceeds from asset-
backed securities has been calculated by referring to the
quoted market price.

For the fair values of the financial assets at FVTPL, management
has estimated by discounting the expected future cash flows
using rates currently available for instruments with similar terms,
credit risk and remaining maturities. The fair value measurement
of the financial assets at FVTPL is categorised within level 3 of
the fair value hierarchy.

For the fair values of other financial liabilities, management has
estimated by discounting the expected future cash flows using
expected return rates for the underlying assets in order to
estimate the cash outflow amounts to settle the liabilities. The
fair value measurement of the financial liabilities is categorised
within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.
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41.
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EMIENLAFERAFE 41.
[E 4% (&)

DNTEEBR
TEHAAEELRIANATE
HERBR:

RAVEFENEE:
R202212H31H

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:
As at 31 December 2022

ERUATERFENDAFE

Fair value measurement using

RERBTSE BEATBEE EAFATERE
HRE LN ¢ WABE
(£—F8) (=) (=) @Et
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ARBTRT AR®BTR AR%¥Tn AR%TxR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

mATEH ABER Financial assets at FVTPL
CRMEE

34,266 - - 34,266

H2021F12H31H

As at 31 December 2021

ERANTERAENRTE

Fair value measurement using
RERTE  BARER EAMAEER
BB A BUE W ABUR

(F—FB) (F=RE) (=) st
Quoted

prices Significant Significant

in active observable  unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

BAFE ABHH Financial assets at FVTPL

TREE 121,953 — 59,112 181,085
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TR IEMNMAFERZLF{E 41. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
[E &% (@) OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cContinued)
AFEER(E) Fair value hierarchy (Continued)
MAFEHRENEE: Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed:
R2022#12H31H As at 31 December 2022
ERAUATERFENATLE
Fair value measurement using
WEBME EATEE BEXFTATEER
H R E WAE BWAE
(5—-18) (5=8) (5=8) wat
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
AR¥TRT AR®TR AR%BTR AR%®TrR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
- N S O
BLEER Senior notes 2,689,701 - - 2,689,701
SHERITREME T Interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings — 20,249,941 — 20,249,941
Bt IS (R & #9845 Provision for financial
guarantee contracts - — 236,839 236,839
2,689,701 20,249,941 236,839 23,176,481
- S Y
2021 F12531 H As at 31 December 2021
FERATERFZENATE
Fair value measurement using
REREME BEAUEE ZAITATEE
OEEE A BB A BB
(F—B) (F-E) (B=E) it
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
AR®TT AR®BTT ARBFTT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
BHLEERE Senior notes 6,415,072 — — 6,415,072
BEERELFME  Proceeds from asset-backed
HNIE securities 322,945 — — 322,945
SFRRITREMMEF Interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings — 31,698,954 - 31,698,954
BT ISERE LM Provision for financial
guarantee contracts — - 138,523 138,523
6,738,017 31,698,954 138,523 38,575,494
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SHMTANAFERAFME 41.

[E 4% (&)

DNV EER(E

LA AR 20224 2021 F12 H31H
HeRMIEFEAEZEATERE
ASBEREBERTFTEHRE ST

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to the
valuation of financial instruments together with a quantitative
sensitivity analysis as at 31 December 2022 and 2021:

248

HE R EXTTEEBAEE BE AYEHBAREZBRE
Valuation Significant
technique unobservable input Range Sensitivity of fair value to the input
BRRTEFARRR  WH% BEERE 20224 :0.1563-0.1584  AEFEEN/ R 1%HBE D FEL M 6D
CREE AR342,6607T,/ A R 342,6607C
Financial assets at FVTPL ~ Market approach ~ Net asset value 2022: 0.1553-0.1584 1% increase/decrease in net asset value would result
in an increase/decrease in fair value by
RMB342,660/RMB342,660
20214 :01719-0.1758  EEFEEM/ 1% EREQFEL M/
AP AR591,1207T,/ AR #591,1207
2021:0.1719-0.1753 1% increase/decrease in net asset value would result
in an increase/decrease in fair value by
RMB591,120/RMB591,120
RHEEREOEE EHRGEERE Yol & 2022 : 34.50%-40.00% UeEIEIE M HA1%EHE AT ERD EMA
Ba R¥#0261,8827,/ AR #261,8827C
Provision for financial Expected credit Recovery rate 2022: 34.50%-40.00% 1% increase/decrease in recovery rate would result in
guarantee contracts loss model a decrease/increase in fair value by RMB261,882/
RMB261,882
20214 : 35.70%-40.00% MBI IR0 19 S BEE R FER DL
AR60,8987T,/ AR 60,8987
2021: 35.70%-40.00% 1% increase/decrease in recovery rate would result in
a decrease/increase in fair value by RMB60,898/
RMB60,898
R = 2022% 1 1.05%-332%  EREEEM/H 1% B R FER L EMA
R¥14,091 7T/ AR 14,083
Discount rate 2022: 1.06%-3.32% 1% increase/decrease in discount rate would result in

20214 : 1.78%-3.44%

2021:1.78%-3.44%

a decrease/increase in fair value by RMB14,091/
RMB14,083

BREEN/ A% BHERTFERD/
EMARB1,778 T/ AREATIST

1% increase/decrease in discount rate would result in
a decrease/increase in fair value by RMB1,778/
RMB1,778
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s financial instruments mainly include cash and bank
equivalents, restricted cash, pledged deposits, trade
receivables, other receivables, trade and bills payables and
other payables, which arise directly from its operations. The
Group has other financial assets and liabilities such as interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings, senior notes, financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, other financial
liabilities, amounts due to related companies and amounts due
from related companies. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are interest rate risk, credit risk, foreign currency risk and
liquidity risk. Generally, the Group introduces conservative
strategies on its risk management. To keep the Group’s
exposure to these risks to a minimum, the Group has not used
any derivatives and other instruments for hedging purposes.
The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial
instruments for trading purposes. The board of directors
reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks
and they are summarised below:

(@) Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to risk for changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings set out in note 29. The
Group does not use derivative financial instruments to
hedge interest rate risk. The Group manages its interest
cost using variable rate bank borrowings and other
borrowings.

As at 31 December 2022, if the interest rate of bank and
other borrowings had increased/decreased by 1% and all
other variables held constant, the profit before tax of the
Group, through the impact on floating rate borrowings,
would have decreased/increased by approximately
RMB17,563,000 (2021: RMB22,913,000).
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

(b)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such
exposures arise from transactions by operating units in
currencies other than the units’ functional currencies.

In addition, the Group has currency exposures from its
cash and cash equivalents, interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings and senior notes.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end
of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in
the US$, HK$ and RMB exchange rates, with all other
variables held constant, of the Group’s (loss)/profit before
tax (due to changes in the fair values of monetary assets
and liabilities).

fE % BATE A
EHACTHE) #i/GRD)
Increase/

Increase/ (decrease)
(decrease) in loss

in rate before tax

% ARET T

% RMB’000

2022 % 2022

HMARBY ETEE If the RMB weakens against the US$ -5% 343,593
MARBHETLHE If the RMB strengthens against the US$ +5% (343,593)
i AR #E 5B T E If the RMB weakens against the HK$ -5% 182
MARE LB THE If the RMB strengthens against the HK$ +5% (182)

- ||

20214 2021

MARB S ETRE If the RMB weakens against the US$ -5% (397,339)
i AR #E B E T HE If the RMB strengthens against the US$ +5% 397,339
WMARELBTLERE If the RMB weakens against the HK$ -5% 2,157
AR I B THE If the RMB strengthens against the HK$ +5% (2,157)
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

(c)

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers
who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit
verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances
are monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group’s
exposure to bad debts is not significant. For transactions
that are not denominated in the functional currency of the
relevant operating unit, the Group does not offer credit
terms without the specific approval of the Head of Credit
Control.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s
credit policy, which is mainly based on past due
information unless other information is available without
undue cost or effort, and year-end staging classification
as at 31 December. The amounts presented are gross
carrying amounts for financial assets and the exposure to
credit risk for the financial guarantee contracts.
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42.

RABBREFERLDR

H2022F12 531 H

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
(c) Creditrisk
Maximum exposure and year-end staging
As at 31 December 2022
1218 A
BREEEE ZHEREERR
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
E1RR FoR R HEIRER L5
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach
AR®TRE AR¥Tn AR%®TR AR%¥Tx
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

B 5 ERRIR
AABRMRER
H it IR A
TREE
— J.T:T%“**
JE W BB A R 5ROR
XRHRE
— HARBH
EHEAER
— WARBH
RekBeEEY
— WARBH
RETHELAR
BELEXNMBER

— WARBH

Trade receivables®
Financial assets included in
prepayments and other
receivables
— Normal™*

Due from related companies

Restricted cash
— Not yet past due
Pledged deposits
— Not yet past due
Cash and cash equivalents
— Not yet past due
Financial guarantees
provided to associates
and joint ventures
— Not yet past due

EEE

Total

ARBTR
RMB’000
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

(c)

RRXREBRFELDRE

H2021F12H31H

Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)
As at 31 December 2021

1218 A
BHEEER 2HBEHEEER
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
F1REER FoREER F3RER EE Pz @t
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
ARETT ARETT ARETRT ARETT AR®TR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
2 5 W s Trade receivables® — — — 5,239 5,239
FABMRER Financial assets included in
H ity JE TR IR prepayments and other
SREAE receivables
—EE™ — Normal™* 31,361,047 — — — 31,361,047
R Lt B Bt A B 0B Due from related companies 12,853,619 - - — 12,853,619
XBHRe Restricted cash
— EARE — Not yet past due 5,894,494 - - — 5,804,494
BHEAFES Pledged deposits
— HABH — Not yet past due 1,434,978 - - — 1,434,978
BehBe%5EY Cash and cash equivalents
— HARBH — Not yet past due 20,281,011 - - — 20,281,011
RETHEATR Financial guarantees
BEDLER provided to associates
B 7S AR and joint ventures
— HARBE — Not yet past due 16,146,891 — - — 16,146,891
87,972,040 — — 5,239 87,977,279
* EE 5 E K ZIE (KN E RSt * For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified

ok

FE PR B AL 77 0% 5 BOR E) E R
T H 5 5 4R A0 R R
230 5 B A3 R E K
R

B IR B B N R R AT AR
REREMERFENEREE
VTEAPRIBENBTIZEE
MEEBMBERINREREE

R AEEM EEEERRAR
[E&]e

approach for impairment, information based on the expected credit
losses is disclosed in note 23. There is no significant concentration
of credit risk.

* The credit quality of amounts due from related companies and the
financial assets included in prepayments and other receivables is
considered to be “normal” when they are not past due and there is
no information indicating that the financial assets had a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
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42. BREBEEBEERBKE @  42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

d "RBESER

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

(d) Liquidity risk

AEENHEZERBBERA The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
MITREMER EEERE continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of
FRERERBAEBRBERE interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, proceeds
EHREMRBEHEZHEMNTE from asset-backed securities and senior notes. Cash flows
GH-RERNEXFHETYEE- are closely monitored on an ongoing basis.
KEBENREARILE LK The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at
BENREGFENSRABEN D H the end of the reporting period based on contractual
FRMT undiscounted payments, is as follows:

RER SREAR 3F12f88 180 L st
Less than 3to Over
On demand 3months 12 months 1 year Total

ARBTR ARETR ARBTR ARBTR AR®TR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

2022612 A31 R
BLER
EFRMFARENTRE
st AR RN RER
EAERNERAR
JE AR A R 50R
MBERED

it BRI REME R

31 December 2022

Senior notes 200,072 - 6,722,309 - 6,922,381
Trade and bills payables = 21,019,046 - - - 21,019,046
Financial liabilities

included in other

payables and accruals - 22,590,277 - - 22,590,277
Due to related

companies 16,653,749 - - — 16,653,749
Financial guarantee

contracts - 223,282 2,516,936 4,411,844 7,152,062

Interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings 3,190,066 1,497,334 8,945,792 9,463,968 23,097,160
Lease liabilities - 4,037 20,183 25,018 49,238

41,062,933 24,314,930 18,205,220 13,900,830 97,483,913

254

WEEELEBENIRAEE
Tk PR RITBEDE ] &[3
Z12@ARINEEEHRE R
AR #645479170 K A B ¥
467,590 7T

If the demands of early repayment for the senior notes are
received, the above amount represents “on demand” and “3
to 12 months” would become RMB6,454,791 and
RMB467,590 respectively.
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

REE S R (E) (d) Liquidity risk (Continued)
®E% JR3EA 3ZE12MA 150 st
Less than 3to Over
On demand 3months 12 months 1 year Total
ARBTT ARETRT ARETRT ARBTT ARTR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
2021%F12 431 H 31 December 2021
BREE Senior notes — 1412253 6075286 1454847 8942386
BHENFEREMNER Trade and bils payables 21,210,521 - — — 21,210,521
STAE A B RIER Financial liabilties
EFERK included in other
cHAaE payables and accruals — 25038946 - — 25038946
FE BN R R Due to related
companies 18,996,008 — — — 18,996,008
MBRREH Financial guarantee
contracts — 1,663,236 6,178,613 8,415,043 16,146,891
FERTREMER Interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings 249,000 3,233,544 10,216,150 21,467,795 35,166,489
BEERELEMBERIE  Proceeds from asset-
backed securities — 4,970 333,551 — 338,521
HEAR Lease liabilities — 15,062 35,589 47,143 97,784
40,455,629 31,258,000 22,839,189 31,384,828 125,937,546
EXREE (e) Capital management

AEBEAEENETERR
ERREASEFELEY
MFRENE AN R

A FHEXHAERREER
R -

AEEGRELEMRTOE(
ERNBHBEERNRE - B
RKAEEANRE  AREX
SHIRN TRROBEFELH
B RERREARKEITHR

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders or issue new shares.
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

(e)

Capital management (Continued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
net debt divided by total capital plus net debt. Net debt
includes trade and bills payables, financial liabilities
included in other payables and accruals, amounts due to
related companies, provision for financial guarantee
contracts, other financial liabilities, interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings (other than convertible bonds), lease
liabilities, senior notes and proceeds from asset-backed
securities, less cash and cash equivalents. Capital
represents equity attributable to owners of the parent. The
gearing ratio as at the end of the reporting period was as

follows:

2022 2021 F
12A31H 12H31H
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
AR TR ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
I —
BORNFERENRER Trade and bills payables 21,019,046 21,210,521
SFAEMENFUEREE B Financial liabilities included in other
tRAE payables and accruals 22,590,277 25,038,946
JE < BA B 2 B 3R TE Due to related companies 16,653,749 18,996,008
BBERGOER Provision for financial guarantee
contracts 236,839 138,523
FRBRITREMER Interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings 31,681,522 31,681,522
BEERZHFMGHIE Proceeds from asset-backed securities = 318,641
BREE Senior notes 6,501,799 8,181,287
HEBE Lease liabilities 45,476 82,706
FoREREESEEY Less: Cash and cash equivalents (14,603,726) (20,281,011)
B 5 Net debt 84,124,982 85,367,143
NEEEAEEES Equity attributable to owners
of the parent 11,111,824 11,964,981
BRRERFHR Capital and net debt 95,236,306 97,332,124
BEARBELX Gearing ratio 88.33% 87.71%
N —
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43. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

No information is received after the reporting period about

conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period.

44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the

BT Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:
2022 F 2021 4F
2022 2021
AR® Tt AR T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
—— .
ERBEE NON-CURRENT ASSETS
W R &ERE Property, plant and equipment 15 28
HENE QT Investment in subsidiaries 200,523 200,523
IRBEERE Total non-current assets 200,538 200,551
REBEE CURRENT ASSETS
HEMHREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 198 28,302
JiE U BT /B A B FR A Due from subsidiaries 15,998,970 15,795,949
REBEELE Total current assets 15,999,168 15,824,251
REBAE CURRENT LIABILITIES
HiERZRE L ESE A Other payables and accruals 2,226,942 1,521,475
JE <1 Bf /B8 2~ &) 5K I8 Due to subsidiaries 4,341,776 2,388,035
BEREIR Senior notes 6,519,210 7,072,634
mE) B EAE Total current liabilities 13,087,928 10,982,144
REBEERE NET CURRENT ASSETS 2,911,240 4,842,107
EEHERABERE TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES 3,111,778 5,042,658
FRBEE NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
BEEE Senior notes - 1,301,830
ERBEERTE Total non-current liabilities = 1,301,830
EEFE Net assets 3,111,778 3,740,828
B EQUITY
B& A (M 5E32) Share capital (note 32) 31,450 31,450
& & (M 5E34) Reserves (note 34) 3,080,328 3,709,378
EREE TOTAL EQUITY 3,111,778 3,740,828
I —
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44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY (Continued)

Note:

A summary of the Company " s reserves is as follows:

BA ROEE RERE BRERE REFA st
Share
Share Share Capital option Retained
capital premium reserve reserve profits Total

ARETT ARBTRT ARBTE ARBTIT ARBTT ARBTT
RMB'O0O ~ RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000

20211 B1HMA#  Balance at 1 January 2021

FAZEBBEEE Total comprehensive loss
for the year
iz 8 K9k Dividends and distributions
AR E R B E Equity-settled share option
ZHE arrangement

31,450 3,629,765 200,523 (466) 2,647,641 6,508,913

- - - —  (1,281,655) (1,281,655)
- (957,330) - - (651,595)  (1,508,925)

_ _ - 22,495 - 22,495

B2021F12A31B & Balance at 31 December 2021
2022F1 A1 A& and 1 January 2022

31,450 2,672,435 200,523 22,029 814,391 3,740,828

FRE2EBELERE Total comprehensive loss
for the year - - - - (1,176,643) (1,176,643)
i B 8 Cancellation of dividend - - - - 551,595 551,595
AR E R ERE Equity-settled share option
7 HE arrangement - - - (4,002) - (4,002)
R2022%F 12 A31H A Balance at 31 December 2022
23 31,450 2,672,435 200,523 18,027 189,343 3,111,778

45. it /R 55 3| &

B &3 & Ty R 2023E3 A30R E &
=g E R TE -
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45. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 30 March 2023.
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BZ12A31BLEE
Year ended 31 December

2022 F 2021 £ 20204 20194 20184
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
ARBTR ARBTIT ARBTI AR®TrT ARETR
RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
.
A Revenue 39,329,414 76,114,160 65,940,566 56,639,596 30,214,688
HEKA Cost of sales (35,827,719) (63,081,654) (52,087,655) (43,457,345) (23,303,847)
E7 Gross profit 3,501,695 13,032,506 13,852,911 13,182,251 6,910,841
H A R W Other income and gains 362,883 959,088 918,050 233,873 95,045
HERDHAX Selling and distribution
expenses (1,642,922) (2,894,162) (2,254,253) (2,030,081) (1,333,901)
TERAX Administrative expenses (1,597,314)  (3,534,244) (2,848,025) (2,549,711) (1,648,265)
SHEEMEBE  Imparment losses on financial
assets (475,073) (5,081) (5,562) (9,870) (10,964)
Hth 5 &2 Other expenses (927,340)  (153,387)  (186,371)  (255,162)  (197,760)
BREWMERTE Fair value (loss)/gains on
(B#B) W= investment properties (7,921) 96,809 88,365 49,855 71,971
B ATFEF AIEZEHR  Fair value losses on financial
tREELTE assets at fair value through
E1B profit or loss (165,403)  (372,239) (30,929) (6,880) (4,039)
BE W Finance income 246,820 371,529 408,100 515,645 353,711
A& AR Finance costs (397,178)  (647,461)  (542,494)  (466,533)  (433,466)
JE 4G )8 K & 18 Share of profits and losses of:
BELE Joint ventures 518,863 448,700 467,861 979,353 (82,242)
RN Associates 348,130 322,062 497,169 255,371 717,545
BAT (B #8), FE (Loss)/profit before tax (234,760) 7,624,121 10,364,822 9,898,111 4,438,476
Friefimx Income tax expense (1,386,479) (2,868,033) (3,798,407) (3,642,203) (1,912,189)
FE(BER)/FH (Loss)/profit for the year (1,621,239) 4,756,088 6,566,415 6,255,908 2,526,287
AT A L&A Attributable to:
ARBHEA A Owners of the Company (1,346,384) 2,702,567 3,743,429 3,833,699 1,931,336
FEERR S Non-controlling interests (274,855) 2,053,521 2,822,986 2,422,209 594,951
(1,621,239) 4,756,088 6,566,415 6,255,908 2,526,287
-
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R12831H
As at 31 December
20225 2021 £ 20204 20194 20184
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
AR®TR AREBETRT ARETRT ARETT ARET
RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000
-
BE ASSETS
ERBEE Non-current assets 26,082,429 28,759,218 24,082,399 14,389,227 7,680,424
TmEEE Current assets 211,736,450 238,418,788 246,750,891 210,130,756 160,394,192
BEAR Total assets 237,818,879 267,178,006 270,833,290 224,519,983 168,074,616
BERAE EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
e Total equity 31,374,138 35,482,862 30,182,150 20,871,555 6,754,232
ERBAE Non-current liabilities 9,454,604 21,223,986 31,014,863 19,629,976 12,871,427
TmEAE Current liabilities 196,990,137 210,471,158 209,636,277 184,018,452 148,448,957
BERE Total liabilities 206,444,741 231,695,144 240,651,140 203,648,428 161,320,384
EEREEEE Total equity and liabilities 237,818,879 267,178,006 270,833,290 224,519,983 168,074,616
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